
Mission: 
“We work to mi�gate the causes and condi�ons of poverty in Southwestern Wisconsin, building 
resilience and self-sufficiency by providing suppor�ve services and collabora�ng with partners.” 

Board of Directors Meeting Agenda 
Thursday, February 26, 2026, 6:30 pm 

1) Call to Order

2) Roll Call & Welcome

3) Approval of Consent Agenda Items
----- CONSENT AGENDA ----- 

4) Approval of Minutes
a. December 2025 SWCAP Board Minutes
b. Commitee Minutes

i. Personnel Commitee
ii. Planning & Review Commitee

iii. Membership Commitee
iv. Finance Commitee

5) Ac�on Items
a. (USDA) Child and Adult Care Food Program Report November 2025
b. (USDA) Child and Adult Care Food Program Report December 2025
c. Head Start Enrollment Reduction Request, Grant #05CH013431
d. Resolu�on for the sale of Darlington Property

6) Other Items
-----END OF THE CONSENT AGENDA----- 

----- REGULAR AGENDA ----- 
7) Board Discussion & Training Items

a. Items moved from the Consent Agenda
b. Financial Reports for January 2026
c. Ac�ons Taken by the Execu�ve Committee
d. 2026 Budget
e. Updated Personnel Policies
f.  Job Descrip�on
g. SWCAP Logo Redesign
h. Discussion Item: LIFT

8) Program Reports & Execu�ve Staff Reports
a. Senior Directors Report
b. Execu�ve Directors Report

9) Next Board Mee�ng
a. March 26, 2026, 6:30PM

10) Adjournment



 

Mission: 

“We work to mitigate the causes and conditions of poverty in Southwestern Wisconsin, building  

resilience and self-sufficiency by providing supportive services and collaborating with partners.” 
 

Board of Directors Meeting Agenda 
Thursday, December 4, 2025, 6:30 pm 

 

1) Call to Order 
The meeting of the Southwestern Wisconsin Community Action Program was called to order by the 
Board Chair, Carol Beals at 6:32 pm. 

 

2) Roll Call & Welcome  
Shyanne Cushman, Assistant Executive Director, called the roll.  
Present: Carol Beals, Michael Britt, Bob Frank, Mike Furgal, Amy Hardy, Roger Lange, Robert Laeser, 

Donna Peterson, Mark Pinch, Brandi Riechers, Paula Schoenberg and Adam Stucki and Michael 

Windle; quorum present.  

Absent: Martha Boyer 

Others present: Brett White, Chris Frakes, Courtney Messer, Shyanne Cushman, Tawny Hardyman 

of Head Start, Ronda Christensen of Foods/Thrift, Sheryl Brokopp of Opportunity House, Liani 

McCarthy of Wegner CPAs, Craig Woodhouse of Neighborhood Housing Security, Clarissa Aide, 

Kelly Logan and Susan Nelson as new board appointees.  
 

3) Approval of Consent Agenda Items 
Carol Beals requested to pull out 5c, 5d, 5e and 5f for Tawny Hardyman to discuss and motion for 
Head Start. Brett White asked to amend the agenda by adding a closed session at the end of the 
meeting.  
A motion was made to approve 4a, 4b, 5a, 5b, 6a, 6b and 6c of the SWCAP Board of Directors 
Consent Agenda Items by Paula Schoenberg, second by Roger Lange; all present voted in favor; the 
motion was carried.  

 

----- CONSENT AGENDA ----- 
4) Approval of Minutes  

a. October 2025 SWCAP Board Minutes 
b. Committee Minutes 

i. Personnel Committee  
ii. Planning & Review Committee  

iii. Membership Committee  
iv. Finance Committee 

 

5) Action Items 
a. Financial Reports for October 2025 
b. (USDA) Child and Adult Care Food Program Report October 2025 

 
 

6) Other Items 
a. Head Start Enrollment and Attendance 
b. Group Health Insurance Plan Premiums for Furloughed Employees   
c. Strategies to Stabilize the Head Start Workforce 

-----END OF THE CONSENT AGENDA----- 



Mission: 

“We work to mitigate the causes and conditions of poverty in Southwestern Wisconsin, building 

resilience and self-sufficiency by providing supportive services and collaborating with partners.” 

----- REGULAR AGENDA ----- 
7) Board Discussion & Training Items

a. Items moved from the Consent Agenda
5c) Head Start Selection Criteria for the 2026-2027 Program Year

i. Tawny Hardyman reviewed the Head Start Selection Criteria for determining, verifying
and documenting eligibility for the 2026-2027 Program Year

ii. A motion was made to approve the Head Start Selection Criteria for the 2026-2027
Program Year by Mike Britt, second by Mark Pinch. All present voted in favor; the
motion was carried.

5d)   Head Start Recruitment Plan 

i. Tawny Hardyman presented the ERSEA Plan revisions on the Recruitment Roles and

Responsibilities.

ii. A motion was made to approve the Head Start Recruitment Plan, with the addition of

Family Advocates added to the list of organizations, by Donna Peterson, second by

Paula Schoenberg. All present voted in favor; the motion was carried.

5e) Policy—Insurance Benefit Continuance 

iii. Courtney Messer discussed using an insurance benefit continuance in retaining staff

during the furlough by using retention dollars to cover the employee benefit costs until

the furlough is expired. Fortunately, staff was brought back December 2, 2025. One

employee chose to part ways during the furlough.

iv. A motion was made to approve the Head Start Insurance Benefit Continuance Policy by
Roger Lange, second by Donna Peterson. All present voted in favor; the motion was
carried.

5f) SWCAP Head Start Short-Term Retention Incentive Policy 

v. Tawny Hardyman presented the Head Start Short-term Retention Incentive to retain

qualified staff in the childcare field who are providing high-quality care for children in

local communities. Short-term retention incentives will be calculated quarterly.

vi. A motion was made to approve the Head Start Short-Term Retention Incentive Policy
by Mike Windle, second by Roger Lange. All present voted in favor; the motion was
carried.

b. New Board Member Appointment
i. Carol Beals announced the appointment of new board members, Clarissa Aide a

member of the Head Start Policy Council, Ben Gruber, Kelly Logan and Susan Nelson.
ii. A motion was made to approve the appointment of Clarissa Aide, Ben Gruber, Kelly

Logan and Susan Nelson by Donna Peterson, second by Mark Pinch. All present voted
in favor; the motion was carried.

c. Head Start Eligibility Board Training
i. Tawny Hardyman presented the Head Start Eligibility Training for the Board members.

d. Discussion Item: Foods Security Program
i. Ronda Christensen presented on the SWCAP Foods Security Program, explaining the

locations of SWCAP’s Food Pantries, our Pop Deliveries and other TEFAP Pantry
Partners. She walked through the Choice Pantry, Senior Food Delivery, Pop-Up Food



Mission: 

“We work to mitigate the causes and conditions of poverty in Southwestern Wisconsin, building 

resilience and self-sufficiency by providing supportive services and collaborating with partners.” 

Truck, Kids First program, and the Backpack program. She presented our mission and 
explained what the Board can do to help spread the word about Food Security.  

8) Program Reports & Executive Staff Reports
a. Senior Directors Report

i. Chris Frakes shared that we are very delighted to have Head Start back, and everyone
is excited to be back in the classrooms. Students will return Monday, December 8,
2025.

ii. Courtney Messer presented the final snapshot of insurance renewals for SWCAP
employees. The negotiations for insurance renewals ended up at a 4.59% increase of
Health Insurance. We are increasing the employer contribution and are able to lower
the employee rates. Dental came in at a -7.90% increase (2 years), Vision at a -12.5%
(4 year). Short term disability is now in-house. Long Term came in at -7% (2 years
guarantee). Life Insurance, AD&D -64% increase (2 years), Voluntary Life 0% (2 years)

b. Executive Directors Report
i. Brett White motioned to move into a closed session.

9) Motion to enter closed session
A motion was made to enter closed session by Michael Britt, second by Adam Stucki; all present
voted in favor; the motion was carried.

Courtney Messer, Senior Director, called the roll.  
Present: Clarissa Aide, Carol Beals, Michael Britt, Bob Frank, Mike Furgal, Amy Hardy, Roger Lange, 

Robert Laeser, Kelly Logan, Susan Nelson, Donna Peterson, Mark Pinch, Brandi Riechers, Paula 

Schoenberg and Adam Stucki and Michael Windle; quorum present.  

Absent: Martha Boyer & Ben Gruber 

Others present: Brett White, Chris Frakes, Courtney Messer, Shyanne Cushman, Liani McCarthy of 

Wegner CPAs, and Craig Woodhouse of Neighborhood Housing Security.  

a. Matters related to contracts that require confidentiality

10) Motion to end closed session
A motion was made to end closed session by Adam Stucki, second by Mark Pinch; all present voted
in favor; the motion was carried. Closed Session.

11) Next Board Meeting
a. January 22, 2026, 6:30PM

12) Adjournment
a. A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Donna Peterson, second by Michael Britt.

All present voted in favor; the motion was carried, meeting adjourned at 8:19 pm.





1/20/26, 9:57 AM View Child and Adult Care Food Program Claim (CACFP) 

Total Meals: 2,465 1 

" � 
Head Start Meals: 1 ,464 

. . PWI
U

SC
b

O
I

N
i

S
c
lN

l
n

DE
s
P
t

A

r
R
u

TM
C

E
ti

N/
o

O
n

F lnfant-ToddlerMeals:1 ,001 
Total Reimbursement: $7,304.74 
Reimbursement per meal: $2.96 
Head Start Reimbursement: $4,309.80 

.. rnnr.;...1i 

:...◊"1idUf"'ity· 
-"'.Jtrit.; -.; ;"I 
P1_gr;,r., 

::2�:�:.

ant

-

To

�;�::'.:

xpa

�

bur

:����
t 

$2,
99

:,::., l 
. [ Community Nutrition Program > ] [ Claim Reimbursement > ] [ Child and Adult Care Food Program > j [ View-Print Claim J 

Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 
[Participation Reimbursement Information] 

256801 - Southwest Wisconsin CAP INC 

Number of Days of Service: 19 

Total Reimbursable Meals Summarv Based on Site(s) Particioation Information 
Total Total AM Total Total PM Total Total Additional Total Lunches Total Supper Total 

Breakfasts Snack Lunches Snack Suppers Snack 2nd 2nd Meals 

823 0 881 761 0 0 0 0 2,465 

Site Participation Information 
Site Non- Reduced 

Free 
Total Days 

ADA Breakfasts 
AM 

Lunches 
Lunches PM 

Suppers 
Supper Additional 

No. Needy Price Enrollment Operating Snack 2nd Snack 2nd Snack 

1854 0 0 13 13 5 9 42 0 42 0 0 0 0 0 

6319 0 0 26 26 17 19 196 0 213 0 177 0 0 0 

7521 0 0 28 28 19 18 230 0 234 0 210 0 0 0 

8509 0 0 40 40 18 18 188 0 203 0 198 0 0 0 

8516 0 0 15 15 9 11 85 0 91 0 80 0 0 9 
801607 0 0 8 8 4 3 4 0 9 0 8 0 0 0 

801620 0 0 17 17 9 10 78 0 89 0 88 0 0 0 

[CERTIFICATION] 
I HEREBY CERTIFY to the best of my knowledge that this claim is true, correct, and in accordance with the terms of 
existing agreement, that records are available to support this claim, and that payment has not been received. Meal counts 
have been reviewed and analyzed to ensure accuracy. I acknowledge that failure to submit accurate claims will result in 
recovery of an over claim and may result in the withholding of payments, suspension, or termination of the program. I 
understand that the information on this claim is being given in connection with the receipt of federal funds and that 
deliberate misrepresentation or withholding of information may result in prosecution under applicable State and Federal 
statutes. 

Preparer Name and Telephone No.: Crystal Peterson 608-935-3379 ■BACK

I 
--------- ___ .I 

Va :,J . v 

https://apps2.dpi.wi.gov/FNSWEB/cacfpClaimViewPre?id=U 



 SWCAP Head Start 
SWCAP Head Start 
Grant #05CH013431 
Enrollment Reduction Request 
 
SWCAP Head Start requests a reduction in funded enrollment for the Head Start Preschool 
program. Current funded enrollment is 145 children, ages three and four. Due to chronic 
underenrollment the program is requesting to reduce funded enrollment from 145 
preschool age children to 103. The program requests funding levels to remain the same 
and will use funding to increase staff wages and benefits. 
 
 



BOARD RESOUTION 

SOUTHWESTERN WISCONSIN COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM, INC. 

By the Board of Directors of the Southwestern Wisconsin Community Action Program, Inc. 
(hereafter” SWCAP”) whose principal place of business is located at 201 South Iowa Street, 
Dodgeville, Wisconsin 53533. 
 
RESOLVED, that, Brett White, SWCAP’s Executive Director, is authorized, pursuant to the HOME 
Affordable Rental Program, NSP Program, Market unit development fund and other applicable 
SWCAP housing and service programs, for and behalf of SWCAP: 
 

1. To sell and convey the following Property owned by SWCAP located at: 
 

435 Main Street, Unit 100, Darlington, WI 53530 
 

2. To perform the obligations of SWCAP under and Offer to Purchase (“Offer”) between 
SWCAP and a duly qualified Buyer (“Buyer”) as determined by the Executive Director. 

3. To amend the Offer at the discretion of the Executive Director. 
4. To provide purchase support to the Buyer, including but not limited to Seller financing on 

such terms and conditions as the Executive Director may determine in their discretion. 
5. To pledge, sign, mortgage, grant or accept a security interest in the Property, fixtures, and 

personal property located on the Property and to take any other as needed for furtherance 
of the Property being using in compliance with and SWCAP Housing Program, market unit 
development fund, and any other applicable program(s) affecting the Property that have 
been heretofore approved by the Board of Directors for SWCAP; 
 
And 

 
         6. To do all other things necessary or appropriate to the authority granted by this Resolution. 
 
I certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of resolutions duly adopted in accordance with 
law and the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of said Corporation at a meeting of a quorum of 
the Board of Directors, and that said resolution, not being in conflict with those Articles or Bylaws, 
are not in full force and effect. 
 
 
Dated ___________________________, 2026 
 
 

 
Authorized Signature, Carol Beals Board Chairperson, Southwestern Wisconsin 
Community Action Program, Inc. 



SOUTHWESTERN WISCONSIN COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM, INC. 

Financial Statements   

November 30, 2025 and 2024 



CONTENTS 

Interim Financial Statements 

Statements of Financial Position 
Statements of Activities 
Statements of Functional Expenses  
Financial Overview 



These financial statements are presented for management use only. They have not been audited, reviewed, or compiled, and no assurance is provided
on them.

11/30/2025 11/30/2024

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 3,969,639 $ 3,257,420

Accounts Receivable, Net 130,451 81,492
Grants Receivable 1,643,194 2,125,623
Pledges Receivable - 5,220

Lease Receivable - ST 1,515,549 1,593,212
Employee Advances / Loans - 1,583
Prepaid Expenses 144,564 165,952
Inventory 378,782 224,263
Intercompany Receivable 88,491 -

Total Current Assets 7,870,670 7,454,765

Long-term Assets
Right of Use Asset 85,926 163,120
Property & Equipment, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 4,758,108 5,310,395

Total Long-term Assets 4,844,034 5,473,515
Intangible Assets, Net 23,167 50,967
Loans Receivable 6,796,776 6,448,190

Total Assets $ 19,534,647 $ 19,427,437

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities

Short-term Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 410,586 $ 613,967
Accrued Liabilities 333,398 514,070
Short-term Lease Liability 39,903 48,895
Grant Advances 440,788 359,270
Other Short-term Liabilities 693,397 523,075

Total Short-term Liabilities 1,918,072 2,059,277

Long Term Liabilities
Long-term Lease Liability 45,615 113,737
Loans Payable - Long Term

Notes Payable 2,321,658 2,704,782
Revolving Loans Payable 4,562,375 4,125,374

Total Loans Payable - Long Term 6,884,033 6,830,156
Total Long Term Liabilities 6,929,648 6,943,893

Total Liabilities 8,847,720 9,003,170

Net Assets 10,686,927 10,424,267

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 19,534,647 $ 19,427,437

SWCAP, Inc.
Statements of Financial Position

As of November 30, 2025 and 2024



These financial statements were prepared by Wegner CPAs LLP. The statements were not subject to an audit, review, or compilation engagement, and no assurance is
provided on them. Substantially all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States are not included.

Year to Date Prior Year To Date
11/30/2025 Annual 11/30/2024

Actual Budget Under/(Over) Budget 2025 Budget Actual

Revenues
Contributions $ 74,522 $ 21,438 (53,084) $ 23,387 $ 39,489
Grant Revenues 9,620,724 9,364,305 (256,419) 10,215,605 11,448,386
Program Fee for Service Revenue 996,990 1,031,976 34,986 1,125,792 986,086
Contract Revenue 30,400 21,259 (9,141) 23,191 287,086
Net Investment Income 26,977 22,592 (4,385) 24,647 22,438
Other Revenue

Rental Income 223,992 262,341 38,349 286,190 270,196
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt - 3,063 3,063 3,341 -
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Asset 394,407 - (394,407) - 536,141
Other Revenue 290,136 524,645 234,509 572,340 258,756
In Kind Contributions 1,123,086 1,242,380 119,294 1,355,323 1,335,623
Match-In Kind 19,164 221,556 202,392 241,698 52,542

Total Other Revenue 2,050,785 2,253,985 203,200 2,458,892 2,453,258

Total Revenues 12,800,398 12,715,555 (84,843) 13,871,514 15,236,743

Operating Expenses
Personnel

Salary and Wages 4,656,323 4,945,391 289,068 5,394,972 5,368,802
PR Taxes 406,737 413,849 7,112 451,471 441,317
PR Benefits 1,117,888 902,244 (215,644) 984,265 901,333

Total Personnel 6,180,948 6,261,484 80,536 6,830,708 6,711,452

Program Expenses 2,100,476 1,750,959 (349,517) 1,910,137 2,042,439
Occupancy 251,609 276,417 24,808 301,546 326,453
Professional Fees 1,131,262 1,211,076 79,814 1,321,174 1,162,686
Grants Awarded Expense 68,459 - (68,459) - 92,688
Other Operating Expenses 1,744,931 2,139,999 395,068 2,334,543 2,170,728
Other Expenses 1,174,364 1,273,867 99,504 1,389,673 1,438,407

Total Operating Expenses 12,652,049 12,913,802 261,754 14,087,781 13,944,853

Total Changes in Net Assets $ 148,349 $ (198,247) (346,596) $ (216,267) $ 1,291,890

+ Net Assets - Beginning 10,538,578 - (10,538,578) - 9,132,377

Net Assets - Ending $ 10,686,927 $ (198,247) (10,885,174) $ (216,267) $ 10,424,267

SWCAP, Inc.
Statement of Activities - Two Year Comparative

For the Years to Date Ended November 30, 2025 and 2024

ellyn.ell
Text Box



These financial statements are presented for management use only. They have not been audited, reviewed, or compiled, and no assurance is provided on them.

Family Development Health & Wellness Household Stability Energy Services Transportation Buildings Affiliates Total Program
Management &

General
11/30/2025 11/30/2025 11/30/2025 11/30/2025 11/30/2025 11/30/2025 11/30/2025 11/30/2025

Programs Total

Expenses
Salary and Wages $ 1,634,636 $ 697,325 $ 330,093 $ 536,637 $ 572,192 $ - $ 131,470 3,902,353 $ 26,666 3,929,019
PR Benefits 437,900 150,935 101,196 118,963 136,952 - 19,047 964,992 859 965,852
PR Taxes 134,130 56,303 26,005 43,670 49,626 - 11,759 321,494 28,343 349,836
Program Expenses 61,391 133,748 765,999 1,127,548 497 - 11,282 2,100,465 10 2,100,475
Occupancy 137,035 32,521 23,125 10,861 2,162 20,779 15,124 241,607 1,722 243,329
Professional Fees 324,009 26,525 259,569 345 62 800 7,574 618,884 2,387 621,271
Grants Awarded Expense - - 58,000 - - - 10,459 68,459 - 68,459
Advertising and Promotion 150 3,839 2,364 674 685 - 5,415 13,127 - 13,127
Business Licenses and Permits 604 413 17,956 - - 12,911 1,198 33,082 4,000 37,083
Conferences, Conventions, and Meetings 66,916 1,773 2,772 3,065 1,161 - 16,750 92,438 8,030 100,467
Depreciation 119,180 45,627 28,116 20,482 96,885 20,287 - 330,576 68,176 398,752
Dues and Subscriptions 35,381 23,882 4,568 1,509 17,928 - 4,508 87,776 5,145 92,921
Finance Charges - - 1,271 - - 313 - 1,584 - 1,583
Insurance 62,706 20,309 7,225 22,557 32,304 1,189 - 146,290 527 146,818
Interest Expenses 6,054 6,998 5,340 3,395 1,270 72,831 - 95,888 1,750 97,639
Office Supplies 20,729 10,391 1,509 4,028 1,650 207 4,507 43,021 1,756 44,776
Postage and Delivery 2,801 1,934 106 1,209 79 - - 6,127 403 6,531
Repairs and Maintenance 94,766 26,211 9,773 7,581 86,838 3,907 - 229,077 (1,074) 228,002
Taxes - - - - - 13,864 - 13,864 - 13,864
Telecommunication 30,972 17,239 4,999 6,553 2,545 123 1,950 64,384 4,225 68,609
Travel Expenses 42,598 28,124 17,659 15,403 150,005 - 4,537 258,323 8,732 267,055
Allocated Indirect Costs (6,575) 295 175 129 326 - 60 (5,589) 1,688,365 1,682,776
Bad Debt Expense - 354 (1) - - - - 353 - 353
Staff Retention 164 - - - - - - 164 - 164
Other Operating Expense 202,695 81,214 9,081 151,733 2,214 (419,527) 1,913 29,322 1,863 31,185
In Kind Expense - - - - 104,908 - - 104,909 - 104,909
In Kind Volunteer Time 809,472 - - - - - - 809,472 - 809,472
In Kind Space/Utilities 96,478 - - - - - - 96,478 - 96,478
Match-InKind 98,509 - - - - - - 98,509 - 98,508
In Kind Travel 1,124 - - - - - - 1,124 - 1,125
In Kind Other 12,594 - - - - - - 12,594 - 12,593
Closed Project Transfer 214,176 (880,663) 471,682 (89,845) 408,758 78,592 43,101 245,800 (226,511) 19,290
Suspense - - - - - - - - (273) (272)

Total Expenses $ 4,640,595 $ 485,297 $ 2,148,582 $ 1,986,497 $ 1,669,047 $ (193,724) $ 290,654 11,026,947 $ 1,625,101 12,652,049

SWCAP, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses

For the Year to Date Ended November 30, 2025



SOUTHWESTERN WISCONSIN COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM 
Financial Statement Brief Overview – November 2025 

 
Below is a very high overview of the financials, along with visual graphics. The more granular details are 
provided to just the finance committee, but available to the board upon request. 
 

• Surplus year-to date is approximately $148,000 
o Sold 1017 17th Street Monroe for a gain of approximately $121,000 
o Sold 29 Temple Ave for a gain of approximately $41,560 
o Sold 445 Park Street Livingston, WI for a gain of approximately $91,990 
o Sold a vehicle for a gain of approximately $7,000 
o Insurance proceeds from hail damage resulted in a gain of approximately $21,000 
o The transfer of a 929 W Seminary Street resulted in a net gain of approximately $53,000 
o Without the gains, the deficit would be approximately ($188,000) 

• The federal shutdown caused the Head Start classrooms to close for several weeks in 
November. The month of November, only $11,664 of expenses and corresponding grant 
revenue was incurred for the Head Start grants that were impacted by the shutdown. For 
comparison purposes, November of 2024 had $216,864 of expenses and corresponding grant 
revenue. Some of the November 2025 expenses were charged to other grants, but a lot of 
expenses also didn’t happen, as many staff were temporarily laid off during this time. The grant 
award did come through in November for 100% funding. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 

 

Occupancy, $22,535 , 

Other Expense, $(1,012), 

Other Operating 
Expense, $121,872 , 

17%

Personnel, $257,102 , 
36%

Professional Fees, 
$69,731 , 10%

Program Expenses, 
$241,978 , 34%

Grant Awarded 
Expense, $- , 0%

Operating Expenses - Month

Occupancy Other Expense Other Operating Expense Personnel

Professional Fees Program Expenses Grant Awarded Expense

Occupancy, $251,609 
Other Expense, 
$1,174,364 , 9%

Other Operating 
Expense, $1,744,931 , 

14%

Personnel, $6,180,948 , 49%

Professional Fees, 
$1,131,262 , 9%

Program Expenses, 
$2,100,476 , 17%

Grant Awarded 
Expense, $68,459 , 0%

Operating Expenses - Year to Date

Occupancy Other Expense Other Operating Expense Personnel

Professional Fees Program Expenses Grant Awarded Expense



 
  
   

 
 

 

$-

$(193,723)

$1,986,496 

$4,640,595 

$531,025 

$2,148,582 

$1,579,374 

$1,669,047 

$290,654 

$331,383 

$2,038,930 

$4,870,626 

$1,186,667 

$2,072,185 

$259,594 

$1,759,266 

$281,746 

 $(300,000)  $450,000  $1,200,000  $1,950,000  $2,700,000  $3,450,000  $4,200,000  $4,950,000

Building

Energy Services

Family Development

Health & Wellness

Household Stability

Management & General

Transportation

Affiliates

Pr
og

ra
m

s

Revenues vs Expenditures by Program - Year to Date

Revenue Expenses



Executive Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, February 10, 2026, 3:30 pm 

 
Present: Carol Beals, Donna Peterson, Bob Laeser, Michael Britt, Brett White, Chris Frakes, Courtney 
Messer, Liani McCarthy of Wegner CPAs 
 
Absent: Martha Boyer, Michael Windel 
 

1. Liani McCarthy requested an Executive Committee meeting to discuss the refinance of 402 
Johnson St, Boscobel.  Currently the loan is with Farmers, the interest rate is increasing to 7.25%, 
with a monthly payment of $1,607.   
 
The Bank of New Glarus has offered two options, both with 6.49% interest rate, the first option 
with a 20-year amortization, the other option at 15-year amortization.  The interest rate at Bank of 
New Glarus would not change, unlike the Farmers interest rate which changed every 3 years. 
 

• 20 Year Amortization, monthly payment $1,330 
• 15 Year Amortization, monthly payment of $1, 525 

 

 
 

Motion made by Robert Laeser to refinance the loan with the Bank of New Glarus for a 15-year 
amortization, Second Michael Britt; all present voted in favor; the motion was carried.  

 
 

2. Liani McCarthy presented information on 435 Main Street, Unit 100, Darlington, WI currently under 
lease through 4/27/2034 with Darlington Dental.  The current loan balance with BMO Bank is 
$620,000.  A comparative market analysis has been completed to determine value 

 
• Exit Professional Real Estate – Recommended listing at $600,000 to $700,000, likely 

accepting $450,000 to $600,000 based on a three-to-six-month marketing period. 
• Sprinkman Real Estate – Estimates potential market value just under $720,000. 

 
Chris Frakes discussed the option of Beloit Community Health Services paying up to $200,000 to 
cover the gap between net proceeds on the sale and the loan pay off amount.  Beloit CHS has 
requested the agreement in writing. SWCAP’s attorney is drafting an agreement.   
 
The Executive Committee is in support of moving forward, with selling the location as long as the 
lease agreement isn’t broken until the sale of the building is final. A board resolution will be 
brought to the full board in February for approval. 

 
 



Southwestern Wisconsin Community Action Program, Inc.
2026 Organizational Budget Modified "Cash"

Board Reporting Account Account name 2026 Budget
Revenue 40000 Contributions 50,878                

41000 Grant Revenue 11,156,282         
43000 Program Fee for Service Revenues 1,109,828           
43100 Contract Revenue 145,232              
45000 Interest & Dividend 25,409                
47600 Rental Income 232,958              
48900 Other Revenue 685,237              
49999 Program Transfer 15,291                

Revenue Total 13,421,113         
Personnel Exps 50000 Salaries and Wages 4,141,578           

50100 Payroll Taxes 298,673              
50115 UI Taxes 35,152                
50120 Life & Disability Insurance 4,980                  
50130 Employee Health Insurance 664,180              
50135 Employee Dental Insurance 12,668                
50150 Workers Compensation Insurance 42,527                
50200 Retirement Plan 72,984                

Personnel Exps Total 5,272,743           
Other Operating Exps 6,088,450           
Indirect Exps 1,722,398           

Surplus (Deficit) 337,522              



Southwestern Wisconsin Community Action Program, Inc.
2026 Organizational Budget

Board Reporting Account Account name 2026 Budget
Revenue 40000 Contributions 50,878              

41000 Grant Revenue 11,156,282       
43000 Program Fee for Service Revenues 1,109,828         
43100 Contract Revenue 145,232            
45000 Interest & Dividend 25,409              
47600 Rental Income 232,958            
48900 Other Revenue 685,237            
49999 Program Transfer 15,291              

Revenue Total 13,421,113       
Personnel Exps 50000 Salaries and Wages 4,141,578         

50100 Payroll Taxes 298,673            
50115 UI Taxes 35,152              
50120 Life & Disability Insurance 4,980                
50130 Employee Health Insurance 664,180            
50135 Employee Dental Insurance 12,668              
50150 Workers Compensation Insurance 42,527              
50160 Accrued Vacation Expense 205,573            
50200 Retirement Plan 72,984              

Personnel Exps Total 5,478,316         
Other Operating Exps 6,515,534         
Indirect Exps 1,783,908         

Surplus (Deficit) (356,644)           



 
 

 

PERSONNEL POLICIES 
 
 

 
Reviewed by Scholz Nonprofit Law, LLC – October 25, 2024 
Approved by Southwest Community Action Program Board of Directors on December 5, 2024 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 2  

Table of Contents 

WELCOME STATEMENT .......................................................................................................................................................... 6 

MISSION, VISION, AND CORE VALUES ................................................................................................................................... 7 

DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

SECTION 100 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................................ 9 

101. PURPOSE OF POLICIES .................................................................................................................................................................................. 9 
102. RESPONSIBILITY FOR POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION ....................................................................................................... 9 

102.1 The Board of Directors and Head Start Policy Council ...................................................................... 9 
102.2 The Personnel Committee ............................................................................................................... 10 
102.3 The Executive Director ..................................................................................................................... 10 
102.4 Authority Vested by Board in Executive Director ............................................................................ 11 

103. EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION AND RECEIPT OF PERSONNEL POLICIES .......................................................................................................... 11 
104. AT WILL EMPLOYMENT ............................................................................................................................................................................. 11 
105. POLICY CHANGES ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

SECTION 200 EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................................................................................ 12 

201. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY ....................................................................................................................................................... 12 
202. DISABILITY AND REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION .................................................................................................................................. 12 
203. JOB DESCRIPTIONS ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

204. ADVERTISING ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 12 
205. RECRUITMENT ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 13 

205.1 Opportunity for Area Residents, Groups Served ............................................................................. 13 
205.2 Expenses .......................................................................................................................................... 13 
205.3 Selection .......................................................................................................................................... 13 
205.4 Application for Employment ........................................................................................................... 14 
205.5 Screen Procedures ........................................................................................................................... 14 
205.6 Nepotism ......................................................................................................................................... 14 

205.7 Notification ...................................................................................................................................... 15 
205.8 Criminal Background Check ............................................................................................................ 15 
205.9 References ....................................................................................................................................... 16 

205.10 Rehires ........................................................................................................................................... 16 
205.11 Board's Agent ................................................................................................................................ 16 

SECTION 300 CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT ..................................................................................................................... 17 

301. EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATION/STATUS .................................................................................................................................................. 17 

301.1 Employment Classification .............................................................................................................. 17 
301.2 Employment Status ......................................................................................................................... 17 

302. PERIOD OF ORIENTATION .......................................................................................................................................................................... 18 
303. REGULATION OF WORK SCHEDULES/HOURS ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

303.1 Breaks .............................................................................................................................................. 18 
303.2. Regular Work Hours ....................................................................................................................... 19 
303.3 Variations to Regular Work Hours .................................................................................................. 19 

303.4 Four-Day Work Week ...................................................................................................................... 19 
303.5 Remote Work ................................................................................................................................... 20 

306. LAY-OFF SITUATIONS ................................................................................................................................................................................ 23 
307. GIFTS AND GRATUITIES ............................................................................................................................................................................. 24 
308. EMPLOYEE CONDUCT ................................................................................................................................................................................ 24 
309. CODE OF ETHICS......................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 
310. DRESS CODE ATTIRE .................................................................................................................................................................................. 26 

311. POLITICAL ACTIVITY ................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 3  

312. HARASSMENT-FREE WORKPLACE ............................................................................................................................................................. 27 
312.1 Reporting Discrimination & Workplace Harassment ...................................................................... 29 

313. PERSONNEL RECORDS................................................................................................................................................................................ 30 

314. VEHICLE OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................................................................................ 30 
314.1 Automobile Insurance ..................................................................................................................... 30 
314.2 Driver’s License ................................................................................................................................ 30 

315. CONFLICT OF INTEREST .............................................................................................................................................................................. 31 
315.1 Guidance .......................................................................................................................................... 31 

316. VEHICLE SAFETY AND ELECTRONIC DEVICE USAGE .................................................................................................................................. 31 
317. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE .......................................................................................................................................................................... 31 

317.1 Definition of Workplace .................................................................................................................. 32 
317.2 Personnel Action .............................................................................................................................. 32 
317.3 Funder Notification.......................................................................................................................... 32 
317.4 Drug-Free Awareness ...................................................................................................................... 32 

317.5 Alcohol Policy .................................................................................................................................. 32 
317.6 Tobacco Free Policy ......................................................................................................................... 32 

318. COMPUTER, LAPTOP, TABLET, IPAD, MOBILE AND ELECTRONIC DEVICE POLICY .................................................................................. 33 
319. SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY .............................................................................................................................................................................. 34 
320. CONFIDENTIALITY ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 37 
321. WHISTLEBLOWER ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 37 

SECTION 400 COMPENSATION ............................................................................................................................................. 38 

401. WAGES AND SALARIES .............................................................................................................................................................................. 38 
402. WAGE AND BENEFIT CLASSIFICATION & COMPARABILITY ...................................................................................................................... 38 
403. MINIMUM WAGE ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 38 
404. SALARY RANGES AND SCHEDULES ............................................................................................................................................................ 38 

405. CHANGES IN COMPENSATION ................................................................................................................................................................... 38 
406. COMPENSATION FOR HOURS IN ADDITION TO SCHEDULE ...................................................................................................................... 38 
407. OVERTIME .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 38 

408. LANGUAGE DIFFERENTIAL PAY.................................................................................................................................................................. 38 
408.1 Eligibility .......................................................................................................................................... 39 
408.2 Criteria for Language Differential Pay ............................................................................................ 39 
408.3 Pay Differential ................................................................................................................................ 39 
408.4 Review Process ................................................................................................................................ 39 
408.5 Documentation Requirements ........................................................................................................ 39 
408.6 Occasional Application of Language Differential ........................................................................... 39 

409. CDL DRIVER DIFFERENTIAL PAY ............................................................................................................................................................... 39 
409.1 Eligibility .......................................................................................................................................... 40 
409.2 Pay Differential ................................................................................................................................ 40 
409.3 Review Process ................................................................................................................................ 40 

409.4 Documentation Requirements ........................................................................................................ 40 
409.5 Occasional Application of CDL Differential ..................................................................................... 40 

410. PAY ARRANGEMENTS ................................................................................................................................................................................ 40 
410.1 Payroll Period .................................................................................................................................. 40 

410.2 Pay Day ............................................................................................................................................ 40 
410.3 Payroll Deductions........................................................................................................................... 41 

411. REIMBURSEMENT FOR JOB RELATED EXPENSES ....................................................................................................................................... 41 
411.1 Mileage ............................................................................................................................................ 41 
411.2 Meals and Lodging .......................................................................................................................... 41 
411.3 Registration Fees ............................................................................................................................. 41 
411.4 Professional Organization Membership ......................................................................................... 41 
411.5 Other Expenses ................................................................................................................................ 42 

SECTION 500 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ...................................................................................................................................... 43 

501. ELIGIBILITY .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 43 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4 

502. VACATION .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 43 
502.1 General Terms ................................................................................................................................. 43 
502.2 Accrual ............................................................................................................................................. 43 

502.3 Use ................................................................................................................................................... 43 
502.4 Termination, Retirement, or Disability ........................................................................................... 43 

503 SICK LEAVE ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 44 
503.1 General Terms ................................................................................................................................. 44 
503.2 Accrual ............................................................................................................................................. 44 
503.3 Use ................................................................................................................................................... 44 
503.4 Termination, Retirement ................................................................................................................. 44 

504 FIXED LEAVE ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 44 
504.1 Fixed Leave Days ............................................................................................................................. 44 
504.2 Use ................................................................................................................................................... 45 
504.3 Adjusted Fixed Leave Days .............................................................................................................. 45 

505 FLOATING LEAVE ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 45 
505.1 General Terms ................................................................................................................................. 45 
505.2 Accrual ............................................................................................................................................. 45 
505.3 Use ................................................................................................................................................... 46 

506 SPECIAL RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCES ................................................................................................................................................................... 46 
507 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 46 
509 FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE .................................................................................................................................................................................... 47 
510 MILITARY LEAVE ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 48 
511 UNPAID PERSONAL LEAVE ................................................................................................................................................................................. 48 
512 COURT APPEARANCE .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 49 
513 EDUCATION LEAVE ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 49 

514 INSURANCE ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 49 
514.1 Health Insurance ............................................................................................................................. 49 
514.2 Short Term Disability ....................................................................................................................... 49 

514.3 Long Term Disability ........................................................................................................................ 50 
514.4 Life Insurance .................................................................................................................................. 50 
514.5 Social Security .................................................................................................................................. 50 
514.6 Workers Compensation ................................................................................................................... 50 

514.7 Employee Assistance Program ........................................................................................................ 50 
515 CAREER DEVELOPMENT PLAN ........................................................................................................................................................................... 50 
516 LACTATION ACCOMMODATION ......................................................................................................................................................................... 51 

516.1 Support of Breastfeeding Employees .............................................................................................. 51 
516.2 Communication ............................................................................................................................... 51 
516.3 Milk Expression Breaks.................................................................................................................... 51 
516.4 Location ........................................................................................................................................... 51 
516.5 Resources ......................................................................................................................................... 51 

517 EMPLOYEE SUPPORT AND REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION .......................................................................................................................... 52 

SECTION 600 JOB REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE ................................................................................................................. 53 

601 PURPOSE ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 53 

602 FREQUENCY AND FORMAT ................................................................................................................................................................................. 53 
603 REVIEW OF EVALUATION ................................................................................................................................................................................... 53 
604 APPEAL OF UNSATISFACTORY EVALUATION ..................................................................................................................................................... 53 

SECTION 700 DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES ............................................................................................................................. 54 

701 POLICY ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 54 
702 DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 54 
703 TERMINATION BY AGENCY ................................................................................................................................................................................. 56 
704 SEPARATION BY EMPLOYEE ............................................................................................................................................................................... 57 

SECTION 800 COMPLAINTS .................................................................................................................................................. 58 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 5 

801 EXTERNAL COMPLAINTS ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 58 
802 ANONYMOUS COMPLAINTS ............................................................................................................................................................................... 58 
803 OTHER COMPLAINTS .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 58 
804 STAFF COMPLAINTS ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 58 

SECTION 900 AMENDMENTS ............................................................................................................................................... 59 

902 PERIODIC AMENDMENTS ................................................................................................................................................................................... 59 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 6 

WELCOME STATEMENT 

Welcome to SWCAP! Whether you have just joined our team or have been at SWCAP for a while, we are 
happy you are here! 

Together, we are on a mission to mitigate the causes and conditions of poverty in Southwestern Wisconsin, 
building resilience and self-sufficiency by providing supportive services and programs, and by collaborating 
with partners. We are grateful to have you on the team. 

We are committed to making SWCAP the best it can be, and we use our core values to guide the way. We 
thrive when we all hold ourselves accountable to these core values. 

We consider our employees to be one of our most valuable resources, so we developed this handbook to help 
you familiarize yourself with our policies. These policies are based on the belief that SWCAP’s success is 
primarily dependent upon its employees. Employees can expect the agency to: 

1. Live and promote the mission, vision, and core values through all the agency does. 
2. Treat our employees with fairness, dignity, and respect. 
3. Establish a strong and direct relationship with our employees through open and honest

communication.
4. Commit to cultivate and preserve a culture of inclusion and connectedness.
5. Provide opportunities for employees to develop personally and professionally.

We encourage you to read this handbook fully and keep it on hand as an ongoing reference. 

Thank you again for joining and being a part of the SWCAP team. We can’t wait to see what we can 
accomplish together! 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 7 

Mission, Vision, and Core Values 

SWCAP’s Mission: 

Southwestern Wisconsin Community Action Program, Inc. is a nonprofit organization committed 
to mitigating the causes and conditions of poverty in Southwestern Wisconsin, building 
resilience and self-sufficiency by providing supportive services and programs, and by 
collaborating with partners. In this handbook, the organization will be referred to as “SWCAP,” 
the “Agency” or “we.” 

SWCAP’s Vision: 

SWCAP is a catalyst for building communities of hope, inclusion, and social justice, where 
poverty is overcome, and all people are empowered and thrive. 

SWCAP’s Core Values: 

Integrity 

As an organization, we believe integrity is our most valuable asset. Individually, it is the choice of 

doing the right thing even when no one is watching. We believe in honesty, transparency and commit 

to being ethical in all our interactions with our colleagues, clients, families and the 

communities we serve. 

Collaboration 
We work together in a respectful and cooperative manner in partnership with each other, our 

clients, and the community to help build strong and successful working relationships. 

Innovation 
We value the pursuit of new and different ideas, approaches, and solutions as essential to achieving 

the organization's mission and vision. We encourage experimentation and embrace failure as a 

learning opportunity as we continuously strive for improvement and growth in all aspects of our 

endeavors. 

Dignity 
We uphold the inherent value and worth of every person regardless of their status, beliefs, or 

background. Dignity means treating oneself and others with honor, understanding, and respect. 

Compassion 

We demonstrate our genuine care and concern for one another and the community by responding to 

needs. 

Belonging 

We believe that everyone should feel accepted and valued as their full selves, and connected to each 

other, the community, and our organization. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 8 

Equitable Leadership 

We focus on promoting fairness, equal opportunity, and inclusion by addressing systemic inequalities 
and ensuring everyone has equal access to opportunities, resources, and support. We prioritize 
diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging in decision-making processes and work to dismantle barriers 
that prevent individuals from reaching their full potential. 

Definitions 

For the purpose of this handbook, the following terms have been defined to achieve clarity without 
repetition. 

• Because SWCAP understands the concept of family extends beyond traditional definitions and that 
families come in many forms, “family members” include, but are not limited to (i) spouses, partners 
of civil unions and life partners, (ii) legal, biological, adoptive, step and foster children (iii) parents,
siblings, grandparents, grandchildren and extended family (aunts/uncles/cousins), (iv) LGBTQIA and 
families, same sex partners and non-binary partners and (iv) other family structures not legally
recognized and vital to employee’s personal life/well-being. 

• “Workplace harassment” is inappropriate conduct, including, but not limited to, comments,
pictures, actions, writing, or gestures, that are unwelcome, intimidating, humiliating, hurtful, 
disrespectful, malicious, or otherwise offensive to an individual or group of individuals. Workplace 
harassment also includes behavior which creates a work environment that might be reasonably
expected to cause embarrassment, offense, or humiliation to another person or group. 

• “Name Usage” Individuals may choose to be addressed by a name that differs from their legal name. 
While the agency respects individual’s preferences for how they wish to be identified in day-to-day 
interactions, legal names must be used in all official documents and communications where 
required by law or regulatory standards, including government-issued identification and other legal 
documents. 

• "Controlled Substance" includes (i) substances which are illegal in the United States or the State of 
Wisconsin, (ii) substance not legally obtainable in the United States or the State of Wisconsin and
(iii) substances that are legally obtainable in the United States and the State of Wisconsin but used 
in a manner different from that prescribed by a physician or other medical provider licensed to
prescribe those substances. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 9 

SECTION 100 INTRODUCTION 

101. Purpose of Policies 

This handbook summarizes some of the personnel policies, employment policies, rules, and 
regulations established for SWCAP employees (the “personnel policies”). The handbook has been 
prepared to acquaint all volunteers, interns, board of directors, employees, and representatives of 
SWCAP with the personnel policies and to provide for the agency’s orderly and efficient operation. It 
is your responsibility to read and become familiar with this handbook and to follow the personnel 
policies contained in it. 

The personnel policies are established:

a. To provide consistent personnel practices and to effectively use the human resources of the 
agency in the achievement of its goals and objectives;

b. To provide a work climate of justice and dignity; and 
c. To clarify the roles of people responsible for personnel administration. 

To answer some of the questions you may have concerning the agency and its policies, we have 
written these personnel policies. This handbook is designed to acquaint you with SWCAP’s personnel 
policies and generally describe benefits available to SWCAP employees. Most of your questions 
should be answered in this handbook, however, if you have questions regarding the handbook or 
matters not covered, please direct them to your immediate supervisor and/or human resources. 

This handbook supersedes any previous employee handbook, manual, and other written or 
verbal statement of policy, which may have been issued by the agency. Personnel policies set 
forth in this handbook can be modified, revoked, or added to at any time, with or without 
notice, at the sole discretion of the agency through its HR Director, Personnel Committee and 
Board of Directors. No other employees have the authority to alter this handbook or any 
personnel policies. Any revisions will substitute and replace prior personnel policies and 
become a part of this handbook. All employees will automatically be subject to the addition, 
deletion or change, regardless of date of hire. Neither the text of this handbook, nor that of 
any personal policy is intended to be, or should be construed as, a contract guaranteeing 
continued employment, a guarantee of any rights or benefits, or a contract of employment, 
either expressed or implied. As stated later in this handbook, unless otherwise provided in 
writing, all employees of SWCAP are employees “At Will.” 

102. Responsibility for Policy Development and Implementation 

102.1 The Board of Directors and Head Start Policy Council 

SWCAP's Board of Directors is responsible for adopting personnel policies and policy revisions. 
In fulfilling this responsibility, the Board may initiate action or may accept or reject
recommendations of the Personnel Committee and staff. All employees are under the policy 
authority of the Board of Directors. In addition, employees working on Head Start programs are
also subject to and required to abide by Head Start procedures, rules and regulations. Further 
some employees may be required to follow procedures, rules and regulations established by
funders of one (1) or more SWCAP programs. Employees shall abide by all policies, procedures, 
rules and regulations required by SWCAP, Head Start or any other funders. The Board delegates 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 10 

to the Executive Director the responsibility for hiring employees to carry out its policies. 

Certain obligations are imposed on SWCAP by state and federal laws, rules, regulations and court 
decisions. Many of these have implications for SWCAP’s personnel policies. For this reason, a 
summary of the agency’s rights and responsibilities are listed below. These rights and responsibilities 
include, but are not limited to: 

1. Managing employees, including the hiring, promotion, scheduling, transfer, 
assignment, and retention of employees in positions within SWCAP. 

2. Establishing work rules. 
3. Establishing and altering employment policies and procedures, including 

those set forth in these personnel policies. 
4. Suspending, discharging, or taking other appropriate disciplinary action 

against employees, when necessary. 
5. Scheduling overtime work as required, consistent with SWCAP’s requirements. 
6. Developing job descriptions. 
7. Fulfilling the agency’s obligations in contracting out for matters relating to its 

operation as needed. 
8. Exercising any other right or responsibility SWCAP may have by law or 

otherwise. 

102.2 The Personnel Committee 

The Personnel Committee, in consultation with the Human Resources Director, develops and 
recommends personnel policies to the Board of Directors, so as to enable SWCAP to employ and 
retain competent staff to accomplish the work and fulfill the agency’s responsibility to the 
community. The Personnel Committee works with the Human Resources Director on the 
implementation of personnel policies and confers on exceptional situations not covered in 
established personnel policies. The Personnel Committee is responsible, together with Human 
Resources Director (i) for the establishment and frequency of review of a system of job descriptions, 
position classifications, salary ranges, and wage scales consistent with community standards and (ii) 
for establishing recruitment policies designed to ensure equal employment opportunities to 
individuals regardless of race, religion, creed, color, ethic or national origin, citizenship, sex, gender 
identity, age, non-job related physical or mental limitation, sexual orientation, martial or parenthood 
status, veteran status, membership in the National Guard or Reserve, arrest or conviction records not 
relevant to the position being filled, use or non-use of lawful products off the agency premises during 
non-working hours, physical characteristics, economic status, or other categories listed under the 
state or federal law. 

102.3 The Executive Director 

The Executive Director administers approved personnel policies and interprets them to the Board 
and staff members. The Executive Director acts as the agent of the Board of Directors in the 
selection, employment, and termination of employees in compliance with the personnel policies. 
Except as otherwise provided in this handbook or by Board action, Head Start Policy Council, or 
applicable laws, rules or regulations, the Executive Director and the Executive Director’s 
designees may develop and implement such policies and procedures as deemed necessary. 
Personnel Policies will not supersede the law and individual program regulations and funding 
source guidelines. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 11 

102.4 Authority Vested by Board in Executive Director 

The Board of Directors vests in the Executive Director the authority to and responsibility for directing 
the operations of the agency to achieve SWCAP’s objectives. To that end the Executive Director and 
the Executive Director’s designees may develop and implement such personnel policies, procedures 
and work rules as are deemed necessary except where regulated otherwise in these policies or by 
Board of Directors action. Employee actions governed by such personnel policies, procedures and 
work rules are subject to employee conduct (309) and disciplinary (700) sections of these personnel 
policies. 

103. Employee Orientation and Receipt of Personnel Policies 

Each SWCAP employee should receive an electronic copy of and have access to this handbook on 
SWCAP’s INOVA Dashboard in the company documents section and will be oriented to the policies 
and procedures within 20 working days of their date of hire. SWCAP retains final authority to alter or 
delete current personnel policies and/or to implement a new personnel policy. All employees are 
asked to acknowledge receipt of this handbook by signing the acknowledgment form attached hereto
or by signing electronically via the INOVA system and forwarding it to the Human Resources 
Department. 

104. At Will Employment 

EMPLOYEES OF SWCAP ARE EMPLOYED "AT WILL." THIS MEANS THAT EITHER THE EMPLOYEE OR 
THE AGENCY MAY TERMINATE EMPLOYMENT AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT REASON OR
NOTICE. 

An employment contract for a specified duration may be entered into only in writing and is only
valid if signed by the Executive Director. SWCAP makes no assurances, either expressed or 
implied, concerning either the duration of any employee's employment with this agency or any 
possible reason for termination of an individual's employment. 

This statement of policy contains all terms relative to termination of employment, and no
representations to the contrary, express or implied, are valid unless in a written document 
signed by the Executive Director. Nothing in this handbook or any other document (e.g., benefits 
descriptions, performance appraisal forms, etc.) shall be construed to create an employment 
agreement for a specified time period. 

105. Policy Changes 

The personnel policies and statements contained in this handbook may be changed at any time, with 
or without notice, at SWCAP's discretion and any such change shall be binding on all existing and new
employees. It is the agency's intention to periodically review these personnel policies for the purpose 
of updating them to better fit the needs of the agency. Every effort will be given to distribute 
changes/updates 15 working days prior to the implementation of the new policy(s). 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 12 

SECTION 200 EMPLOYMENT 

201. Equal Employment Opportunity

The agency is committed to the belief that each individual is entitled to equal employment 
opportunities in employment and program delivery without regard to characteristics protected 
under state or federal law, and it pledges itself to apply this commitment to recruiting, hiring, 
compensation, fringe benefits, staff development and training, promotions, transfers, discipline,
demotions, terminations, layoffs, access to benefits and all other conditions of employment, as well 
as to selection of volunteers and vendors and provision of services. 

SWCAP is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to all individuals based on 
qualifications, experience, and ability to perform the essential functions of the job. The agency’s hiring 
and promotion practices are guided by commitment to fairness, professional excellence, and 
compliance with all applicable federal and state equal opportunity laws. We support inclusive outreach 
and hiring strategies that help ensure a broad pool of qualified applicants are considered for 
employment. 

Except in cases where there are compelling reasons for demanding a specific level of education 
achievement for a position, all positions will stipulate a preferred educational level, but
equivalent experience, both paid and volunteer, will be given every consideration. This policy
applies to all employment practices, personnel actions, and program delivery. 

202. Disability and Reasonable Accommodation 

SWCAP prohibits discrimination against qualified employees and applicants with disabilities as 
established by the Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as state and local laws. SWCAP programs,
activities and opportunities are extended to all qualified persons in all aspects of the employment
relationship in accordance with the law and SWCAP’s non-discrimination policy. 

203. Job Descriptions 

Human Resources shall be responsible for working with departmental managers and directors to
prepare written job descriptions for all positions at SWCAP. Each employee shall receive a copy of 
their job description. Job descriptions may be revised whenever a change in tasks, duties, or 
responsibilities is appropriate. Employees and managers should use annual performance evaluations 
as opportunities to suggest job description modifications. 

204. Advertising 

All advertising will contain the statement: “Equal Opportunity Employer.” Advertising channels, 
particularly relevant for the recruitment of qualified minorities, women, low-income residents, 
and other target groups will be identified and utilized. Job postings will identify the requisite job 
qualifications and duties of the position. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 13 

205. Recruitment 

The agency is committed to an open recruitment process that emphasizes merit-based selection, 
focusing on the qualifications and competencies of all applicants. Our career development plan is 
designed to provide equitable opportunities for advancement to all employees, ensuring that
promotions and professional growth are based solely on individual performance and merit. 
Consequently, the recruitment process places a responsibility on management to provide staff 
with career advancement opportunities and responsibility on staff to demonstrate their abilities
and interests in career advancement when participating in the recruitment process. 

205.1 Opportunity for Area Residents, Groups Served 

Recruitment of personnel will be designed to provide the maximum employment opportunity for 
area residents and groups served. Current employees, including those who have been on laid off 
status for up to four months, will receive notification of all vacancies. 

The application packages from all applicants who are not selected for employment will be held by 
SWCAP for 12 months. These applications will be reviewed for similar positions that become 
available in that 12 month period. 

In exceptional circumstances the Executive Director can fill vacancies from among the existing 
staff without needing to complete the recruitment process. Performance evaluations and 
supervisory recommendations will serve as the major criteria for selection. 

205.2 Expenses 

a. Interview Expenses 

When an applicant is invited for an interview for an Executive, Senior Director or Director 

position, travel and per diem for that interview (up to a maximum amount of $500.00) may 
be paid by SWCAP. Such payment must be in accord with established funding source
regulations and requires advance approval by the Executive Director.

b. Relocation Expenses 

When a person is employed as a Director and must move from a community outside 
SWCAP’s seven -county program area, the actual costs of moving household goods may be 
paid. Such payment must be in accord with established funding source regulations and 
requires advance approval by the Board of Directors. 

205.3 Selection 

It is the policy of the agency to fill vacancies with persons who best meet the agency-wide 
programmatic, and functional requirements of the position. Opportunity for employment will 
be open to any person who can present satisfactory evidence of qualifications for the position. 
Consideration will be given to individuals who demonstrate the necessary skills and 
qualifications for the position, including those who may not have had access to formal 
education but possess relevant experience or proven ability to perform the job. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 14 

205.4 Application for Employment 

The following statement will be placed on the agency’s application for employment forms to 
ensure accurate information: “A false, incomplete, or dishonest answer to any question on this 
application will be grounds for rating an applicant ineligible for employment with this agency, or 
for dismissal after employment. All statements on this application are subject to investigation. 
All information will be considered in determining an applicant’s eligibility for employment with 
this agency.” 

205.5 Screen Procedures 

The screening of applicants will be based on task competency (or the ability to learn the task within a 
reasonable length of time) and experience (both paid and unpaid) in fields related to the 
requirements of the job. Uniform screening techniques will be used for all candidates competing for 
the same position at any one point in time. Caution will be exercised to screen a representative 
number of applicants. Any examinations or tests of skills and competencies are to be directly related 
to the requirements of the position for which the test is administered. 

205.6 Nepotism 

No employee will hold a job with this agency while they or any family members serves on the 
Board of Directors or any committee of the Board that set policies that relates to their job, or 
which, by rule or by practice, regularly nominates, recommends, or screens candidates for the 
agency or program by which they are employed. 

No board member may apply for any position within the agency unless absenting themselves 
from the hiring process in every way, to prevent the exercise of undue influence during the 
hiring process. If a board member is selected for a position, they will resign from the board. 

No board member may serve on the Board of Directors while any family member is employed by 
the agency. Before a potential board member is appointed to the Board of Directors they will 
disclose potential areas of nepotism with respect to current employees of the agency. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, family members of employees may be hired, however, no family 
member may be within the chain of supervision of another family member. In the case of two 
employees who become family members, when one employee has a supervisory relationship 
with the other, the employees will have the option to decide who will maintain their position 
and who will not. Otherwise, the family member with the most seniority will maintain their 
position. In the case of two current employees who are family members, if one wishes to 
advance into a position, but this position puts them within the chain of supervision of the other 
family member, the employees will have the option of deciding who will maintain their position 
and who will not. Otherwise, the family member with the most seniority will maintain their 
position. 

It is every employee’s responsibility to annually review the agency’s organizational chart to 
determine if their employment constitutes nepotism, which must be reported to the Senior 
Directors and Human Resources. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 15 

205.7 Notification 

a. Notification of Candidate Selected 

The final decision to hire any individual for a position as Director or Senior Director must be 
approved by the Executive Director before a formal offer of employment is extended. All 
persons selected will receive written notification of appointment. Said notifications will 
include position title, starting salary, immediate supervisor, reporting date and location, 
schedule of working hours, and orientation schedule. 

b. Notification of Candidates Not Selected 

Candidates not selected will be notified in writing after the selected candidate has accepted 
the position that the position has been filled. 

205.8 Criminal Background Check 

Driving record and criminal background checks may be required for volunteers, interns, all new 
and current employees, temporary assignments, Interns, and employees placed at the agency 
through work experience programs. In addition, current employees may be required to undergo a 
criminal background check when moving to a different position within the agency. Driving and 
criminal background checks will be conducted every five years to provide information of any 
potential risk for the agency. 

Head Start conducts (i) a sex offender registry check, (ii) a FBI criminal history record check 
(including fingerprints) and (iii) a child abuse and neglect state registry check for all employees 
(whether hired directly by the agency, or working by contract) at hire and annually thereafter. 
Head Start has 90 days to complete the background check process. Employees may not have 
unsupervised access to children until the process is complete. 

Due to the confidential nature of background checks, only Human Resources or members of Senior 
Management are authorized to conduct the background checks or review the results. Human 
Resources will review all results of the background checks and keep the program director informed of 
any findings. In the case of the Executive Director, the Civil Rights Compliance Officer (HR Director) 
and Chairperson of the Board will review the results. 
Records gathered as the result of a background check will be securely maintained by Human 
Resources in a secure location, not within the personnel file, and accessed only on a need-to- 
know basis or as required law. These records may include: 

a. Information collected from the background check; 
b. Analysis and decision whether criminal activity, if any, was substantially related to 

position; and 
c. Correspondence related to the background check. 

All records will be maintained for a period of not less than seven years after employee’s 
termination of employment. 

In accordance with Wisconsin’s Fair Employment Law, Wisconsin Statues 111.31-111.395, 
SWCAP will not refuse employment to a person with a not relevant to the position being filled 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 16 

or pending charge unless the conviction or pending charge substantially relates to the 
circumstances of the job. However, if an applicant attempts to withhold information or falsify 
information pertaining to previous convictions, the employee will be disqualified from further 
employment consideration in any position with the agency due to falsification of an 

application. 

205.9 References 

SWCAP maintains a neutral reference policy, under which SWCAP verifies date of hire, date of 
separation, position, and salary at time of separation. 

All requests for employee references should be referred to or submitted to the Human 
Resources department, whether issued from a prospective employer or by a former or current 
employee. 

205.10 Rehires 

Former employees applying for rehire may be considered for employment. However, special 
consideration will be given to past job performance and circumstances surrounding termination of 
previous employment. 

Eligibility for rehire will be determined by the Human Resources Department. Employees rehired 
within 6 (six) months of their separation date will be reinstated within their original date of hire. 
Employees rehired after the 6 (six) months of break in service will be considered the same as new 
employees. 

205.11 Board's Agent 

The Executive Director acts as the agent of the Board in the selection, employment, and termination 
of staff in compliance with SWCAP's personnel policy, hiring procedure, classification and pay plan. 
SWCAP has a “Head Start Policy Council” that must approve the hiring of all Head Start program 
employees. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 17 

SECTION 300 CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 

301. Employment Classification/Status 

301.1 Employment Classification 

Using tests mandated in the Fair Labor Standards Act, each position will be designated: 

Exempt 
Salaried employees employed in a bona fide executive, administrative, or professional capacity and 
meeting the required criteria are exempt from the minimum wage and overtime provision of the Fair 
Labor Standards Act. 

Non-Exempt
All hourly and certain salaried employees who do not qualify as exempt from overtime or minimum
wage under the Fair Labor Standards Act. Non-exempt employees are paid by the hour for all time 
worked and are entitled to overtime pay for all time worked in excess of forty (40) hours per work 
week, at a rate of one and one-half times their regular rate of pay. 

301.2 Employment Status 

a. Full Time Regular Employees 
Employees hired to work 30 hours or more per week. Full Time Regular employees are eligible 
for all employee benefits. 

b. Part-Time Regular Employees 
Employees hired to work 20-29 hours per week. Part Time Regular employees are not eligible for 
medical benefits but are eligible for all other employee benefits.

c. Part-Time Non-Eligible Employees 
Employees hired to work less than 20 hours per week. Part Time non-eligible employees are not
eligible for employee insurance benefits but are eligible for paid time off. 

d. As-Scheduled Employees 
Employees hired to work on an as-needed basis, working less than 20 hours per week on 
average, with hours varying from week to week based on program needs. As-Scheduled 
employees are not eligible for benefits but are eligible for 4 hours of fixed leave pay if 
they work in the week of an agency observed fixed leave day. 

e. Limited-Term Employees 
Employees hired to work for a period of six months or less into a position with a set end date and 
for which there is no expectation of continued employment beyond the specified end date. 
Limited Term employees are not eligible for employee benefits. 

f. Temporary Assigned Employee 
Where the need for an immediate filling of a position exists, the Executive Director may make a 
temporary assignment, of no more than a 12-month duration, from among present staff. 
Employees in temporary assignment position earn the normal rate of pay for temporary position. 
Regular employees may accept temporary assignments without losing status for benefits and 
without going through a probationary period. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 18 

302. Period of Orientation 

The intent of the period of orientation is to provide enhanced support and training to any person 

hired into a position, whether that person is a new hire or an existing employee. This period
will be characterized by training and close association between the employee and supervisor
while necessary skills are being defined and learned. All employees who are hired into a new
position will have a period of orientation of twelve months. 

After the employee has been employed for six months in their current position, the 
employee will have an evaluation. This evaluation is meant to note the employee’s progress,
to define and address any further training needs which may exist, and to plan for

rectification of any deficiencies that may exist. 

After the employee has been employed for twelve months in their current position, the
employee’s performance will be reviewed and evaluated by the supervisor according to 
established procedures. If performance has been satisfactory, the employee’s orientation
period will be completed. 

The supervisor may recommend to the Senior Director that an employee’s period of 
orientation be extended for three months in cases where performance is not sufficiently
satisfactory to merit regular status, nor sufficiently lacking to merit dismissal. Upon
concurrence of the Senior Director, the employee’s period of orientation may then be
extended for a period of three months. If a period of orientation of an employee is extended
three months beyond the original period of orientation, the employee’s performance will be
reevaluated at the end of that time, and the employee will be advanced to regular status or
dismissed as the performance indicates.

Employees terminated within their period of orientation do not have the right to reasons for 
termination, nor do they have the right to appeal personnel actions. The period of
orientation is intended to prepare the employee for successful performance in their position
but should not be construed as or inferred to abrogate the at will statue of any employee,
because every position of employment within SWCAP is at will and can be terminated at any
time, by either the employee or SWCAP, with cause or with no cause, and either with notice 
or without notice. 

303. Regulation of Work Schedules/Hours 

303.1 Breaks 

Employees may take the following breaks in their work period: 

Meal break. Employees who work more than four hours per day may take a 30-minute unpaid meal 
period, to be scheduled according to departmental needs, and to divide the working day into two
equal segments, insofar as it is possible and desirable to do so. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 19 

Work break. For every continuous four hours of work, employees may take one paid 15-minute work 
break within the four-hour period. Employees working fewer than four hours per day are not entitled 
to a work break. 

Employees may not elect to omit work breaks to leave work before the normal quitting time or to 
extend meal breaks. 

303.2. Regular Work Hours 

SWCAP’s standard hours of public-facing operations are 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through 
Friday. Department and program managers are responsible for ensuring coverage through 
assignment of employee work schedules. 

All employees are expected to work their assigned work schedule. Hours of work include time spent 
on planning, preparation, direct service, recording, attending meetings, conferences, training 
sessions, institutes, conventions and other activities attended as an official representative of the 
agency, and the time spent on official agency travel. 

Employees who are absent during scheduled work time must are expected use available paid leave 
to account for the absence. When necessary, SWCAP will may adjust the employee’s timesheet to 
add adjust available paid leave up to the scheduled hours. Sick leave will be used first, if the absence 
meets sick leave criteria, then vacation, then floating leave. Any remaining time not accounted for is 
unpaid and may require involvement by SWCAP’s human resources department. 

303.3 Variations to Regular Work Hours 

The “regular” day described in policy 303.2 may be changed to suit the needs of the agency or the 
employee when the change is feasible given the duties of the position. Changes to accommodate 
agency needs should be preceded by a week’s written notice to employees whenever possible. 
Changes at the request of the employee require a week’s advance approval by the employee’s 
immediate supervisor whenever possible. Permanent and temporary changes require written 
approval. 

303.4 Four-Day Work Week 

To promote a better work-life balance and increase overall employee wellness, the standard SWCAP 
workweek for Full Time Regular Employees is a 36-hour week comprised of four 9-hour days. 

The standard work schedule for Full Time Regular Employees is Monday through Thursday or 
Tuesday through Friday, with daily schedules of 7 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., 7:30 a.m. to 5 p.m., or 8 a.m. to 
5:30 p.m., with a 30-minute unpaid lunch. Other work schedules may be considered and must be 
approved by the employee’s Program Director. 

The agency will maintain SWCAP hours of operation as stated in Section 303.2. All departments and 
programs must ensure employee coverage during the standard hours of operation. 

There may be occasional situations when Full Time Regular Employees are required to work more 
than 36 hours (i.e. All Staff events, any program-specific training, conferences or meetings, etc.) in 
which case hourly employees will be paid for those mandatory hours. 

Formatted: Right:  0.18"



SWCAP Personnel Policies 20  

Employees are encouraged to schedule personal appointments on their day off during the week to 
promote full staffing capacity while maintaining the overall benefit of a 36-hour workweek. 

 
303.5 Remote Work 

 
SWCAP may (but is not obligated to) allow employees to work remotely (telecommute or “work from 
home”) to help create a supportive remote work environment, and to achieve multiple goals and 
objectives that will benefit both our organization and our employees. These goals include improved 
work-life balance, increased employee satisfaction, collaborative support, and enhanced adaptability. 

Employees are not entitled to remote work. Given the range of positions within the agency, there will 
be many factors affecting the suitability of remote working for both employees and our agency. If an 
employee wishes to have a remote working arrangement, supervisors will consider each request, 
understanding that the arrangement should have the least neutral impact on the agency and does 
not establish any practice that cannot be adapted to the agencies, or the employee’s needs. This 
policy is not contractual but aims to set out how we normally deal with such issues. The agency may, 
in the agency’s sole discretion, allow remote work arrangements, adjust remote work arrangements 
for one or more employees and/or end remote work arrangements for one or more employees. 

 
SWCAP recognizes three types of remote work arrangements: 

1. Occasional: Limited, short-term (such as for a day, part of a day, or to complete a project 
arrangements to accommodate a personal request or situation). 

 
2. Regular, but part-time: Split time in the office and out-of-the-office, such as Monday, 

Wednesday and Friday work from home, and Tuesday and Thursday in the office. 
 

3. Full-Time: Regularly works from an approved remote site but comes into the office for 
meetings or special events. 

This policy may also apply in instances where a pandemic or natural disaster necessitates remote 
work arrangements, and as such, SWCAP retains the right to institute a policy of remote work for 
certain positions or on a staff-wide basis. 

 
This policy does not apply to requests for reasonable accommodation. Employees requesting to work 
remotely as a reasonable accommodation should follow SWCAP’s procedures on requests for a 
reasonable accommodation. 

 
Eligibility for Remote Work Arrangement 

A SWCAP employee is eligible to request a remote work arrangement if, within the discretion of the 
Employee’s manager (i) the employee’s essential job functions may be performed remotely, and (ii) 
the employee has a satisfactory performance record. Managers may assess and approve remote 
work requests on a case-by-case basis, based on the specific requirements of the department 
involved and the needs of the team and organization. SWCAP is not required to approve or allow 
remote work and any remote work shall be approved and/or allowed in the agencies sole discretion. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 21 

Employees may request remote work arrangements by submitting a completed remote work request 
form in writing to their direct supervisor. The supervisor may contact the Employee for additional 
information. 

Before entering into any remote working arrangement, the employee’s supervisor, in consultation 
with the appropriate Directors and Senior Director and with SWCAP’s Human Resources Department, 
shall evaluate a number of factors to determine the suitability of such an arrangement, including (but 
not limited to) a review of the following areas: 

• Employee suitability. Assess the needs and work habits of the employee (including in 
relation to supervision) to determine whether the employee can adequately carry out their 
essential job functions in a remote work arrangement. 

• Job responsibilities. Consider the employee’s job responsibilities and determine if the 

job is appropriate for a remote work arrangement. 

• Equipment and technology needs, workspace design considerations and 
scheduling issues. Review the physical workspace needs, the appropriate location for the 
employee to conduct work, and any scheduling changes necessitated by the employee’s
remote work environment. 

SWCAP May Approve Requests to Work Remotely for a Trial Period 

SWCAP may choose to approve a request to work remotely for a trial period of 5 days. Evaluation of 
the employee’s performance during the trial period will include regular interaction by phone and e- 
mail between the employee and the employee’s supervisor, and weekly face-to-face meetings via 
videoconferencing or other technological means to discuss work progress and problems. At the end 
of the trial period, the employee and supervisor will each review the trial period and make a 
recommendation for continuance, modification(s), and/or termination of the arrangement. The 
Department Head will review the recommendation and will decide, in conjunction with the HR 
Department, whether the remote work arrangement may be withdrawn or approved for a longer 
period of time. Evaluation of the employee’s performance beyond the trial period will be consistent 
with that received by employees working at the office in both content and frequency, but it will also 
include a general assessment of the employee’s remote work arrangement. If an employee is placed 
on a developmental or performance improvement plan, the remote work arrangement may be 
temporarily or permanently discontinued. 

SWCAP's Policies Remain in Effect 

Employees permitted to work remotely must continue to abide by all of SWCAP’s personnel policies 
and all other applicable employee policies. Failure to follow SWCAP’s personnel policies and other 
direction may result in termination of the remote work arrangement and discipline, up to and 
including termination of employment. 

Employees are prohibited from engaging in work for third parties and all other unauthorized work 
during their remote work hours. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 22 

Remote Workplace Arrangement 

Employee Responsibilities: 

• Employees working remotely are in a position of trust and are expected to work their full 
scheduled hours, as required to support the employee’s program. 

• Employees needing to flex schedules will need supervisor approval prior to flexing. 

• Employees must ensure that their work maintains quality and is unhindered by domestic 
concerns and suitable care arrangements must be in place to allow the employee to work 
free from distractions. 

• Employees will keep in regular contact with their supervisor to ensure that updates on the 
work being undertaken are discussed and agreed. Supervisors will determine the frequency
of contact. 

• Employees in a remote work environment will notify their supervisor if they are unable to
work on a day they normally would ( e.g., illness). 

• Employees will need to be available to travel when requested, if this is a requirement of 
their job, and to attend all staff meetings and trainings as required. 

Equipment and Technology: To enable efficient remote work, the Employee shall provide all 
furniture and equipment necessary for their remote work arrangement. SWCAP is not responsible for 
any damage to Employee’s furniture or equipment suffered in connection with Employee’s remote 
work arrangement. 

SWCAP shall loan the following equipment, as needed, to employees approved for remote work 
arrangements: 

• Computer/Laptop 

• Anti-virus software 

• Office supplies

Equipment that SWCAP provides is SWCAP property. SWCAP retains ownership of the property and 
reserves the right to monitor the property even when used at a remote location. Any equipment 
supplied by SWCAP shall be used by the employee for business purposes only. The employee must 
keep SWCAP property safe and avoid any misuse, damage, or theft. 

SWCAP will be responsible for repairing any equipment supplied by SWCAP. However, the employee 
is responsible for any intentional damage. All SWCAP equipment must be returned when the remote 
work arrangement ends or upon request by SWCAP. 

SWCAP’s technology support is available to assist the employee while working remotely from 8:00 
am – 4:30 pm CST. SWCAP’s technology support may be contacted at support@swcap.org 

The employee agrees that access and connection to SWCAP's network(s), even if through a personal 
device, may be monitored. 

mailto:support@swcap.org


SWCAP Personnel Policies 23 

Security: The employee is responsible for securing from theft any SWCAP property. Employees shall 
use SWCAP’s secure remote access procedures, regular password maintenance, and any other 
measures appropriate for the job and the remote work environment. 

The employee agrees to maintain confidentiality by using passwords and maintaining regular anti- 
virus protection and computer backup. The employee shall not download SWCAP or client 
confidential information onto a non-secure device. The employee shall not share any passwords with 
anyone outside of SWCAP. If any unauthorized access or disclosure occurs, the Employee shall inform 
SWCAP immediately. 

Injuries and Workers’ Compensation: In the event of a job-related injury, the employee shall report 
the incident to the employee’s supervisor as soon as possible pursuant to the procedures outlined in 
SWCAP’s Workers Compensation Policy and Procedure. Note that workers' compensation does not 
apply to injuries to any third parties or members of an employee’s family on employee's premises. 
Furthermore, workers’ compensation does not apply to injuries incurred outside of working 
hours/outside of the remote workspace. 

Termination of remote work environment: 
If the agency or the employee feels that the arrangement is not working satisfactorily, a return to 
previous working arrangements may be required, i.e., returning to an office-only work environment. 
Notice of termination of a remote work environment will be made in writing. All equipment must be 
returned at the end of employment in good working order, normal wear excluded. SWCAP may 
terminate any remote work arrangement, at any time, with or without cause or notice. 

306. Lay-Off Situations 

a. Definition: A laid-off employee (except limited term employee or a person hired to fill a 

temporary position) is defined as an employee who is taken off the payroll through no fault of 
their own. Laid-off employees are responsible for notifying the agency of address changes. A 
decision to lay-off is not an adverse decision and may be taken by SWCAP for any reason, 
including, without limitation, a reorganization, budget cuts, or programmatic changes. Layoff 
decisions must be approved by the Executive Director. Layoffs due to program changes and/or 
funding circumstances may be based on any combination of the following: budget capabilities, 
employee’s skills required, talent management and assessment of employee performance 
including a review of disciplinary action, seniority, and location. 

b. Notice: Employees who are facing lay-off by the agency will be given notice or pay in lieu of 

notice as follows: Executive leadership, three months; exempt staff, one month; non-exempt staff, 
two weeks. Such notice or pay in lieu of notice is in addition to any unused, earned vacation time 
to which the employee is entitled, unless the employee has been given a recall date.

c. Recall: The Executive Director may choose to recall a laid-off employee in lieu of open 

recruitment. Recall can only be for a position at the same or lower grade from which the 
employee was laid-off, for which they are qualified. 

d. When hiring/offering hours to SWCAP employees, factors that may play a role in making this 
decision include but are not limited to: the status of the work environment, supervisory 
discretion, hiring the best employee for the agency position, training needs of SWCAP staff who 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 24 

could fill it, position/department/program capacity/location considerations, staff cuts coinciding 
with available hours, and unemployment compensation. 

e. Seniority date retention: A seniority date is defined as the time an employee is hired except for 
temporarily assigned employees. If an employee is rehired or recalled within four months of layoff 
date, they will retain their prior seniority date. Employees who resign their positions are not 
eligible for the retention of their seniority date. 

1. If an employee is rehired or recalled to the same position within four months they will 

resume employment at the same step as they were when they left. They also retain their prior 
seniority date and anniversary date.

2. If an employee is rehired or recalled to a different position within four months, the employee
cannot retain the same step but can retain their prior seniority date and anniversary date. 

307. Gifts and Gratuities 

Employees are prohibited from soliciting gifts, money, and/or gratuities for personal benefit. 
However, employees may accept occasional (as opposed to routine) non-cash gifts with a value up to 
$30.00. Any non-food item gift must be reported to the employee’s supervisor. Employees are never 
allowed to accept cash or checks as a gratuity, a gift, or for personal use. 

308. Employee Conduct 

Reasonable standards of employee conduct are necessary to provide the best possible atmosphere
and service for our clients and other employees. Evidence of any of, but not limited to, the following 
will constitute a violation of these standards and may result in disciplinary action up to, and 
including, termination. This covers employees conduct onsite and off agency premises during the 
entire time on agency business, including but not limited to visiting clients or customers, at 
conferences or meetings, while in travel status or while on agency business. Travel status is defined 

as from the time of departure to the time of return. Employees also need to behave in alignment
with this code of conduct before, during, and after in area events. 

a) Failure to comply with the explicit requirements of this handbook or personnel policies, 
procedures, work rules, and behavioral expectation of the agency; 

b) Substantiated failure to perform according to one’s job description and requirements; 

c) Failure to follow instructions provided by supervisor; 

d) Falsification of employment application or agency records; 

e) Conduct endangering the welfare of a client, the general public, or fellow employee; 
f) Intentional or persistent refusal to respect gender identity, declared name, and declared 

pronouns; 

g) Absence from employment without notice; 

h) Damage to agency property or reputation; 

i) Theft of property belonging to the agency, a client, or a fellow employee; 

j) False claims for salary and/or reimbursement for job expenses; 

k) Disclosure of confidential information regarding the agency, a client, an employee, or volunteer 
without proper authorization; 

l) Use of agency equipment and/or supplies for personal benefit without approval, 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 25 

m) Conviction for an offense that would have precluded employment or conviction or pending 
charge for an offense that substantially relates to the circumstances of the job for which the 
employee is hired; 

n) Sleeping on the job; 

o) Purchasing items from (or otherwise collaborating with) clients, contractors, vendors with the 
intent to make a personal profit; 

p) Representing the agency negatively inside or outside of work; 

q) Inflicting harm on others, or violating the agency’s anti-discrimination policies; 

r) Participating in Illegal activity in any manner; 

s) Use of the employee’s position to plan, initiate, participate in, or otherwise aid or assist in the 
conduct of any unlawful activities; 

t) Participation, in connection with the performance of job duties, in any form advocacy or lobbying 
that would cause SWCAP to be in violation of the advocacy and lobbying limitations set for in 
Section 5019(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code; 

u) Failure to secure advance written approval to work overtime, except in an emergency; 

v) Failure to follow standard safety procedures; 

w) Failure to notify agency of lapse/loss of personal vehicle insurance if it is a condition of 
employment; 

x) Failure to notify agency of loss of driving privileges if possessing license is a condition of 
employment; 

y) Use of discriminatory language, actions, or interactions. 

z) Harassment of co-workers, employees, board members, contractors, volunteers, or program 
recipients through language or actions intended to bully, intimidate, provoke, or otherwise 
create a hostile or unwelcoming work environment; 

aa) Unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance in 
the workplace. 

bb) Factors a. – bb. are intended as examples only and this list is not exhaustive. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 26 

309. Code of Ethics 

The Code of Ethics has been established to address the conduct of SWCAP employees. These 
parameters relate to right and wrong behavior toward internal and external customers while on the 
job either onsite or off agency premises during the entire time on agency business, including but not
limited to visiting clients or customers, at conferences or meetings, while in travel status or while on 
agency business. Travel status is defined as from the time of departure to the time of return. 
Employees also need to conduct themselves professionally before, during, and after in area events. 
The Code of Ethics also applies to Agency Board members. 

I will: 
• Adhere to Agency’s Mission, Vision, and Core Values. 

• Adhere to Agency policies and procedures. 

• Exhibit self-control and professionalism in the words and behaviors I choose. 

• Be honest and trustworthy. 

• Be cooperative. 

• Be responsible and accountable.

• Be supportive and intentional; respect diversity; respect privacy, belongings, and personal 
space. 

• Uphold confidentiality. 

I will not: 
• Discriminate. 

• Use language or actions which have the purpose, or effect, of bullying, intimidating, 

provoking, or harassing. 

• Provide religious counseling and proselytizing at work. 

• Make unauthorized commitments. 

• Practice fraudulent or deceptive behavior. 

• Exploit relationships for personal gain. 

• Lend money to, or borrow money from, program participants.

• Waste or misuse Agency assets. 

• Use Agency resources or assets for personal benefit or gain.

• Misrepresent the Agency, professional qualifications, education, experience, or affiliations. 

310. Dress Code Attire 

SWCAP’s dress code promotes inclusivity and respects diverse expressions. SWCAP does not 
currently require employees to follow a specific dress code but may ask employees to dress in 
specific attire for special events. Employees are expected to use good judgement in determining 
whether or not their own apparel is acceptable work attire. Supervisors may coach employees 
regarding attire if the need should arise. 

311. Political Activity

While SWCAP encourages employees to exercise their civic duty by registering and voting, and 
further encourages political debate and discussion, SWCAP prohibits the use of agency resources to 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 27 

support any political, advocacy or lobbying efforts that would cause the agency to be in violation of 
the advocacy and lobbying limitations in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, 
SWCAP prohibits the following activities: 
1. Employees are not permitted to devote work time or utilize agency resources to endorse or 

support political candidates. This includes the use of SWCAP letterhead, postage, e-mail 

accounts, message boards, agency time, telephone, fax, copy machines, or other agency

resources. 

2. Employees cannot post political statements, wear buttons or other clothing, display signs 
promoting candidates for office, or distribute campaign materials while at work. 

3. Campaign contributions from SWCAP are prohibited. 

4. Political fundraising by SWCAP employees is prohibited while at work. 

5. Employees cannot hold or be a candidate for a partisan public elective office. An employee

planning to be a candidate for partisan public elective office should resign their position prior to

announcement of their candidacy or commencement of substantial activities intended directly to

promote said candidacy, whichever occurs first. 

6. Employees cannot engage in voter registration and get-out-the-vote drives with bias that 

would favor one candidate over another, oppose a candidate in some manner, or have the effect
of favoring a candidate or group of candidates while at work. 

7. Employees cannot become involved in any other activities that may be beneficial or 

detrimental to any political candidate while at work. 

8. Any activity for the purpose of influencing legislation, referenda or ballot initiative, or 
appropriation or budget resolutions must be first approved by the Executive Director. No federal, 
state, restricted, or temporarily restricted funds may be used for this purpose. 

SWCAP allows employees to use personal time and personal resources for the following activities: 

1. Registration and voting. 

2. Expression of personal opinions on political subjects and candidates. 

3. Membership in a political party or club. 

4. Voluntary contributions of money to a political campaign or party. 

5. Attendance at political meetings and rallies. 
6. Candidacies for partisan political party offices (party chairperson, etc.) are permitted, but

employees cannot devote work time to such an office or campaign. 
7. Nonpartisan candidacies are permitted, but employees cannot devote work time to such an 

office or campaign. A nonpartisan office is not connected with a political party and candidates do 
not need to declare a party affiliation. 

312. Harassment-Free Workplace 

It is the policy of SWCAP that all people have the right to freedom from discrimination and 
harassment. Workplace harassment is a form of offensive treatment or behavior which, to a 
reasonable person, creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment. SWCAP is 
committed to providing a professional, respectful and harassment-free workplace for all employees 
and clients. All employees are expected to conduct themselves in a manner that promotes a 
respectful, productive, and inclusive workplace culture. Unlawful discrimination or harassment of any 
kind – whether by an employee, supervisor, or client – will not be tolerated.  



SWCAP Personnel Policies 28  

All employees, but most especially supervisory personnel, have a responsibility to see that workplace 
harassment does not occur and that it is stopped if it does occur. This responsibility is for the 
protection of all employees, clients, [customers] and of the agency. 

 
Acts of discrimination or harassment will not be tolerated at SWCAP and all alleged acts of 
discrimination and harassment will be investigated. Employees involved with or participating in 
workplace harassment or other forms of discrimination or harassment will be subject to disciplinary 
action. Examples of prohibited conduct include, but are not limited to: 

• Physical harassment 

• Disrespectful, hostile, intimidating, threatening, humiliating, or violent behavior 

• Slurs 

• Innuendos, cartoons, print, clothing, and other graphics 

• Use of profane and/or offensive language 

• Teasing 

• Un-consenting information sharing 

• Yelling or displaying angry outbursts 

• Making jokes at the expense of others or initiating pranks which could endanger others 

• Excluding an individual from activities or access to information without cause 

• Making comments which are disparaging or disrespectful even if unrelated to a protected 
status 

Sexual harassment may involve pressure from a person of either sex against a person of the opposite 
or same sex. This may occur in any employment relationship. It is not limited to the traditional 
supervisor-employee relationship. Sexual harassment may take many forms, including, but not 
limited to: 

 
• verbal harassment or abuse; 

• subtle pressure or requests for sexual activity; 

• offensive touching (e.g. patting, pinching, hugging, repeated brushing against anotherperson’s 

body); 

• requesting or demanding sexual favors accompanied by implied or overt threats concerning 

an individual’s employment or benefit status; 

• requesting or demanding sexual favors accompanied by implied or overt promise of 
preferential treatment; 

• deliberate repeated making of unsolicited gestures or comments; 

• deliberate repeated display of sexually graphic materials which is not necessary for business 
purposes. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 29 

312.1 Reporting Discrimination & Workplace Harassment 

a. Complaints/Reporting 

Any employee who feels they have been the subject of workplace harassment should first
make it known to the harasser that the behavior is unwelcome. However, if the person 
being harassed cannot or will not confront the harasser or if the confrontation does not
adequately resolve the situation, further action should be taken. 

Complaints of workplace harassment should be made to the affected employee’s direct
supervisor and SWCAP’s Human Resource/Civil Rights Compliance Officer (CRCO) through 
any verbal or written means. However, if the employee is uncomfortable in discussing the 
situation with the direct supervisor, the Human Resource/CRCO should be notified instead. 
If the affected employee is uncomfortable discussing the situation with Human Resources, 
the Executive Director should be notified instead. 

An employee who has been made aware of or witness to harassment of a client or other 
employee must report such incidents immediately to either their supervisor or the next-in- 
line supervisor. 

Supervisors who receive reports of alleged workplace harassment must notify the Human 
Resource Director/CRCO to coordinate an investigation. The investigation will be conducted 
in a confidential manner to the extent consistent with the need to investigate and evaluate 
the complaint. 

b. Investigation of Complaints 

When a supervisor and/or the Human Resource Director/CRCO is notified of alleged 
harassment, an investigation will immediately be initiated. In all instances, and to the 
greatest extent possible, the complaint and investigation will be handled in a confidential 
manner. 

1. If the complaint concerns workplace harassment, the investigation will include 
interviews with the directly involved parties, and where necessary, employees who may
have observed the alleged harassment or who may be similarly situated with the 
complaining employee (and therefore may be able to testify to their experiences with 
the accused party). Suspension of the accused party, as defined in Section 702 of 
Personnel Policies, may be used during the investigative period. 

2. If the complaint concerns a party contracted to provide services on behalf of SWCAP, 
the Supervisor or Human Resource Director/CRCO will submit the complaint to the 
owner of the contracted agency stated in the complaint along with the organization’s 
policy concerning harassment. The contracted agency will be instructed to respond to
the complaint within an appropriate timeframe. 

c. No Retaliation 

No retaliatory action will be taken against any person who in good faith reports conduct
that she or he believes may violate SWCAP’s policy against workplace harassment. No



SWCAP Personnel Policies 30 

retaliatory action will be taken against any individual for assisting or participating in an 
investigation, proceeding or hearing related to a harassment complaint. 

d. Disciplinary Action 

If an investigation shows that workplace harassment has occurred, appropriate disciplinary
action, as defined in the agency’s personnel policies will be taken.

e. Training 

All employees, supervisors, and management personnel will be required to attend 
mandatory anti-discrimination, anti-harassment, and/or anti-sexual harassment training as 
designated by SWCAP. 

313. Personnel Records 

Personnel records are kept for all employees. These records are confidential and available only to the 
employee, personnel within the chain of supervision, the employee with personnel responsibilities, 
or as required by law. In the case of the Executive Director’s records, these are available only to the 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors and Human Resources. 

When required, access to employee personnel records will be provided to funders of the agency. 

314. Vehicle Operations 

314.1 Automobile Insurance 

Each employee required to use their personally owned vehicle on official agency business must have 
their insurance company file a certificate of insurance with the agency certifying that they have at
least the state minimum liability and property damage coverage. The employee must immediately 
notify the agency of changes in coverage that do not meet the state minimum. In those instances 
where an employee must use a borrowed, rented, or leased vehicle, they must ask the owner the 
name of the insurance company but need not secure a certificate of insurance. 

314.2 Driver’s License 

Each employee required to drive on agency business must possess a valid driver’s license and submit 
it for inspection by their immediate supervisor on demand. Employees must immediately notify the 
agency of any loss of driving privileges. Employees must notify the agency within 72 hours of 
receiving a ticket for Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) or reckless driving.



SWCAP Personnel Policies 31 

315. Conflict of Interest 

No employee or Board Member shall engage in any business, transaction, have a financial or other 
personal interest, direct or indirect (i) which is incompatible with the proper fulfillment of their 
responsibilities, (ii) would tend to impair their independence of judgment, or action in the 
performance of their responsibilities or (iii) create the appearance of a conflict of interest for the 
employee, Board Member or agency. Personal, as distinguished from financial, interest includes an 
interest arising from family, close personal relationship, or close business association. 

315.1 Guidance 

Activities and conduct away from the job must not compete, conflict with, or compromise agency
interests or adversely affect job performance and the ability to fulfill all responsibilities to SWCAP. 
Employees are prohibited from performing any services for customers on nonworking time that are 
normally performed by SWCAP. This prohibition also extends to unauthorized use of any agency
property or equipment. Employees are not to solicit or conduct any outside business during paid 
working time. 

Family members of employees may not access SWCAP services or programs without prior approval 
from the Executive Director and subsequent approval from any relevant funding source. Approval 
from the funding source must be gained in writing prior to delivering goods or services to staff or 
family members of employees. 

No employee shall disclose confidential information concerning the property, administration, or 
affairs of SWCAP, nor shall they use such information to advance the financial or other private 
interests of themselves or others not eligible for such benefits. 

Employees and Board members cannot be awarded a contract unless the contract has been awarded 
through public notice, competitive bidding, or any other process provided for by law if the contract
will be paid in whole or in part out of agency funds. 

Employees and Board members may not lease real property to the agency, unless awarded through a 
competitive bid process or adequate price/rate comparison. 

Employees and Board members may not use agency time, facilities, supplies and equipment, 
prestige, or influence for private gain or advantage without the approval of the Executive Director or 
Department Director. 

316. Vehicle Safety and Electronic Device Usage 

SWCAP prohibits the use of hand-held devices and other electronic devices while driving on agency
time. This includes making and receiving calls, texts, and any other use of the phone or device.
Employees must pull over and stop the vehicle prior to any use of a cell phone and/or other 
electronic device. Use of handsfree devices is allowed while operating a vehicle. 

317. Drug Free Workplace 

The unlawful manufacturing, distribution, dispensing, possession, use, or being under the influence 
of a controlled substance is prohibited in any workplace of SWCAP. Use of controlled substances by 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 32 

employees is prohibited. The agency reserves the right to require any employee submit to testing for 
controlled substances. Use of a controlled substance and/or refusal to submit to testing for 
controlled substances may result in discipline, up to and including termination. Clothing referencing 
drugs may not be worn during work time. 

317.1 Definition of Workplace 

SWCAP workplaces are defined as all places where work is performed for SWCAP, and employees are 
being paid for their time. This includes all offices, clothing centers, transitional houses, etc. It also 
includes clients’ homes, vehicles, and training or conference sites when an employee is earning 
wages or salary and is present at that location. 

317.2 Personnel Action 

Employees who violate SWCAP’s drug-free workplace policies may be disciplined, up to and including 
termination. Depending on the seriousness and circumstances of the offense, and at the agency’s 
sole discretion, an employee who violates SWCAP’s drug-free workplace policies may be referred to a 
counseling, rehabilitation, or employee assistance program, at the employee’s expense. Refusal to 
cooperate in any such program may result in discipline, up to and including termination. 

317.3 Funder Notification 

Regarding employees who are employed utilizing State of Wisconsin or federal funds, notification 
must be made to the funder within 10 days of the employee’s violation of SWCAP’s drug-free 
workplace policies. 

317.4 Drug-Free Awareness 

The establishment of a drug-free awareness program for all SWCAP employees is mandated by this 
policy. Drug-free awareness material will be distributed to all employees at least annually. 

317.5 Alcohol Policy 

Employees may not consume alcohol while on duty, during breaks, or during lunch periods with the 
following exception: Employees can, on a limited basis, consume alcohol during conference 
receptions, banquets, or social events. Employees are expected to use good judgment and must act 
professionally while on duty and are prohibited from wearing clothing referencing alcohol. 
Employees should not consume alcohol and then drive on agency business. An employee who 
observes a violation of the alcohol policy is expected to notify their supervisor. 

317.6 Tobacco Free Policy 

All SWCAP owned or rented office buildings, vehicles, or work-related meetings are tobacco free. This 
includes e-cigarettes, vapes, and chewing tobacco. Additionally wearing clothing referencing tobacco 
use is prohibited. 

Employees working in or outside clients’ homes are not permitted to use tobacco products even with 
the client’s permission. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 33 

Employees using personal vehicles on agency time during agency work hours are not permitted to 
use tobacco products if they are transporting clients. 

All agency entrances are tobacco free. Employees are permitted to use tobacco products during 
allowed break times as defined in Personnel Policy 303.1, in agency designated areas only but must 
be at least ten feet from any door or windows. Employees are permitted to use tobacco outside on 
breaks during work-related meetings in designated areas. Employees who use tobacco are expected 
to clean up all debris. 

318. Computer, Laptop, Tablet, iPad, Mobile and Electronic Device Policy 

To maximize the benefits of its electronic resources and minimize potential liability, SWCAP has 
created this policy. All employee are obligated to use these resources responsibly, professionally, 
ethically, and lawfully. Passwords to access employee computers and network files must be kept 
confidential and must be used on every device. 

You are given access to SWCAP electronic devices to assist you in performing your job. You should 
not have an expectation of privacy in anything you create, store, send, or receive on the agency
system. The system--hardware, software, and any work performed on it-- belongs to SWCAP and may 
only be used for business purposes, unless otherwise stated in this policy. Without prior notice, 
SWCAP supervisors may review any material created, stored, sent, or received on its agency system
and hardware. 

The use of the e-mail and messaging systems are reserved primarily for business purposes at SWCAP. 
All electronic messages composed, sent, or received on a SWCAP device or system are, and remain, 
the property of SWCAP. No hardware, software, content or data contained on any device owned by 
SWCAP is the private property of any employee and SWCAP has the absolute right to access any such 
hardware, software, content or data at any time. 

SWCAP reserves and intends to exercise the right to review, audit, intercept, access, and disclose all 
messages created, received, or sent over the e-mail system for any purpose. The contents of email 
properly obtained for legitimate business purposes may be disclosed within SWCAP without the 
permission of the employee. 

Activities Permitted During Work Hours: 
• Performing your job. 

• SWCAP business purposes. 

• Exchange of humor with staff. 

• Streaming music. 

Activities Permitted Outside Work Hours (Before/After Hours, Lunch, or Breaks): 
• Non-work-related use of the internet. 

• Playing computer games. 

• Non-work-related use of agency software. 

Activities Strictly Prohibited: 
• The intentional removal of company files or records from electronic devices. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 34 

• Solicitation or proselytizing for commercial ventures, religious or political causes, outside 

organizations, or other non-work-related solicitations (unless approved by agency management). 

• Creation or disbursement of any offensive, fraudulent, or disruptive messages (including any 

messages which offensively address racial slurs, someone’s age, sexual orientation, religious or 

political beliefs, national origin, or disability). 

• Retrieval or reading of any e-mail messages sent to someone other than oneself (unless
with prior approval by the Executive Director). 

• Sending, receiving, downloading, displaying, printing, or otherwise disseminating material 

that is sexually explicit, profane, obscene, harassing, fraudulent, racially offensive, defamatory, or 
otherwise unlawful. 

• Disseminating or storing commercial or personal advertisements, solicitations, promotions, 

destructive programs (that is, viruses or self-replicating code), political information, or any other 
unauthorized material. 

• Using computer resources for sending non-work-related mass mailings or chain letters, 

engaging in online chat rooms and printing multiple copies of non-work-related documents 
unless the employee reimburses SWCAP for the copies.

• Using or copying software in violation of a license agreement or copyright. 

• Use for personal business ventures. 

• Violating any state, federal, or international law. 

• Sending sensitive data via email, including attachments, to external contacts. Sensitive data 
includes social security numbers, names in conjunction with birth dates, or any other information 
in which the loss, misuse, unauthorized access to, or modification of could adversely affect the 
agency, its employees, clients, or funders. 

If you become aware of someone using electronic resources for any activity that is strictly prohibited, 
you are obligated to report the incident immediately to your supervisor. 

Violations of this policy will be taken seriously and may result in disciplinary action including possible 
termination, and civil and criminal liability. 

319. Social Media Policy 

SWCAP recognizes that social media provides unique opportunities for the agency and its employees 
to share information and participate in interactive discussions online. For purposes of this policy, 
“Social Media” includes all means of sharing or posting information or content through virtual 
communities and networks, including personal blogs and websites, social networking platforms such 
as Facebook, TikTok, Snapchat, X, YouTube or Instagram, and other interactive media technologies. 

Whether for personal or business reasons, an employee’s use of social media involves certain risks 
and requires the employee to exercise certain responsibilities. Any conduct that adversely affects the 
employee’s job performance or the performance of colleagues or others who work on behalf of or 
for SWCAP, such as contractors, suppliers, and vendors, may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination. 

To assist employees in making responsible decisions about the use of social media and to protect 
SWCAP’s programs, clients, and communication systems, SWCAP has established the following 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 35 

guidelines for the appropriate use of social media. This policy covers both an employee’s personal 
and business use of social media. 

This social media policy is not to be applied or interpreted in a manner that interferes with any 
activity protected by state or federal law, including the National Labor Relations Act. Employees 
should feel free to discuss wages, benefits, or other terms and conditions of their employment with 
each other, to form, join, or support labor unions, to bargain collectively, or to raise complaints 
about working conditions for their own and their fellow employee’s mutual aid and protection. 

Personal Use – Not Related to SWCAP Business 

An employee’s personal use of SWCAP’s computer or communications equipment, such as 
computers, tablets, cell phones or networking infrastructure, to access social media must be minimal, 
occasional, limited to non-work times, may not be at the expense of an employee’s job performance 
or interfere in any way with the business needs and operations of SWCAP, and may not impose costs 
of SWCAP. An employee may not use their SWCAP email address to register for an account on any 
social media website for personal use or for any other purpose. 

SWCAP IT resources and communication systems are the property of SWCAP, and employees should 
have no expectation of privacy whatsoever in any information or communication transmitted to, 
printed from, stored, or recorded on SWCAP’s electronic information and communication systems. 

SWCAP reminds employees that if their social media activity would violate any of SWCAP’s personnel 
policies in another form, it will also violate them online. Employee’s use of social media must be 
consistent with all other applicable SWCAP policies, including, but not limited to, SWCAP’s anti- 
harassment policy, SWCAP’s anti-discrimination policy, SWCAP’s information and confidentiality 
policies, SWCAP’s IT and communications policies, and SWCAP’s political activity policy. 

Employees should refrain from posting anything on personal social media accounts that might 
reasonably create the impression that they are communicating on behalf of SWCAP. When creating 
social media content related to SWCAP and its programs or operations, employees must be clear and 
open that their views do not represent those of SWCAP, e.g., “The views and comments stated are 
personal and do not necessarily reflect the views of my employer.” 

Employees should be honest and accurate when posting information or news on social media and 
promptly correct any mistakes. An employee should never post any information or rumors that they 
know to be false about SWCAP, clients, or people working on behalf of SWCAP. 

Employees may choose to connect with their coworkers on social media, but they are not obligated 
to do so. 

SWCAP – Related Business Use 

Some employees have job responsibilities that include posting information to SWCAP maintained 
websites or social media accounts. Individuals who do not have such job responsibilities must obtain 
written authorization from the Program Manager before posting on any SWCAP maintained website 
or social media account. 

All employees understand and agree the content, login credentials, and followers of SWCAP 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 36 

maintained website or social media accounts belong exclusively to SWCAP and employees must 
provide SWCAP with any information required to log into a SWCAP maintained website or social 
media account. 

Employees who post messages and content on SWCAP maintained websites or social media accounts 
understand that they are posting on behalf of SWCAP and must adhere to SWCAP’s professional 
standards, values, policies, and applicable laws at all times. Posted content must be current, 
accurate, and professional. If an employee makes an error, they should quickly take responsibility for 
it and correct it. Employees should understand and abide by the terms of use of any internet or social 
media platforms used for business-related purposes. They should be mindful of the intellectual 
property rights of others and may not infringe on the copyright or trademark of another individual 
using a SWCAP maintained website or social media account. For example, employees may not repost 
copyrighted material, including text, images, or videos, without the written authorization of the 
copyright owner. 

When posting for authorized, business-related purposes, employees may not post, share, or express 
a viewpoint on another’s post, such as by “liking’ a Facebook post, regarding anything that SWCAP, 
its employees, clients, funding sources, or partners would find offensive, including racial or ethnic 
slurs, sexist comments, discriminatory comments, profanity, abusive language, or obscenity. Further, 
employees may not post or express any information that is defamatory, libelous, threatening, 
harassing, or intimidating to another person or entity. Examples of such conduct might include 
offensive posts meant to intentionally harm someone’s reputation or posts that could contribute to a 
hostile work environment based on race, sex, disability, religion, or any other status protected by law 
or SWCAP policy. Individual employees may be held personally liable for such remarks. 

When posting for authorized, business-related purposes, employees should refer to SWCAP’s 
political activity policy to ensure that they do not engage in prohibited political campaign 
intervention. Additionally, any posts related to public policy should be reviewed in advance by the 
Executive Director. If you are unsure or have any questions about whether specific content would fall 
into this category, please contact the Executive Director. 

Before posting any content soliciting charitable donations, employees should consult with the 
Executive Director to ensure that such activity will not violate state charitable solicitation laws. 

Employment References 

Requests for employment recommendations on social media websites from former employees of 
SWCAP should be treated like any other employment reference. If a current SWCAP employee is 
contacted by a former SWCAP employee for a reference or “endorsement” on LinkedIn or any other 
social media platform, the current SWCAP employee should refer the former SWCAP employee to 
the Human Resources Director. The former SWCAP employee must submit a reference release before 
the current SWCAP employee may provide the reference. 

General Implementation of Policy 

Employees who violate this policy are subject to discipline, up to and including dismissal or legal 
action. SWCAP prohibits taking negative action against any employee for reporting a possible 
deviation from this policy or for cooperating in an investigation. Any employee who retaliates against 
another employee for reporting a possible deviation from this policy or for cooperating in an 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 37 

investigation will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

320. Confidentiality 

Our clients, donors, employees and funders entrust SWCAP employees with important information 
relating to their personal lives and/or businesses. It is SWCAP’s policy that all information considered 
confidential will not be disclosed to external parties without a signed Release of Information 
document or to employees without a reason to know. All confidential materials must be disposed of 
properly to ensure confidentiality is maintained at all times. If there is a question whether certain 
information is considered confidential, the employee should first check with their supervisor. This 
policy is intended to alert employees to the need for discretion always and is not intended to inhibit 
normal business communications. 

321. Whistleblower 

SWCAP requires employees to observe high standards of business and personal ethics in the conduct
of their duties and responsibilities. Employees must practice honesty and integrity in fulfilling their 
responsibilities and comply with all applicable laws and regulations. Each employee has an obligation 
to report, in accordance with the Whistleblower policy, any questionable or improper violations or 
suspected violations of laws, regulations, or the SWCAP policies and procedures. 

A whistleblower as defined by this policy is an employee of SWCAP who reports an activity they 
consider to be illegal, unethical, dishonest, or in violation of SWCAP policies and procedures. The 
whistleblower is not responsible for investigating the activity or for determining fault or corrective 
measures. Appropriate management officials are charged with these responsibilities. 

Examples of reportable activities include, but are not limited to, violations of federal, state, or local 
laws, violations of the SWCAP policies or procedures, violations of grant or funding requirements, 
billing for services not performed or for goods not delivered and/or other fraudulent activities.

Whistleblower protections are provided in two important areas – confidentiality and retaliation. To
the extent possible, the confidentiality of the whistleblower will be maintained. SWCAP will not 
retaliate against a whistleblower, however, the right of a whistleblower for protection against
retaliation does not include immunity for any personal wrongdoing committed by the whistleblower. 

All reports of illegal, unethical, and dishonest activities will be promptly investigated. If the allegation 
is found to have merit, the discipline policies and procedures will be followed. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 38 

SECTION 400 COMPENSATION 

401. Wages and Salaries 

The agency will maintain a wage and salary program, which objectively classifies a job and sets rates
of compensation. 

402. Wage and Benefit Classification & Comparability 

Wage classification will be assessed at the time of a position creation or reclassification. A wage and 
benefit comparability study will be completed approximately every two years.

403. Minimum Wage 

At least the State or Federal minimum wage will be paid to all employees, whichever is higher. 

404. Salary Ranges and Schedules 

Starting salaries will be determined for each job description, then reviewed by the Personnel 
Committee, and then reviewed by the Board of Directors. 

405. Changes in Compensation 

Salary increases/decreases will be given under the conditions outlined in the classification and salary 
plan. 

406. Compensation for Hours in Addition to Schedule 

The nature of the services offered by the agency requires that employees sometimes work flexible 
hours to meet the needs of the agency and its constituents. Any non-exempt employee who works
hours in excess of that employee’s regular schedule must have the advance written or electronic 
approval of their immediate supervisor. Non-exempt personnel whose positions require holiday or 
overtime work are entitled to compensation for those hours in the form of overtime pay. Employees 
may not volunteer hours that are part of their regular job duties. 

407. Overtime 

Overtime pay is subject to all applicable provisions of state and federal wage and hour laws for non- 
exempt employees. Overtime must be approved by your supervisor in advance and should be 
included on the time sheet in your total hours worked. Working unauthorized overtime hours may
lead to corrective action, up to and including termination. In the case of emergency situations, busy
periods, and/or unanticipated needs, employees may be required to work overtime at the discretion 
of the department director. 

408. Language Differential Pay 

We are committed to ensuring good communication between employees and individuals who 
depend on our services. We are also committed to supporting staff in the development and use of 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 39 

abilities that increase their ability to communicate with the communities we serve. We are fulfilling 
this commitment through a language differential pay policy which aims to recognize and compensate 
employees for their language skills that are essential to the organization’s operations in a fair and 
equitable manner. 

408.1 Eligibility 

Employees eligible for language differential pay must meet one or more of the following criteria: 
1. Proficiency in a language other than the primary language of the agency. 
2. Regularly required to use language skills in the performance of their job duties, as defined in the 

job description. 
3. Assigned to positions where bilingual or multilingual abilities are identified as a critical 

component of job performance. 

408.2 Criteria for Language Differential Pay 

1. Proficiency Assessment: Employees must undergo a language proficiency assessment managed 
by the HR department and provided by an accredited language assessment provider. Proficiency
levels will be determined based on standardized criteria.

2. Job Requirement: The job description must cite a consistent need to use language skills as part of 
their job responsibilities. 

3. Criticality of Language Skills: The agency will evaluate the importance of language skills based on 
the impact on operations, customer interactions or internal communication. 

408.3 Pay Differential 

Employees who meet eligibility and criteria requirements will receive the pay differential as a flat 
rate added to their hourly rate in accordance with the established guidelines. 

408.4 Review Process 

Language proficiency policies, including pay differential, will be periodically reassessed to ensure 
accuracy and relevance to job duties. 

408.5 Documentation Requirements 

Employees must provide documentation or evidence of their language proficiency, such as test 
scores or certifications to be paid the language differential. 

408.6 Occasional Application of Language Differential 

Employees who possess language proficiency that is not a requirement of their job may occasionally 
be assigned work that relies upon their language skills. In these situations, the language differential 
will be added to the employee’s hourly rate for the applicable assigned hours. 

409. CDL Driver Differential Pay 

Employees who are required to possess a commercial driver’s license (CDL) and may be required to 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 40 

operate equipment/vehicles requiring CDL may be eligible to receive CDL Driver Differential Pay. 

409.1 Eligibility 

Employees eligible for CDL Driver differential pay must meet one or more of the following criteria: 
1. Hold a valid and current CDL with all necessary endorsements, as required by the program or by

SWCAP. 
2. Regularly required to use the CDL in the performance of their job duties, as defined in the job 

description. 
3. Assigned to a position where having a CDL is identified as a critical component of job 

performance. 

409.2 Pay Differential 

Employees who meet eligibility and criteria requirements will receive the pay differential as a flat 
rate added to their hourly rate, in accordance with the established guidelines. 

409.3 Review Process 

CDL requirement policies, including pay differential, will be reviewed periodically to ensure its 
effectiveness and relevance. 

409.4 Documentation Requirements 

Employees must provide documentation or evidence of valid and current CDL possession. 

409.5 Occasional Application of CDL Differential 

Employees who possess a CDL that is not a requirement of their job may occasionally be assigned 
work that requires upon the possession of a CDL. In these situations, the CDL differential will be 
added to the employee’s hourly rate for the applicable assigned hours. 

410. Pay Arrangements 

410.1 Payroll Period 

Payroll periods are bi-weekly unless otherwise required by law and are adjusted as needed to comply
with the Davis Bacon Act. The workweek begins at 12:01 AM Sunday morning and ends at 12:00
midnight on Saturday. 

410.2 Pay Day 

Payroll will be direct deposited into the employee’s bank account and payroll stubs will be available 
electronically by the pay date. If a holiday falls on Friday, payroll checks will be deposited the last
working day following the end of the payroll period. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
1 

410.3 Payroll Deductions 

Deductions from paychecks will include: 

a. Mandatory: federal and state taxes, social security, child support orders, garnishments. 
b. Voluntary (upon written authorization of employee): Health insurance, payroll savings, etc. 

411. Reimbursement for Job Related Expenses 

411.1 Mileage 

The purpose of mileage reimbursement is to compensate employees for actual, necessary work- 
related travel expenses over and above the employee’s normal personal expense to get to and from
work. Transportation to and from work is the responsibility of the employee in all work variations 
including hybrid. Home to work mileage is not reimbursable. When it is more efficient for a trip to
start or end at the employee’s home, mileage shall be measured to/from the home or to/from the 
workstation. The agency will reimburse employees at the federal reimbursement rate, or at the rate 
indicated by the funder. Within 60 days of published effective dates, allowable reimbursement levels 
will be amended and announced to staff. The agency will also reimburse employees for parking fees 
incidental to official agency business away from the usual worksite. Employees will use agency- 
owned vehicles whenever practical. 

411.2 Meals and Lodging 

While on official agency business, within the continental United States, approved by the employee’s
supervisor, actual, necessary, and reasonable expenses for employees will be reimbursed. Specific 
reimbursement guidelines will be made available to all employees by the immediate supervisor. 

411.3 Registration Fees 

Registration fees will be paid for employees who attend seminars, classes, meetings, conferences, 
training sessions, and other such functions with prior approval and at the request of the agency. 

411.4 Professional Organization Membership 

a. The agency is committed to supporting staff’s voluntary participation in professional 
organizations. While any such participation is not required for any employment position, the 
agency may help defray the cost of professional organization memberships in the following ways: 

b. The agency may pay up to $300 per employee per year for dues in a recognized group 

appropriate to the employee’s position or to the agency’s mission. Memberships above the listed 
amount may be approved by a Senior Director, at the Senior Director’s discretion.

c. Active participation in the group is expected such as attendance at meetings and 

participation in group activities that may further employee’s professional development. 

d. The request for dues payment must be approved annually when the dues are due. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
2 

Requests for payment must be approved by the appropriate supervisor and based on funding 
availability. 

e. The agency will not cover the cost of mileage, time, or other associated costs. 

f. Time away from work will need supervisory approval. 

411.5 Other Expenses 

Expenses not previously mentioned but essential to job performance which are incurred by an 
employee with the prior approval of the Senior Director will be paid by the agency within the 
framework of the budget. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
3 

SECTION 500 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

501. Eligibility 

Employee benefits are available to employees based on their employment status. 

• Regular Full Time and Regular Part Time employees will accrue vacation and sick time benefits 
based upon a percentage of paid hours, per Section 502.

• Regular Full-Time employees will be eligible for all insurance benefits. 

• Regular Part Time employees will not be eligible for medical insurance, but will be eligible for all 
other insurance benefits. 

• Limited Term employees are not eligible for employee benefits. 

• As-scheduled employees are eligible for 4 hours of fixed leave if they work in the week of an agency
observed fixed leave day. not eligible for employee benefits. 

502. Vacation

502.1 General Terms 
Vacation leave begins accruing on the date of hire and can be taken at any time subject to the 
approval of the employee’s immediate supervisor.

502.2 Accrual 

Vacation is accrued at the following rate as described in 501: 

• 5% of paid hours up to the 7280-hour base from 0 through 4 years of service 

• 7.5% of paid hours up to the 7280-hour base from 5 through 9 years of service 

• 10% of paid hours up to the 7280-hour base at 10+ years of service and thereafter. 

• Vacation is cumulative to a maximum of 208 hours. 

• Accrual will be adjusted for non-standard work schedules. 

502.3 Use 

Vacations are scheduled in consultation with the supervisor in relation to job responsibilities and are 
approved by the immediate supervisor. Vacation cannot be used until it has been accrued. Earned 
vacation may be taken during orientation. Every effort will be made to schedule vacations at the time 
desired by the employee. Paid vacations are in addition to fixed leave days, which may fall within a 
vacation period. Vacation is cumulative to a maximum of 208 hours. A request for the scheduling of 
vacation should be made as many days in advance as the number of days requested. If an employee 
is mistakenly paid for unearned vacation time, that employee will have that number of hours 
deducted from their next check. 

502.4 Termination, Retirement, or Disability 

Vacation may not be scheduled during the employee’s period of notice. A supervisor may decline 
prescheduled vacation time that takes place in an employee’s period of notice. Employees who 
separate from the organization in good standing, retire, or become disabled are eligible to be paid for 
accrued vacation hours. Employees in the initial orientation period as defined in Section 302 will not 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.58", Right:  0.4", Space

Before:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
4 

be paid accumulated vacation hours upon separation. 

503 

504 

Sick Leave 

503.1 General Terms 

Sick leave begins accruing on the date of hire and can be taken at any time subject to the approval of 
the employee’s immediate supervisor. 

503.2 Accrual 

Sick leave is accrued by eligible employees as defined in 501 at the rate of 5% of paid hours up to the 
7280-hour base. Sick leave is cumulative to a maximum of 480 hours. Accrual will be adjusted for 
non- standard work schedules. 

503.3 Use 

Sick Leave that is used due to illness may include employee illness, attending to ill family members, 
medical and dental appointments, employee physical, financial, spiritual, cultural and mental 
wellness, or other related reasons deemed justifiable by the immediate supervisor. Pre-scheduled 
sick time must be pre-approved by the supervisor. 

Employees using leave time for themselves, or family members may be allowed up to three days sick 
leave time at one time, after which they will be required to provide certification from a health care 
provider. 

An employee who is taking sick leave must notify the immediate supervisor as close to the beginning 
of the regular work time as possible. Failure to do so is cause for disciplinary action. Sick leave 
taken must be recorded according to established procedures. A physician’s statement must be 
submitted in the absence of three days or less when the immediate supervisor requests one. The 
agency will pay that portion of the cost of obtaining said statement which is not covered by 
insurance. 

503.4 Termination, Retirement 

The number of sick leave hours used in one day shall not exceed the number of hours the employee 
normally works per day. Employees will not be compensated for unused accumulated sick leave at 
termination. If any employee is mistakenly paid for unearned sick time, that employee will have that 
number of hours deducted from their next check. 

Fixed Leave 

504.1 Fixed Leave Days 

The following paid leave days will be granted: 

• New Year’s Day 

• 4th of July 

• Memorial Day 

• Thanksgiving Day 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
5 

• Christmas Day 

504.2 Use 

Additional paid company fixed leave days may be observed upon board of director’s approval. 

• Full-time Regular and Full Time Limited term employees as defined in 301.2 will receive 
either eight or nine hours of fixed leave pay for “Days,” depending on assigned work 
hours in 303.2. 

• Part-time Regular and Part Time Limited term employees as defined in 301.2 will receive 
four hours of fixed leave pay for “Days.” 

• As-Scheduled EEs and Part Time Non-Eligible EEs are not eligible. 

504.3 Adjusted Fixed Leave Days 

When a fixed leave day falls on a Sunday, it will be observed on the following Monday. When a 
fixed leave day falls on a Saturday, it will be observed on the preceding Friday. 

505 Floating Leave 

505.1 General Terms 

Floating leave is given in addition to the above-listed fixed leave days to allow Full-Time Regular 
and Part-Time Regular employees to observe events of their choosing upon approval of the 
supervisor. Floating leave is issued at the start of each calendar year.  Programs may require staff 
to utilize floating leave for specific days the program will be closed.  These days may be 
determined at the discretion of the program and change from year to year.   

505.2 Accrual 

Accrual of floating leave is based on SWCAP’s standard Full Time 36-hour workweek and is pro- 
rated for part time and non-standard work schedules. 

a. Full-time regular employees scheduled for a standard 36-hour work week will receive 

90 hours of floating leave. 

b. Full-Time regular employees scheduled to work a non-standard work week will 

receive pro-rated floating leave. 

c.b. Part-time regular employees will receive 40 hours of floating leave days. 

d.c. New full-time regular employees and part-time regular employees will be issued 

floating leave hours at a prorated amount based on their start date. 

a. If the start date falls into the first quarter (January through March) 

a. Full-Time regular employees hired for a standard 36-hour work week 

will receive 90 hours. Pro-rated for non-standard work schedules. 

b. Part-time regular employees will receive 40 hours of floating leave days. 

b. If the start date falls into the second quarter (April through June). 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
6 

a. Full-Time regular employees hired for a standard 36-hour work week

will receive 67.5 hours or 7.5 workdays. Pro-rated for non-standard 

work schedules. 

b. Part-time regular employees will receive 30 hours of floating leave days. 

c. If the start date falls into the third quarter (July through September). 

a. Full-Time regular employees hired for a standard 36-hour work week 

will receive 45 hours or 5 workdays. Pro-rated for non-standard work 

schedules. 

b. Part-time regular employees will receive 20 hours of floating leave days. 

d. If the start date falls into the fourth quarter (October through December). 

a. Full-Time regular employees hired for a standard 36-hour work week

will receive 22.5 hours or 2.5 workdays. Pro-rated for non-standard 

work schedules. 

b. Part-time regular employees will receive 10 hours of floating leave days. 

505.3 Use 

Floating leave days are scheduled in consultation with the supervisor in relation to job 
responsibilities and are approved by the immediate supervisor. Every effort will be made to 
schedule floating leave at the time desired by the employee. A request for the scheduling of 
floating leave time should be completed at least as many days in advance as the number of days 
requested. Program managers may request floating leave days be scheduled by a specific time 
frame to lower the risk of scheduling conflicts. Extra pay in lieu of days off will not be granted. 
Employees will not be compensated for unused accumulated floating leave days at termination, 
regardless of the circumstances, whether voluntary or involuntary. If an employee is mistakenly 
paid for unearned time, that employee will have that number of hours deducted from their next 
check. Floating leave must be used within that calendar year and hours are not carried over year 
to year. 

506 Special Religious Observances 

In addition, the employee’s supervisor, on special occasions and consistent with religious 
practices, may excuse an employee from work with pay for a special religious observance. 

507 Bereavement Leave 

In the event of the death of a family member, an employee may take up to five days leave with 
pay after notifying the supervisor for preparation and attendance of funeral services. If 
additional time is needed, the request will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. Vacation or sick 
leave may be used retroactively for these additional days. 
Periods which exceed this time must be requested under the Family Medical Leave Act or may 
be extended by additional vacation or sick leave. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
7 

In the event of the death of a client, an employee may attend services on work time. One day of 
sick leave may be used if the employee needs additional time for their mental health. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
8 

508 Hazardous Weather 

In the event of severe weather, a decision to close the agency will be made by the Executive 
Director or a Senior Director. The decision to close an individual program, department, or work 
site, may be made by the program manager. 

In the event of an emergency closure, or temporary reduction in staffing due to an emergency, 
as declared by the Executive Director or by a Senior Director, employees may telecommute. If 
the employee does not have the ability to telecommute or flex their schedule, the employee’s 
immediate supervisor (with notice to the appropriate Senior Director) may approve the use of 
Hazardous Weather pay. Lost time may be made up within the same week taken, taken without 
pay, or taken as vacation at the option of the employee subject to the approval of the 
employee’s immediate supervisor. 

509 Family Medical Leave 

All employees who have been employed by SWCAP for at least 12 months and have worked at 
least 1,000 hours during the previous 12 months are entitled to 12 weeks of unpaid Family 
Medical leave during a 12-month calendar period for qualified events. This leave may be taken 
for the birth of a child, to care for the newborn child, for the employee’s own serious health 
condition, to care for the employee’s child, spouse, domestic partner, parent, or parent of a 
domestic partner with a serious health condition, for the placement of a child for adoption or 
foster are with the employee, and to care for the newly placed child, as well as for any qualifying 
exigency arising out of the face that the spouse, or a child, or parent of the employee is on 
active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed 
Forces in support of a contingency operation. Employees are entitled to 26 weeks of unpaid 
leave during a 12-month period to care for a spouse, child, parent, or next of kin who are a 
member of the Armed Forces who has a serious injury or illness. During a single 12-month 
period an eligible employee shall be entitled to a combined total of 26 weeks of Family and 
Medical leave. 

An employee is required to inform their supervisor 30 calendar days in advance of the need to 
take Family Medical Leave, or to give as much notice as feasible if the leave is unanticipated. 
Complete the Family Medical Leave Act – Employee Request form to request this leave. 

Employees may choose to request accrued paid leave to be paid for some or all the Family 
Medical Leave taken for any of the situations covered by the Family Medical Leave Act. If an 
employee takes paid time off simultaneously with Family Medical Leave, these paid days shall 
run concurrently with the Family Medical Leave. 

Under certain circumstances, employees may take Family Medical Leave intermittently, which 
means taking leave in blocks of time, or by reducing the normal weekly or daily work schedule as 
follows: 
a. Family Medical Leave for the birth and care of placement for adoption or foster care of a 

child, use of intermittent leave is subject to the company’s approval. 
b. Family Medical Leave may be taken intermittently whenever medically necessary to care for 

a seriously ill family member, or because of the employee’s serious health condition. 
Employees needing intermittent/reduced schedule leave for foreseeable medical treatment 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
9 

must work with the company to schedule the leave so as not to unduly disrupt the 
company’s operations. 

A “serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental 
condition that involves: 
a. Any period of incapacity or treatment connected with inpatient care in a hospital, hospice,

or residential medical care facility; or 
b. A period of incapacity requiring absence of more than three calendar days from work,

school, or other regular daily activities that also involves continuing treatment by or under 
the supervision of a health care provider; or 

c. Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy, or for prenatal care; or 
d. For any period of incapacity for treatment due to a chronic serious health condition; or 
e. A period of incapacity that is permanent or long term due to a condition for which 

treatment may not be effective; or 
f. Absences to receive multiple treatments including any period of recovery, or on referral by, 

a health care provider for a condition that likely would result in incapacity of more than 
three consecutive days if left untreated. 

The agency may require employees to provide medical certification supporting the need for 
leave due to a serious health condition affecting the employee or an immediate family member, 
a second or third medical opinion (at the employer’s expense) and periodic recertification, and 
periodic reports during Family Medical Leave regarding the employee’s status and intent to 
return to work. 

The agency is required to maintain group health insurance coverage, including family coverage, 
for an employee on Family Medical Leave under the same terms as if the employee continued to 
work. Arrangements will be made for employees to pay their share of the health insurance 
premiums while taking unpaid Family Medical Leave. 

Upon return from Family Medical Leave, an employee will be restored to their original job, or to 
an equivalent job with the same rate of pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of 
employment. 

510 Military Leave 

Military leave will be granted pursuant to Federal and State laws. The agency will pay the 
difference between agency pay (where agency pay is greater) and military pay for up to 15 days 
of mandatory annual active duty per year but not for extended duty of either voluntary or 
mandatory nature. 

511 Unpaid Personal Leave 

A leave of absence without pay for reasons other than those described elsewhere in this 
handbook may be granted at the discretion of the Executive Director providing that satisfactory 
arrangements can be made for the employee’s responsibilities to be covered during the leave 
period. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 4
10 

512 Court Appearance 

Eligible employees who are subpoenaed for court appearances related to agency business or for 
jury duty will be given the necessary leave of absence with full pay less any fee paid for the 
service. Wages allowed the employee will be calculated by the number of hours the employee 
normally works per day. 

Employees who are subpoenaed for a court appearance or summoned for jury duty must inform 
their supervisor as soon as they receive the notice so that work schedules may be adjusted, as 
necessary. SWCAP may require employees to present a copy of the subpoena or jury summons 
mandating an employee’s presence at court for their personnel file. 

513 Education Leave 

The agency, in order to maintain the quality of its programs, will provide its employees with 
opportunities to attend institutes, seminars, and conferences, which are job-related. Such leave 
is subject to the advance approval of the immediate supervisor, and the necessity for 
maintaining the agency’s services to the community. In recognition of a professional 
responsibility to contribute leadership in special areas of competence (i.e. releasing personnel 
to teach courses, lead institutes, and conduct surveys outside the agency), the Executive 
Director may grant leaves for specific periods of time, normally not to exceed two weeks in any 
one year, with pay and without deduction from any honorarium received by the staff member 
involved. An extended educational leave for study related to the job, of up to three months 
without pay, may be granted to an eligible employee after completion of two years of 
continuous employment. Such leave is subject to the advance approval of the Executive 
Director. 

514 Insurance 

Below is a brief description of agency benefits. For a more detailed description of these benefits, 
refer to actual plan documents. The agency reserves the right to amend or terminate any 
benefit at any time, or to increase employee premium contributions toward any benefit. In any 
insurance where there is a contradiction or inconsistency in language between this handbook 
and the plan document, the plan document will control. The agency allows employees entitled 
to benefits to participate, at the employees own expense, in group insurance for dental, vision, 
CI, ACC, HI and FSA. 

514.1 Health Insurance 

Eligible employees may elect to participate in the health insurance plans offered by SWCAP. 
Employees who do not apply within 30 days of the start date may have to provide evidence of 
insurability and will need to wait until open enrollment to enroll. If the employee elects to 
participate, the agency will pay a portion of the premium for the employee’s selected tier. 

514.2 Short Term Disability 

All eligible employees may elect to enroll in SWCAP’s short term disability coverage, with the 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 50  

agency paying the full cost of insurance coverage. 

 
514.3 Long Term Disability 

 
All eligible employees will be enrolled in SWCAP’s long-term disability coverage, with the agency 
paying the full cost of insurance coverage. 

 
514.4 Life Insurance 

All eligible employees may obtain term life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment 
coverage through SWCAP’s plan, in the value of $25,000, with the agency paying the full cost of 
insurance coverage. Employees may purchase voluntary coverage on themselves, legal spouse, 
and children at the employee’s expense. 

 
514.5 Social Security 

 
All employees are covered by the Federal Social Security Act and its amendments, according to 
the provisions thereof. 

 
514.6 Workers Compensation 

All agency employees are covered by Workers Compensation insurance, which provides for the 
payment of medical and hospital bills and for treatment, permanent, partial, or total disability 
and health benefits should an employee be injured while on duty or contract a disease directly 
traceable to employment. The amount of benefits is determined by the Wisconsin Department 
of Workforce Development. All injuries must be immediately reported to the supervisor and 
Human Resources to insure prompt filings of benefit claims. SWCAP reserves the right to provide 
reasonable accommodation for an injured employee in another department or position. If an 
employee is unable to work because of an on-the-job injury, they have the choice of using sick 
leave and vacation time or claiming loss of earning benefits under the Workers Compensation 
benefits and if the claim is later denied, absence can be charged to sick leave or vacation credits 
with the permission of the Executive Director. 

 
514.7 Employee Assistance Program 

 
To assist employees and their families with personal or emotional programs, which may affect 
job performance, SWCAP will offer an Employee Assistance Program. This benefit is available to 
employees and family members. Costs incurred through initial Employee Assistance Program 
referral and assessment will be covered by SWCAP. Costs incurred through subsequent referral 
and/or treatment are the responsibility of the employee. 

 
515 Career Development Plan 

 
All employees who have completed their period of orientation may participate in a Career 
Development Plan. 

 
All employees are encouraged to further their training and education. Employees wishing to 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 51 

pursue educational objectives on agency time and/or receive payment for certain educational 
costs above and beyond current job training must file a Career Development Plan. The 
employee’s supervisor, program manager, or Senior Director will assist the employee. 

Employees may be allowed up to 80 hours per calendar year of paid release time and, up to an 
additional three months of time without pay after two years of employment. This time is for 
purposes of travel to and from, attendance at, or preparation for classes. This paid release time 
does not have to occur during normal working hours and will be granted at the discretion of the 
employee’s immediate supervisor and Senior Director after consideration of workload. This paid 
time should not increase the total scheduled hours to be paid. The paid release time spent 
working on an approved Career Development Plan must be documented in the employee’s 
personnel file. 

Employees may be reimbursed for tuition/registration and material costs, up to $800 per 
calendar year based on funding availability, upon proof of successful completion of the course(s) 
and documentation of costs. Only the portions of a Career Development Plan that relate to 
SWCAP employment possibilities are eligible for reimbursement. Employees who leave SWCAP 
within two years after receiving educational reimbursement will be required to repay the 
reimbursement. 

516 Lactation Accommodation 

516.1 Support of Breastfeeding Employees 
SWCAP provides a supportive environment to enable breastfeeding employees to express their 
milk during work hours. SWCAP expects that all employees assist in providing a positive 
atmosphere of support for breastfeeding employees. 

516.2 Communication 
Supervisors will support and help facilitate each employee’s infant feeding goals. Employees 
that wish to express milk during work time are to keep supervisors informed of their needs so 
that appropriate accommodations can be made to satisfy the needs of both the employee and 
SWCAP. 

516.3 Milk Expression Breaks 
Any employee who is breastfeeding will be allowed flexibility within their workday to express 
milk for the nursing child. The employee and their immediate supervisor will agree on the 
changes to the work schedule. Employees may use break time, flex their time, or use sick time if 
needed to cover time away from work duties. Agency refrigerators may be used to store the 
expressed milk. 

516.4 Location 
SWCAP provides a place that is shielded from view and free from intrusion by coworkers and the 
public, which may be used by an employee to express breast milk. 

516.5 Resources 
The SWCAP-WIC Program Breastfeeding Coordinator may be contacted for assistance by either 
supervisors or employees regarding topics such as helping the employee create a plan for 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 52 

returning to work, selection of a breast pump, locating a place to express milk, managing break 
time, and general breastfeeding support. 

517 Employee Support and Reasonable Accommodation 

Any qualified employee may request an employee support measure, also known as reasonable 
accommodation, to assist them to perform the essential functions of their job. SWCAP will 
attempt to accommodate a reasonable request that is not unduly costly, extensive, substantial 
or disruptive, or does not fundamentally alter the nature or operation of the program. 

The employee is the primary person consulted when determining accommodation. Both the 
employee and the supervisor will work with Human Resources/CRCO to arrive at an 
accommodation that best meets the needs of both the employee and the organization. 

An employee cannot be denied an accommodation request without the Executive Director’s 
concurrence and consultation with Human Resources/CRCO. If an employee acquires a disability 
and the organization is unable to make a reasonable accommodation which will allow the 
individual to continue in the current position, SWCAP will explore the possibility for placement 
in other positions within the organization. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 53 

SECTION 600 JOB REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE 

601 Purpose 

Performance evaluation is a process designed to improve the employee’s understanding of their 
job and the standards for work, to encourage development and to acknowledge performance 
that exceeds standards. 

602 Frequency and Format 

Each employee’s individual job performance will be reviewed and evaluated by the immediate 
supervisor by the end of the sixth and twelfth month of employment in any new position and at 
least annually thereafter. 

The employee will participate in the evaluation and will have an opportunity to respond in 
writing to comment on their performance. A copy of the performance evaluation and any 
employee response will be kept in the employee’s personnel record. This policy is not intended 
to in any way limit timely ongoing feedback on employee performance. 

603 Review of Evaluation 

Each evaluation will be reviewed by the Senior Director and/or Executive Director of the 
evaluator. 

604 Appeal of Unsatisfactory Evaluation 

Any employee dissatisfied with their evaluation may respond through written communication 
submitted to the Human Resources Director. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 54 

SECTION 700 DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES 

701 Policy 

SWCAP’s performance management and discipline policy is designed to provide corrective 
action options to improve and prevent a reoccurrence of undesirable behavior. It has been 
designed consistent with SWCAP’s core values, human resource best practices, and employment 
laws. 

SWCAP reserves the right to combine or skip steps to provide options for addressing discipline, 
depending on the facts of each situation and/or the nature of an offense. The level of 
disciplinary intervention may also vary. Some factors that may be considered are whether the 
offense, if repeated despite coaching, counseling, or training, the employee’s work record, and 
the impact the conduct and performance issues have on the agency. It is a supervisor’s 
responsibility to coach, discipline, and document within a reasonable amount of time from the 
violation. The Human Resources Director should be consulted to assist the supervisor in any 
disciplinary process. All documentation will be forwarded to the Human Resources Director 
upon completion. 

Behavior that is suspected to be illegal may be reported to local law enforcement authorities. 
Employees suspected of illegal activity will be suspended without pay pending an investigation 
and if the employee’s activities are found to be illegal, the employee will be terminated. 

Other performance and conduct issues may not be subject to discipline and may be grounds for 
immediate termination. Examples include but are not limited to theft, substance use, 
intoxication, fighting, and other acts of violence at work, or other actions that impact the 
agency’s reputation negatively. 

Employees will be provided copies of all discipline documentation. The employee will be asked 
to confirm or sign a copy of the documentation attesting to their receipt and understanding of 
the corrective action outlined in these documents. Copies of these documents will be placed in 
the employee’s official personnel file. 

The relationship between SWCAP and its employees is employment at will. Nothing in these 
personnel policies or in any section of this handbook provides any contractual rights to the 
employee. 

702 Disciplinary Actions 

a. Documented Coaching 
An employee whose performance, conduct, behavior, or attendance is unsatisfactory may
participate in a documented coaching with their supervisor and Human Resources. 
Expectations shall be clearly described and steps the employee may take to improve 
performance or resolve the problem. 

The employee may submit written comments regarding the coaching within ten working 
days of the coaching. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 55 

b. Documented Verbal Reprimand 
An employee whose performance, conduct, behavior, or attendance is unsatisfactory may
receive a verbal reprimand from their supervisor and Human Resources. A written notice 
indicating the employee received a verbal reprimand will be placed in the employee’s 
personnel file. Expectations shall be clearly described and steps the employee may take to 
improve performance. 

The employee may submit written comments regarding the reprimand within ten working 
days of the reprimand. 

c. Written Reprimand 
An employee whose performance, conduct, behavior, or attendance is or continues to be 
unsatisfactory may receive a reprimand in writing with their supervisor and Human 
Resources. Expectations shall be clearly described and steps the employee may take to
improve performance. 

The employee may submit written comments regarding the reprimand within ten working 
days of the reprimand. 

d. Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) 
If performance has not improved with coaching, the employee may be issued a formal 
performance improvement plan requiring the employee’s immediate and sustained 
corrective action. The PIP will be issued within five business days of a written reprimand and 
may include language that the employee may be subject to additional discipline up to and 
including termination if immediate and sustained corrective action is not taken. 

e. Suspension 
An employee whose performance, conduct, behavior, or safety is unsatisfactory may be 
subject to immediate suspension with the direction of Human Resources and Senior 
Management. Suspensions recommended as part of the normal progression of this 
progressive discipline policy are subject to approval from senior management and Human 
Resources. 

Depending on the seriousness of the infraction, and whether an investigation may occur, the 
employee may be suspended with or without pay consistent with federal, state, and local 
wage and hour employment laws. Non-exempt employees may not substitute or use paid 
time off in lieu of the unpaid suspension. Due to Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) compliance 
issues, unpaid suspension of exempt employees should be reserved for serious workplace 
safety or conduct issues and may only be in full day increments. Pay may be restored to the 
employee if an investigation of the incident or infraction absolves the employee. 

f. Final Written Reprimand 
An employee whose performance, conduct, behavior, or attendance is or continues to be 
unsatisfactory may receive a final reprimand in writing with their supervisor and Human 
Resources. Expectations shall be clearly described and steps the employee may take to
improve performance. 

The employee may submit written comments regarding the reprimand within ten working 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 56 

days of the reprimand. 

g. Termination 
SWCAP is an at-will employer, which means that during employment with the agency, 
employees are free to terminate their employment at any time, with or without a reason 
and with or without notice. Correspondingly, the agency has the right to terminate
employees at any time, with or without a reason and with or without notice. Although 
SWCAP may choose to terminate an employee for cause, cause is not required.

SWCAP will try to exercise the progressive nature of this policy by first providing warnings, a 
final written warning, or suspension from the workplace before proceeding to a 
recommendation to terminate employment. However, SWCAP reserves the right to combine 
and skip steps depending on the circumstances of each situation, offense, or job 
performance. Furthermore, employees may be terminated without prior notice or 
disciplinary action. 

A supervisor’s recommendation to terminate employment must be approved by the Human 
Resources Director and a Senior Director. 

703 Termination by Agency 

a. Termination of Executive Director 
Dismissal of the Executive Director because of unsatisfactory work performance may be 
based on cumulative written performance evaluations and a review of all factors related to
the Executive Director’s performance. The dismissal process shall be initiated by the Chair 
of the Board of Directors after full consultation with those who participate in the Executive 
Director’s performance review and evaluation. The Board Chair and the Executive Director 
will agree upon a satisfactory period for improvement in performance. If at the end of this 
designated period, the Board Chair and others who participate in the performance review 
and evaluation still consider the Executive Director’s performance to be unsatisfactory, the 
Executive Director should be informed by the Board Chair. The Executive Director can 
request a hearing by a committee of the chairpersons of the Planning, Personnel, Finance, 
and Executive Committees. This hearing must occur prior to the date of termination. The 
Executive Director should be given an opportunity to resign, or a notice of at least one 
month or payment in lieu of notice, in addition to any unused earned vacation, with 
additional notice at the discretion of the chairpersons. The Executive Committee
Chairperson reports the dismissal or resignation to the Board of Directors. 

If in the judgment of the Executive Committee of the Board, the conduct of the Executive 
Director is such as to bring discredit upon the agency, or in any way jeopardizes its position 
in the community, the Executive Director is advised by the Board Chair and given an 
opportunity to resign. In such cases, immediate termination of employment may be 
advisable; payment in lieu of notice and for other earned benefits is at the discretion of the 
Executive Committee. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 57 

704 Separation by Employee 

Employees intending to resign from the agency are requested to give advance notice in writing 
to their immediate supervisor according to the following schedule: 
a. Executive Director – three months 
b. Exempt Staff – one month 
c. Non-exempt Staff – two weeks 

Accrued vacation days are not to be included in the period of notice. Terminating employees 
will complete a termination package containing information relevant to the position, including 
reason for termination and authorized return of agency tools and/or supplies. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 58 

SECTION 800 COMPLAINTS 

801 External Complaints 

If a client has a complaint, SWCAP staff requests the client fill out a “Client Complaint/Comment 
Form.” This process helps the consumer clearly state the complaint and what actions the 
consumer desires for a successful resolution of the complaint. Staff attempt to resolve issues as 
promptly as possible and at the lowest possible level. The senior management team must be 
informed of any complaints and updated regularly on the progress. If a complaint cannot be 
resolved at any of the staff levels, the Executive Committee of the Board holds a review and 
renders a final decision. Staff will also inform complainants of other avenues open to them. 

802 Anonymous Complaints 

The board of directors assigns little value to anonymous complaints and the board will not 
discuss anonymous complaints at board meetings. If any member of the Board of Directors 
receives an anonymous complaint about the agency, its programs, or staff, the complaint shall 
be immediately shared with senior management and the Board Chairperson. Senior 
management shall investigate the complaint and provide a written response to all Board 
members in a timely manner. Board members can contact senior management at any time for 
an explanation or discussion. Staff receiving an anonymous complaint are asked to share it with 
senior management. 

803 Other Complaints 

Complaints that are not anonymous and are received by Board members shall be referred to 
senior management. Senior management shall (i) investigate each complaint and (ii) report 
back to the board member(s) and employee(s) involved, detailing any follow-up steps taken to 
resolve the complaint. 

804 Staff Complaints 

It is inappropriate for SWCAP staff to complain directly to members of the board of directors. 
Board members who receive staff complaints shall refer SWCAP staff to acceptable avenues 
available for voicing a complaint as defined in this handbook. SWCAP employees who feel 
existing avenues for voicing complaints are not sufficient or adequate may contact Human 
Resources for additional guidance. 



SWCAP Personnel Policies 59 

SECTION 900 AMENDMENTS 

This handbook and the personnel policies contained herein supersede and rescind all previous 
personnel policies. 

901 Annual Review 

These policies are to be reviewed on an annual basis to determine what amendments, if any, are 
necessary. 

902 Periodic Amendments 

While the general policy is that these personnel policies will annually be reviewed and amended 
as necessary, specific issues needing immediate attention may arise during the year. To address 
such issues that may arise because of mandated changes in laws or funding source regulations 
or significant changes in needs or direction, the Board of Directors will act on recommended 
changes brought to it by the Personnel Committee. 



Page 1 of 2 

Patient Benefit Specialist 

Department Health & Wellness Reports to NHP Program Director 
Primary work location Platteville Work Schedule 4 days/week 
Job Grade 3 

Position Classification Pay Plan 
Remote Work 
Status 

☒ Eligible
☐ Not Eligible

Classification ☒ Full-Time (36 hrs/wk)
☐ Part-Time
☐ Limited Term

Social Media Responsibility ☐ Yes
☒ No

FLSA Status ☐ Exempt
☒ Non-Exempt

Personnel Committee 
Approval 

01.22.2026 Review Date 

Summary Description: 
The Patient Benefit Specialist serves as a key liaison between patients, healthcare providers, and insurance carriers to 
ensure accurate benefit verification, authorization, and financial guidance.  This role is responsible for reviewing 
insurance coverage, explaining benefits and financial responsibilities to patients, and supporting timely reimbursement 
while maintaining compliance with regulatory and organizational standards.  The Patient Benefit Specialist plays a critical 
role in enhancing the patient experience by reducing financial barriers to care and promoting clear, compassionate 
communication.  

Essential Duties and Responsibilities: 
The below list is intended as key examples of job duties.  The list is not to be taken as defining all possible duties.  Other 
duties may be assigned. 

• Maintain accurate knowledge of CPT, ICD-10, HCSPCS coding and is responsible for keeping up to date on
Forward Health updates.

• Review enrollment criteria for WI FPOS (and Iowa?) for each family planning patient.  Assist qualified patients
with signing up for Family Planning Only Services or other Medicaid eligible programs.

• Prepare good faith estimates for all uninsured and private insurance patients prior to their scheduled visit.
• Review documents for billable encounters and procedure to ensure requirements met to bill as required by

insurance.  Prepare insurance and Medicaid superbills for reimbursement and submits in a timely manner.  Ensure
billing is accurate and complete.  Track payments and posts reimbursements in the billing record.

• Collect patient fees, provide receipts, and maintain patient account records, including payment requests as
necessary.

• Send out monthly patient balance statements for those with balance due and on payment plan.  Follow procedure
for sending unpaid bills to collections.

• Process all receivables from the clinic revenue from NHP bank account and process weekly accounting to move
to SWCAP.

• Counsel patients on payment plan options to help recoup payments owed.
• Balance NHP bank account and submit to finance team.  Submit monthly NHP financial reports to finance team

including all claims billed and balances paid.
• Actively participates in staff meetings and committees as needed.
• Attend conferences, training, and workshops related to the position.
• Adhere to confidentiality standards set forth by HIPAA.
• Understand, appreciate, and interact with people from all cultures or belief systems.



Page 2 of 2 

Supervisory Responsibilities: 
None. 

Qualified Requirements: To perform this job successfully, an individual must be able to perform each essential duty 
satisfactorily.  The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skills, and/or abilities required.  
Reasonable accommodation may be made to ensure individuals with disabilities perform the essential functions. 

Education and/or Experience: 
• Minimum of high school diploma or equivalent. At least one-year previous work experience in a professional

office setting.
• Certification in Medical Billing preferred
• CPR/Basic Life Support Certification
• 2 step TB skin test or QuantiFERON Gold within 6 months of hire date
• Proof of Hepatitis B vaccination or signed declination form within 2 weeks of hire date
• Proof of CPR certification or enrollment in class within 2 months of hire

Required Licenses or Certifications: 
Access to reliable, licensed, insured driver and transportation. 

Other Skills and Abilities: 
• Telephone and computer skills.
• Ability to add, subtract, multiply and divide in all units of measure, using whole numbers, common
• fractions, and decimals.
• Ability to work effectively with socially and/or medically challenged clients, persons of diverse
• education, income, culture, and age.
• Ability to read and comprehend instruction of moderate complexity, write correspondence, and
• memos, and effectively communicate information one-on-one and in small groups.
• Ability to understand and carry out instructions furnished in written, oral or diagram form.
• Ability to work through problems involving concrete variables in standardized situations.

Work Environment and Physical Requirements: 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by employees to successfully perform 
the essential functions of this class. Reasonable accommodation may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to 
perform the essential functions.  

The employee frequently is required to walk and sit.  The employee must frequently lift and/or move up to 10 pounds and 
occasionally lift and/or move up to 25 pounds.  Specific vision abilities required by this job include close vision, and the 
ability to adjust focus.  

The work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an employee encounters while performing 
the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodation may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to 
perform the essential functions.  While performing the duties of this job, the employee will work in an office setting.  The 
noise level in the work environment is usually moderate due to computer printers, telephones, and other office equipment.  

The above statements are intended to describe the general nature and minimum level of work being performed. These 
statements are not intended to be construed as exhaustive of all duties, responsibilities, and skills required for this position. The 
employee will be required to perform any other job-related duties as required by the job objectives, the leadership and mission 
and core values of SWCAP. This description does not modify any employees at will status and is not a contract for continued 
employment of any duration. 





SWCAP Head Start  
Policy Council Minutes  

November 18, 2025 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Ekedahl called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. Roll was taken by Kitelinger. A quorum 
was present. 
 
PRESENT: Andrews, Ekedahl, Aide, Achenbach, Robledo, Weber-Enloe, May 
 
EXCUSED: Andrews 
 
ABSENT: Nichols, Green 
  
PRESENT BUT NOT YET SEATED: None 
 
SEATING/RESEATING OF REPRESENTATIVES: A motion was made by Aide, seconded by May, to 
reseat Amanda Andrews as the Darlington Head Start representative. Motion Carried.  
 
A motion was made by Aide, seconded by Achenbach, to reseat Jessica Weber-Enloe as a Community 
Representative. Motion Carried. 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL: Aide moved to approve the agenda; Achenbach seconded. Motion carried. 
 
MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER MEETING: Robledo moved to approve the October 21, 2025 Policy 
Council minutes; Aide seconded. Motion carried. 
 
FINANCE REPORTS: Representatives received copies of the finance reports. Shemak reviewed the October 
and November reports for all grants, including Head Start, Early Head Start, Expansion/Child Care Partners, 
State, and Family Foundations, covering inkind and training expenses where applicable.  
 
A motion was made by Robledo, seconded by Andrews, to approve the September Finance Report. Motion 
passed. 
A motion was made by Achenbach, seconded by May, to approve the October Finance Report. Motion carried. 
 
USDA REPORTS: Hardyman reviewed the figures from the October USDA claim. Achenbach moved to 
approve the claim; Weber-Enloe seconded. Motion carried.  
 
CREDIT CARD EXPENDITURES: Representatives received the September credit card statement and 
summary. Shemak reviewed charges which included grocery cards for Recipe for Success implementation, 
Recipes for Success Training, classroom supplies, and CPR and CDA training and materials.  
 
Weber-Enloe moved to approve the Credit Card Report; Achenbach seconded. Motion carried. 
 
AUDIT RESULTS: Hardyman reviewed the findings along with SWCAP’s corrective action plan. Robledo 
moved to approve the audit results; Weber-Enloe seconded. The motion carried. 
 
SWCAP PERSONNEL POLICY UPDATES: Hardyman reviewed updates to the personnel policies, 
including the 36-hour work week, Fixed Leave, and Floating Leave. Weber-Enloe moved to approve the 
Personnel Policy Updates; Achenbach seconded. The motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PROGRAM EVALUATION RESULTS: Representatives were provided the detailed survey results along 
with the Family Outcomes Narrative Report. Hardyman explained the summary reflects the opinions and 
experiences of parents/guardians who participated in Head Start and Early Head Start during the 2024–2025 
school year and how much their families benefited from the services they received. The information was 
gathered from questionnaires completed by families in the spring of 2025. Achenbach moved to accept the 
results; May seconded. The motion carried. 
 
PERSONNEL ACTIONS: None 
 
INSURANCE BENEFIT CONTINUANCE PROCEDURE: Hardyman reported the procedure addresses 
SWCAP’s ability to cover the employee portion of health, dental, and vision insurance for staff placed on 
furlough due to the government shutdown. Approval was obtained from our funding source to repurpose a 
portion of our State dollars to cover this expense for November. If the furlough extends into December, SWCAP 
may use contingency funds to continue covering insurance costs. May commented this was a commendable 
effort to retain staff during this uncertain time. Aide motioned to approve the procedure as presented; May 
seconded. Motion carried. 
 
CRITERIA OF SELECTION: Hardyman presented the 2026-2027 criteria. Changes include spelling out 
acronyms to provide clarity and updating dates. Robledo motioned to table the Criteria of Selection; Achenbach 
seconded. Motion carried. 
 
RECRUITMENT (ERSEA) PLAN: Hardyman reviewed updates to the plan and noted that recruitment days 
will continue, with adjustments as needed, to make them more successful. We will also focus on raising 
awareness among community partners so local organizations are familiar with the program and more likely to 
make referrals. Achenbach moved to approve the Recruitment Plan; Robledo seconded. The motion carried. 
 
COMPONENT UPDATES: Hardyman reported on current enrollment and attendance and provided updates on 
health and dental screenings. She noted the minutes from the October 15, 2025 Health and Mental Health 
Advisory Committee were included in this month’s Policy Council mailing. 
 
INFORMATION MEMORANDUMS/PROGRAM INSTRUCTIONS: None 

  
SWCAP BOARD MEETING REPORT: Hardyman reported the board was made aware of the Head Start 
furlough and members actively worked on finding ways to support both families and staff. 
 
ELECT HEAD START STATE ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE and ALTERNATE: May moved to 
nominate Richard Achenbach; Aide seconded. There were no further nominations. May moved to close 
nominations and cast a unanimous ballot for Achenbach; Andrews seconded. All motions passed. Richard 
Achenback was elected Head Start State Association Representative.  
 
Achenbach moved to nominate Amanda Andrews as the Alternate; Weber-Enloe seconded. There were no 
further nominations. Achenbach moved to close nominations and cast a unanimous ballot for Andrews; Weber-
Enloe seconded. All motions passed. Amanda Andrews was elected Head Start State Association Alternate.  
 
ELECT EARLY HEAD START STATE ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE: Weber-Enloe moved to 
nominate Clarisa Aide; Achenbach seconded. There were no further nominations. May moved to close 
nominations and cast a unanimous ballot for Aide; Achenbach seconded. All motions passed. Clarisa Aide was 
elected Early Head Start State Association Representative. 
 
ELECT EHS EXPANSION/CHILD CARE PARTNERS (CCP) STATE ASSOCIATION 
REPRESENTATIVE: No Expansion/CCP Representatives were in attendance, so an election could not be 
held.  
 
OTHER REPORTS/BUSINESS: None 

 
ADJOURNMENT: Achenbach moved to adjourn; Weber-Enloe seconded. Motion carried. Meeting adjourned 
at 7:10. 



SWCAP Head Start  
Policy Council Minutes  

December 16, 2025 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Ekedahl called the meeting to order at 5:34 p.m. Roll was taken by Kitelinger. A quorum 
was present. 
 
PRESENT: Andrews, Ekedahl, Aide (joined after roll), Smith, Robledo, Weber-Enloe, May 
 
EXCUSED: Achenbach 
 
ABSENT: Green 
  
PRESENT BUT NOT YET SEATED: None 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL: May moved to approve the agenda; Smith seconded. Motion carried. 
 
SEATING/RESEATING OF REPRESENTATIVES: A motion was made by May, seconded by Robledo, to 
seat Haleigh Smith as the Boscobel EHS Home Based Parent Representative. Motion carried.  
 
MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER MEETING: Weber-Enloe moved to approve the November 18, 2025, 
Policy Council minutes; May seconded. Motion carried. 
 
FINANCE REPORTS: Representatives received copies of the finance reports. Shemak reviewed the 
November reports for all grants, including Head Start, Early Head Start, Expansion/Child Care Partners, State, 
and Family Foundations, covering inkind and training expenses where applicable. She noted reduced 
expenditures for Head Start and Early Head Start Home Based due to the furlough. Shemak reported the Notice 
of Award was received shortly after Thanksgiving. Managers, Family Advocates, and the Professional 
Development Specialist were recalled on 12/2/25. Home Visitors, Teachers, and Classroom Assistants were 
recalled on 12/3/25 and classes resumed on 12/8/25. 
 
A motion was made by May, seconded by Robledo, to approve the November Finance Report. Motion passed. 
 
USDA REPORTS: Shemak reviewed the figures from the November USDA claim and noted it only reflects 
EHS Center-Based as Head Start classes were not in session due to the furlough. Weber-Enloe moved to 
approve the claim; Andrews seconded. Motion carried.  
 
CREDIT CARD EXPENDITURES: Representatives received the November credit card statement and 
summary. Shemak reviewed charges which included Child Care Partner supplies, CDA renewal, education 
supplies, office supplies, Padlet subscriptions, and meals for the all-staff training.  
 
Robledo moved to approve the Credit Card Report; Weber-Enloe seconded. Motion carried. 
 
PERSONNEL ACTIONS: None 
 
  



ENROLLMENT REDUCTION REQUEST: Hardyman explained the program has struggled to maintain full 
enrollment and has determined that an enrollment reduction request is necessary. The proposal would reduce 
Head Start Preschool enrollment from 145 to 103 children.  
 
The request asks that funding remains the same to allow for staff wage increases and to support efforts to hire 
bus drivers. It also proposes reducing classroom sizes to 15 children, except for Dodgeville, which has a 
licensed capacity of 13. Additionally, one classroom in Richland Center and one in Boscobel would be 
eliminated. 
 
Robledo motioned to approve the Enrollment Reduction Request, and Andrews seconded the motion. Motion 
passed. 
 
REVIEW STRATEGIC PLAN FROM CURRENT YEAR: Hardyman stated reviewing the strategic plan is 
no longer required. When the timelines are reviewed and updated in June, she will recommend removing it. No 
council action was needed. 
 
SELF-ASSESSMENT INTRODUCTION AND SET UP: Hardyman explained the purpose of the Self-
Assessment. Representatives selected which of the three teams—Fiscal and Transportation, Health and Family 
Services, or Education and Special Services—they would participate in. Hardyman noted the goal is to complete 
the Self-Assessment by February, as the results must be included with the next grant application which is due in 
May. 
 
CHILD OUTCOMES ANALYSIS:  Hertrampf reported that due to the furlough, data needed to compile an 
analysis is not yet available. May motioned to table the Child Outcomes Analysis to January; Robledo seconded. 
Motion passed.  
 
ELIGIBILITY TRAINING – ERSEA: Hardyman reviewed our written procedure for determining, 
documenting, and verifying eligibility, outlining the required steps and verifications. 
 
COMPONENT UPDATES: Representatives had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the information 
provided in the Health, Enrollment, and Attendance reports they received. 
 
INFORMATION MEMORANDUMS/PROGRAM INSTRUCTIONS: None 

  
SWCAP BOARD MEETING REPORT: Hardyman and Aide reported that, in addition to the standard Head 
Start items (finance, USDA, and credit card expenditures), the board approved the insurance continuation policy 
and the retention policy, which were presented at the November Policy Council meeting. 
 
OTHER REPORTS/BUSINESS:  

• NOTICE OF AWARD (NOA): Hardyman reported that, as previously mentioned, the NOA was 
received in late November and noted that this marks the start of a new five-year project period. 

 
• HEAD START HEALTH AND SAFETY SCREENER: The screeners must be completed within 75 

days of the start of the program. Screeners have been completed for all sites and, once the required 
signatures are obtained, they will be submitted. 

 
• HEAD START GOVERNANCE, LEADERSHIP, AND OVERSIGHT CAPACITY SCREENER: 

The screener has been reviewed with SWCAP management, and areas to strengthen have been 
identified. 

 
ADJOURNMENT: Robledo moved to adjourn; Andrews seconded. Motion carried. Meeting adjourned at 6:45. 



SWCAP Head Start  
Policy Council Minutes  

January 20, 2026 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Ekedahl called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. Roll was taken by Shemak A quorum 
was present. 
 
PRESENT: Andrews, Ekedahl, Aide, Achenbach, Green (joined after roll), Robledo, Weber-Enloe (joined after 
roll), May 
 
EXCUSED: None 
 
ABSENT: Clary 
  
PRESENT BUT NOT YET SEATED: Jamey Clarke 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL: Aide moved to approve the agenda; Robledo seconded. Motion carried. 
 
SEATING/RESEATING OF REPRESENTATIVES: A motion was made by May, seconded by Achenbach, 
to seat Jamey Clarke as the Dodgeville Head Start Parent Representative. Motion carried.  
 
MINUTES OF THE DECEMBER MEETING: Achenbach moved to approve the December 16, 2025, Policy 
Council minutes; May seconded. Motion carried. 
 
FINANCE REPORTS: Representatives received copies of the finance reports. Shemak reviewed the December 
reports for all grants, including Head Start, Early Head Start, Expansion/Child Care Partners, State, and Family 
Foundations, covering inkind and training expenses where applicable. She noted reduced inkind for Head Start 
due to the furlough.  
 
A motion was made by Aide, seconded by Achenbach, to approve the December Finance Report. Motion 
passed. 
 
USDA REPORTS: Shemak reviewed the figures from the December USDA claim Weber-Enloe moved to 
approve the claim; May seconded. Motion carried.  
 
CREDIT CARD EXPENDITURES: Representatives received the December credit card statement and 
summary. Shemak reviewed charges which included Child Care Partner supplies, FFHV Flex Fund purchases, 
supplies, and meal for the all-staff meeting.  
 
Achenbach moved to approve the Credit Card Report; Robledo seconded. Motion carried. 
 
PERSONNEL ACTIONS: Hardyman relayed the hiring of three new staff, who began orientation last week. 
They are Trixie Spitzbardt hired as the Muscoda Head Start Classroom Assistant, Natasha Schneider hired as the 
Lancaster EHS Home Visitor, and Emily Bomkamp hired as Boscobel Infant Toddler Classroom Teacher.  
 
A motion was made by May, seconded by Achenbach, to approve the hiring of Spitzbardt, Schneider, and 
Bomkamp. Motion carried.   
 
CHILD OUTCOMES ANALYSIS: Hertrampf shared the Child Outcomes Analysis. She explained how the 
data used is gathered, criteria for assessing children, and how teachers are prepared to assess children.  Fifty-
nine Early Head Start – Home Based, forty-five Early Head Start – Center Based, and one hundred twelve Head 
Start children were assessed in the analysis.  
  



COMPONENT UPDATES: Representatives had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the information 
provided in the Health, Enrollment, and Attendance reports they received.  Spears noted enrollment in Head 
Start declined due to the furlough.  
 
INFORMATION MEMORANDUMS/PROGRAM INSTRUCTIONS: None 

  
SWCAP BOARD MEETING REPORT: None. No meeting has been held since the December 16th Policy 
Council meeting. 
 
OTHER REPORTS/BUSINESS: Hardyman shared she will be reaching out to those elected to attend the 
Wisconsin Head Start Conference, held February 23-25th, to begin the registration process.  
 
ADJOURNMENT: Achenbach moved to adjourn; Weber Enloe seconded. Motion carried. Meeting adjourned 
at 6:52. 







1/9/2026 2301 - Average Daily Attendance Page 1 of 1

10:21 AM Program Term: Head Start 2025-26 | SWCAP Head Start: Boscobel, Boscobel HS - 3 Day, Boscobel HS - 4 Day, Darlington,
Darlington HS, Dodgeville • All Classrooms, Lancaster, Lancaster HS, Muscoda, Muscoda HS, Platteville, Platteville HS,
Richland Center, Richland Center HS 1, Richland Center HS 2 | Report Dates: 12/01/2025 - 12/31/2025 | Enrollment

Status: Enrolled | Flag/Group: Not Filtered | Program Option: All | Responsible Staff: All | Custom Filter: Not Filtered |
Report Type: Summary

j.spears

Operating
Days ADA 1

Funded Enrollment

Count % Attendance3

Actual Enrollment

2
Count % AttendancePresent Absent Neither

Attendance Records

5 6 7

Boscobel 118 13 0 6.50 (avg) 17.28 32 56.73% 19.00 90.08%

Darlington 9 11 0 4.00 (avg) 2.25 16 14.06% 5.00 45.00%

Dodgeville 91 44 0 9.00 (avg) 10.11 15 67.41% 15.00 67.41%

Lancaster 45 15 0 5.00 (avg) 9.00 16 56.25% 12.00 75.00%

Muscoda 100 16 0 9.00 (avg) 11.11 16 69.44% 12.89 86.21%

Platteville 83 25 0 9.00 (avg) 9.22 16 57.64% 12.00 76.85%

Richland Center 81 24 3 4.00 (avg) 20.25 34 59.56% 26.25 77.14%

Report Totals 527 148 3 6.33 (avg) 79.22 145 57.85% 102.14 78.07%

1.  ADA for each clasroom is the sum of statuses selected to count as 'Present' on the setup screen divided by the Operating Days for that classroom.

2.  Actual Enrollment Count for each classroom is the sum of the Present and Absent columns divided by the Operating Days

3.  Percent Attendance is the Present count divided by the sum of Present and Absent Count

4. Site totals for ADA, Funded Enrollment Count, and Actual Enrollment count are the sum of that count for each of the site's classrooms.

5. Statuses counted as Present: Present(P), Best Interest Day(B), Present Offsite(PO), Tardy(T), Left Early(LE), Tardy and Left Early(TLE), Virtual(V), Late Pickup
(LP), Tardy and Late Pickup(TLP)

6. Statuses counted as Absent: Absent(A), Excused(E), Unexcused(U)

7. Statuses counted as Neither: No Class (-), Not Scheduled (N),  ()

© 2026 ChildPlus by Procare Solutions. All rights reserved.



Jody Kitelinger
Stamp

Jody Kitelinger
Stamp

Jody Kitelinger
Stamp



12/8/2025 SWCAP Head Start Page 1 of 1
10:18 AM t.hardyman

2001 - Management Report - Enrollment
Program Term: Early Head Start 2025-26, EXP-CCP 2025-26, Head Start 2025-26, Enrollment Status: Enrolled  Enrolled: 11/1/2025 - 11/30/2025,   Current Location and Status

Enrollment Status

Yr To 
Date

Cur. 
Enrl*

Dropp
ed*

Wait 
List

Drop/
Wait*

Drop/
Acpt*

Ac-
ceptNew Cmp*

Income Eligible**

Elig 0-
100%

101-
130%

Over 
Income

Home-
less

Pub 
Asst.Foster

Medicaid**

Pote
nƟalYes No

Primary 
Health 

Coverage*†

Code Count

Other Health 
Coverage*

Code Count

TANF*

For
merYes No

ParƟcipaƟon 
Year*

Year Count

Disability*

Diag-
nosed 
Prior

Diag-
nosed 
During

Conc
ern

Early Head Start 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 74

74 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
100% 0% 0% 0%

7 0 0 2 632
9% 0% 3%0% 3% 85%

4 0 0 (Blank)
C
P

64
9
1

74(Blank) 2 0 72 37
31
5
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs

8 4 0

EXP-CCP 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 52

43 43 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
100% 0% 0% 0%

7 0 2 1 330
16% 5% 2%0% 0% 77%

0 0 0 (Blank)
C

38
5

43(Blank) 0 0 43 17
22
4

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs

3 4 0

Head Start 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 145

109 109 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
100% 0% 0% 0%

17 1 4 2 823
16% 4% 2%1% 3% 75%

0 0 0 -
(Blank)

C
P

1
101

6
1

109(Blank) 5 1 103 55
48
2
3
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

7 12 1

SWCAP Head Start - Totals Funded Enrollment: 145

226 226 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
100% 0% 0% 0%

31 1 6 5 1785
14% 3% 2%0% 2% 79%

4 0 0 1
203
20
2

-
(Blank)

C
P

226(Blank) 7 1 218 1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

109
101
11
4
1

18 20 1

Grand Report - Totals Funded Enrollment: 271

226 226 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
100% 0% 0% 0%

31 1 6 5 5 178
14% 2%0% 3% 2% 79%

4 0 0 1
203
20
2

-
(Blank)

C
P

226(Blank) 7 1 218 109
101
11
4
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

18 20 1

* Totals for this secƟon count only Completed, Enrolled, Dropped, and Drop/Wait parƟcipants
** Percentages are calculated by dividing the count by the YTD enrollment, which only includes Completed, Enrolled, Dropped, and Drop/Wait parƟcipants
†Calculated using the At End of Enrollment field

© 2025 ChildPlus by Procare Solutions. All rights reserved.



1/9/2026 2001 - Management Report - Enrollment Page 1 of 1

10:05 AM Program Term: EXP-CCP 2025-26: Early Head Start 2025-26: Head Start 2025-26 | SWCAP Head Start: Boscobel • All Classrooms, Darlington • All Classrooms, Dodgeville • All
Classrooms, Iowa-Grant • All Classrooms, Lancaster • All Classrooms, Muscoda • All Classrooms, Platteville • All Classrooms, Richland Center • All Classrooms, Snug As A Bug •

All Classrooms | Enrollment Date: All | Enrollment Status: Enrolled | Flag/Group: Not Filtered | Program Option: All | Responsible Staff: All | Custom...

j.spears

Enrollment Status

Yr To
Date

Cur.
Enrl*

Drop
ped*

Wait
List

Drop/
Wait*

Drop/
Acpt*

Ac-
ceptNew Cmp*

Income Eligible**

Elig 0-
100%

101-
130%

Over
Income

Home-
less

Pub
Asst.Foster

Medicaid**

Pote
ntialYes No

Primary
Health

Coverage*†

Code Count

Other Health
Coverage*

Code Count

TANF*

For
merYes No

Participation
Year*

Year Count

Disability*

Diag-
nosed
Prior

Diag-
nosed
During

Conc
ern

Early Head Start 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 74

74 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

7 0 0 2 632

9% 0% 3%0% 3% 85%

4 0 0 (Blank)
C
P

64
9
1

74(Blank) 2 0 72 37
31
5
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs

7 4 0

EXP-CCP 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 52

42 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

6 0 2 1 330

14% 5% 2%0% 0% 79%

0 0 0 (Blank)
C

37
5

42(Blank) 0 0 42 18
20
4

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs

3 3 0

Head Start 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 145

106 106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

16 1 4 2 812

15% 4% 2%1% 2% 76%

0 0 0 (Blank)
C
P

99
6
1

106(Blank) 5 1 100 52
48
2
3
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

5 13 1

SWCAP Head Start - Totals Funded Enrollment: 145

222 222 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

29 1 6 5 1774

13% 3% 2%0% 2% 80%

4 0 0 200
20
2

(Blank)
C
P

222(Blank) 7 1 214 1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

107
99
11
4
1

15 20 1

Grand Report - Totals Funded Enrollment: 271

222 222 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

29 1 6 5 4 177

13% 2%0% 3% 2% 80%

4 0 0 200
20
2

(Blank)
C
P

222(Blank) 7 1 214 107
99
11
4
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

15 20 1

* Totals for this section count only Completed, Enrolled, Dropped, and Drop/Wait participants
** Percentages are calculated by dividing the count by the YTD enrollment, which only includes Completed, Enrolled, Dropped, and Drop/Wait participants
†Calculated using the At End of Enrollment field

© 2026 ChildPlus by Procare Solutions. All rights reserved.



2/3/2026 2001 - Management Report - Enrollment Page 1 of 1

2:47 PM Program Term: EXP-CCP 2025-26: Early Head Start 2025-26: Head Start 2025-26 | SWCAP Head Start: Boscobel • All Classrooms, Darlington • All Classrooms, Dodgeville • All
Classrooms, Iowa-Grant • All Classrooms, Lancaster • All Classrooms, Muscoda • All Classrooms, Platteville • All Classrooms, Richland Center • All Classrooms, Snug As A Bug •

All Classrooms | Enrollment Date: All | Enrollment Status: Enrolled | Flag/Group: Not Filtered | Program Option: All | Responsible Staff: All | Custom...

j.spears

Enrollment Status

Yr To
Date

Cur.
Enrl*

Drop
ped*

Wait
List

Drop/
Wait*

Drop/
Acpt*

Ac-
ceptNew Cmp*

Income Eligible**

Elig 0-
100%

101-
130%

Over
Income

Home-
less

Pub
Asst.Foster

Medicaid**

Pote
ntialYes No

Primary
Health

Coverage*†

Code Count

Other Health
Coverage*

Code Count

TANF*

For
merYes No

Participation
Year*

Year Count

Disability*

Diag-
nosed
Prior

Diag-
nosed
During

Conc
ern

Early Head Start 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 74

74 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

7 0 0 1 633

9% 0% 1%0% 4% 85%

3 0 0 (Blank)
C

64
10

74(Blank) 2 0 72 38
30
5
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs

7 3 0

EXP-CCP 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 52

42 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

5 0 1 1 350

12% 2% 2%0% 0% 83%

0 0 0 (Blank)
C

37
5

42(Blank) 0 0 42 19
19
4

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs

3 3 0

Head Start 2025-26 Funded Enrollment: 145

105 105 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

15 1 4 2 812

14% 4% 2%1% 2% 77%

0 0 0 (Blank)
C
P

98
6
1

105(Blank) 5 1 99 53
46
2
3
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

5 14 1

SWCAP Head Start - Totals Funded Enrollment: 145

221 221 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

27 1 5 4 1795

12% 2% 2%0% 2% 81%

3 0 0 199
21
1

(Blank)
C
P

221(Blank) 7 1 213 1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

110
95
11
4
1

15 20 1

Grand Report - Totals Funded Enrollment: 271

221 221 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100% 0% 0% 0%

27 1 5 4 5 179

12% 2%0% 2% 2% 81%

3 0 0 199
21
1

(Blank)
C
P

221(Blank) 7 1 213 110
95
11
4
1

1 Yr
2 Yrs
3 Yrs
4 Yrs
6 Yrs

15 20 1

* Totals for this section count only Completed, Enrolled, Dropped, and Drop/Wait participants
** Percentages are calculated by dividing the count by the YTD enrollment, which only includes Completed, Enrolled, Dropped, and Drop/Wait participants
†Calculated using the At End of Enrollment field

© 2026 ChildPlus by Procare Solutions. All rights reserved.

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight



Health Entry-Based Requirements

SWCAP Head Start - - Preschool Classrooms 

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 19

lnco,,,,plete: O

Dodgeville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12

Incomplete: 2 

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 14

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
12/04/2025 · 1 :36 PM 

Darlington - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 7

Incomplete: 1

Lancaster - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12

Incomplete: 1 

Platteville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 15

Incomplete: 2 

Richland Center - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 28 

Incomplete: 2 



Health Entry-Based Requirements  

SWCAP Head Start - - Preschool Classrooms 

Boscobel - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 19 

lnco,,,,plete: O

Dodgeville - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9 

Incomplete: 5 

Muscoda - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12 

Incomplete: 3

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
12/04/2025 · 1 :39 PM 

Darlington - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 4 

Incomplete: 4 

Lancaster - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Incomplete: 4 

Platteville - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12 

Incomplete: 5 

Richland Center - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 20

Incomplete: 10



Health Entry-Based Requirements  

SWCAP Early Head Start - - Infant/Toddler Classrooms 

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 6 

Incomplete: 3 

Richland Center - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 7 

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
12/04/2025 · 1 :38 PM 

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9 

lncorole•e: O 

Snug As A Bug - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 21 

Incomplete: 2 



Health Entry-Based Requirements  

SWCAP Early Head Start  - - Home Based

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 7 

Incomplete: 2 

Lancaster - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 5 

Incomplete: 1 

Platteville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 10 

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
12/04/2025 · 1 :37 PM 

Iowa-Grant - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9 

Incomplete: 3 

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 11 

Incomplete: 2 

Richland Center - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12

Incomplete: 1 



Head Start Health Entry-Based Requirements 

Boscobel 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
01/08/2026 • 11 :14 AM 

Boscobel HS - 3 Day - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

1 
Boscobel HS - 4 Day - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

Danington 

Oodgevil!e 

Lancaster 

■ Completed: 8 

Darlington HS - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 5 

(ncomp!ete: 1 

Dodgeville HS - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

II Completed: 13 

lnC001piete: 2 

Lancaster HS - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 12 

■ Completed: 11 



Head Start Health Entry-Based Requirements 

Muscoda 

Platteville 

Richland Center 

Muscoda HS - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 12

Incomplete: 1 

Platteville HS - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 11

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
01/08/2026• 11:14AM 

Richland Center HS 1 - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

Richland Center HS 2 - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 15 

C .. ,, ➔ r, 

■ Completed: 13

Incomplete: 1 



EHS Center Based Health Entry-Based Requirements 

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 6

Incomplete: 3

Richland Center - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 7

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
01/08/2026 • 11:27 AM 

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9 

Snug As A Bug - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 22 

Incomplete: 3



EHS Home Based Health Entry-Based Requirements 

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 7

Incomplete: 2

Lancaster - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 5

Incomplete: 1 

Platteville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 10

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
01/08/2026 • 11:27 AM 

Iowa-Grant - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Incomplete: 3

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 11

Incomplete: 2

Richland Center - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 12

Incomplete: 1 



EHS Home Based Health Entry-Based Requirements 

Boscobel - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 19

Dodgeville - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 14 

Incomplete: 1

Muscoda - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12 

Incomplete: 1 

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
01/08/2026 • 11:16AM 

Darlington - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 3

Incomplete: 3 

Lancaster - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Incomplete: 3

Platteville - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 10

Incomplete: 2

Richland Center - 90 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 18 

Incomplete: 11



Health Entry-Based Requirements 

SWCAP Head Start Preschool

Boscobel - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 19

Incomplete: 1

Dodgeville - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 15

Muscoda - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 17

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
02/02/2026 • 1 :13 PM 

Darlington - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 4

Incomplete: 4

Lancaster - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Incomplete: 4

Platteville - 90 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 11

Incomplete: 6

Richland Center - 90 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 22

Incomplete: 10

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight



Health Entry-Based Requirements 

SWCAP Early Head Start Infant/Toddler Classroom

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 6

Incomplete: 3

Richland Center - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 7

Incomplete: 3

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
02/02/2026 • 1 :14 PM 

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Snug As A Bug - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 23

Incomplete: 2

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight



Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Incomplete: 2

Lancaster - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 5

Incomplete: 1

Platteville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 10

Incomplete: 3

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
02/02/2026 • 1: 15 PM 

Iowa-Grant - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 9

Incomplete: 3

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 11

Incomplete: 2

Richland Center - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 12

Incomplete: 1

Health Entry-Based Requirements 

SWCAP Early Head Start Home Based

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight



Health Entry-Based Requirements 

SWCAP Head Start Preschool

Boscobel - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 20

Dodgeville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 15

Muscoda - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 15

Incomplete: 2

My Performance Panel (Current) - 2025 - 2026 
02/02/2026 • 1 :15 PM 

Darlington - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 7

Incomplete: 1

Lancaster - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 12 

Incomplete: 1

Platteville - 45 Day Health Requirements 

■ Completed: 15

Incomplete: 2

Richland Center - 45 Day Health 
Requirements 

■ Completed: 29

Incomplete: 3

Jody Kitelinger
Highlight



1/9/2026 2301 - Average Daily Attendance Page 1 of 1

10:19 AM Program Term: Early Head Start 2025-26 | SWCAP Head Start: Boscobel, EHS, Darlington, EHS, Iowa-Grant • All
Classrooms, Lancaster, EHS, Muscoda, EHS, Platteville, EHS, Richland Center, EHS | Report Dates: 12/01/2025 -

12/31/2025 | Enrollment Status: Enrolled | Flag/Group: Not Filtered | Program Option: All | Responsible Staff: All |
Custom Filter: Not Filtered | Report Type: Summary

j.spears

Operating
Days ADA 1

Funded Enrollment

Count % Attendance3

Actual Enrollment

2
Count % AttendancePresent Absent Neither

Attendance Records

5 6 7

Boscobel 25 17 150 16.00 (avg) 1.56 11 14.20% 2.62 59.52%

Darlington 35 16 125 16.00 (avg) 2.19 11 19.89% 3.19 68.63%

Iowa-Grant 9 25 44 16.00 (avg) 0.56 10 5.63% 2.12 26.47%

Lancaster 5 0 30 5.00 (avg) 1.00 10 10.00% 1.00 100.00%

Muscoda 18 9 94 11.00 (avg) 1.64 10 16.36% 2.45 66.67%

Platteville 30 11 212 23.00 (avg) 1.30 11 11.86% 1.78 73.17%

Richland Center 19 3 77 9.00 (avg) 2.11 11 19.19% 2.44 86.36%

Report Totals 141 81 732 13.71 (avg) 10.36 74 13.77% 15.60 63.51%

1.  ADA for each clasroom is the sum of statuses selected to count as 'Present' on the setup screen divided by the Operating Days for that classroom.

2.  Actual Enrollment Count for each classroom is the sum of the Present and Absent columns divided by the Operating Days

3.  Percent Attendance is the Present count divided by the sum of Present and Absent Count

4. Site totals for ADA, Funded Enrollment Count, and Actual Enrollment count are the sum of that count for each of the site's classrooms.

5. Statuses counted as Present: Present(P), Best Interest Day(B), Present Offsite(PO), Tardy(T), Left Early(LE), Tardy and Left Early(TLE), Virtual(V), Late Pickup
(LP), Tardy and Late Pickup(TLP)

6. Statuses counted as Absent: Absent(A), Excused(E), Unexcused(U)

7. Statuses counted as Neither: No Class (-), Not Scheduled (N),  ()

© 2026 ChildPlus by Procare Solutions. All rights reserved.



1/9/2026 2301 - Average Daily Attendance Page 1 of 1

10:13 AM Program Term: EXP-CCP 2025-26 | SWCAP Head Start: Boscobel, EHS Expansion 1, Muscoda, EHS Expansion, Richland
Center, EHS Expansion, Snug As A Bug • All Classrooms | Report Dates: 12/01/2025 - 12/31/2025 | Enrollment Status:
Enrolled | Flag/Group: Not Filtered | Program Option: All | Responsible Staff: All | Custom Filter: Not Filtered | Report

Type: Summary

j.spears

Operating
Days ADA 1

Funded Enrollment

Count % Attendance3

Actual Enrollment

2
Count % AttendancePresent Absent Neither

Attendance Records

5 6 7

Boscobel 121 31 0 19.00 (avg) 6.37 8 79.61% 8.00 79.61%

Muscoda 116 20 16 19.00 (avg) 6.11 8 76.32% 7.16 85.29%

Richland Center 96 12 0 18.00 (avg) 5.33 8 66.67% 6.00 88.89%

Snug As A Bug 108 10 0 11.00 (avg) 17.47 20 87.10% 18.00 91.53%

Report Totals 441 73 16 15.60 (avg) 35.28 44 77.10% 39.16 85.80%

1.  ADA for each clasroom is the sum of statuses selected to count as 'Present' on the setup screen divided by the Operating Days for that classroom.

2.  Actual Enrollment Count for each classroom is the sum of the Present and Absent columns divided by the Operating Days

3.  Percent Attendance is the Present count divided by the sum of Present and Absent Count

4. Site totals for ADA, Funded Enrollment Count, and Actual Enrollment count are the sum of that count for each of the site's classrooms.

5. Statuses counted as Present: Present(P), Best Interest Day(B), Present Offsite(PO), Tardy(T), Left Early(LE), Tardy and Left Early(TLE), Virtual(V), Late Pickup
(LP), Tardy and Late Pickup(TLP)

6. Statuses counted as Absent: Absent(A), Excused(E), Unexcused(U)

7. Statuses counted as Neither: No Class (-), Not Scheduled (N),  ()

© 2026 ChildPlus by Procare Solutions. All rights reserved.



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  1 

SWCAP Neighborhood 
Health Partners Status Report: November 

2025  

Patient’s Served: 

 Table 1.1 Month and Year-to-date visit data for Neighborhood Health Partners 

 Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov 2025 
YTD 
Total 

2024 
YTD 

TOTA
L 

2023 
YTD 
Total 

Platteville 
visits 

41 51 43 49 38 66 74 71 62 73 51 619 546 535 

Monroe 
Visits 

16 19 25 21 24 ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ 105 192 194 

Total Visits 57 70 68 70 62 66 74 71 62 73 51 724 738 729 

Show-rate 90.5
% 

90.9
% 

87.2
% 

86.4
% 

81.5
% 

94.3
% 

90.2
% 

84.5
% 

88.6
% 

90.1
% 

86.4
% 

88.2
% 

90.7
% 

N/A 

Telehealth 
Visits 

0 1 0 1 0 1 3 3 1 1 1 12 4 5 

IUD 
Insertions 

2 4 3 1 1 1 4 2 2 1 3 24 25 14 

Implant 
Insertions 

4 6 4 2 5 2 2 5 3 2 3 38 27 22 

IUD/ 
Implant 

Removals 

3 8 7 6 5 4 9 4 2 2 0 50 42 31 

Pap Tests 7 6 1 10 12 8 11 7 11 9 5 87 88 59 

Primary 
Care Visits* 

(began 
3/17/2025) 

N/A N/A 2 7 3 6 7 8 10 8 15 66 N/A N/A 

*Note: primary care visits are strictly primary care. If they are seen for reproductive health concern as well, these are entered under family planning visits. 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  2 

2025 YTD Unduplicated patients & Income Level: 344 (all visit types, 19 are primary care patients only, 11 
patients are primary and family planning) 

Income Level (unduplicated patients): 
 100% & below FPL: 129 (37.8%) 
 101-150%: 54 (15.8%) 
 151-200%: 41 (12.1%) 
 201-250%: 24 (7%) 
 >250%: 93 (27.3%) 

2025 YTD Payer Mix: 
Insurance payer source by unduplicated patient: 
 Public Health Insurance/Medicaid: 188 (54.7%) 
 Private Insurance: 24 (7%) 
 Uninsured/Out-of-pocket: 132 (38.3%) 

November 2025 
Visit 
Types/Services 

 Primary Care Visits: 15 
 Annual Exams: 7 
 Contraceptive Visits: 11 
 STI/GYN concern: 11 
 Supply pick-up/mailing: 3 
 Cancer screenings (pap only visit): 0 
 Sports Physicals: 0 
 Pregnant Test Visit (only): 1 
 Other: 2 (lab only), 1 menopause management 
 STI screening Performed 

o Chlamydia: 14 
o Gonorrhea: 14 
o HIV: 4 
o Syphilis: 5  

November 2025 
Expenses 
(as of 12/3/2025) 

 Total expenses for clinics last month: $17,008.68 (not all Nov expenses are 
in yet)  

 Year-to-Date Expenses through 12/3/25: $385,477.43 (direct costs – 
cannot get report with indirect to pull up). 

o Amount billed to Medicaid/Commercial Insurance: $174,376.55 
received to date 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  3 

o Expenses paid by grant funds: $ 172,945.50 to date ($46,000+ 
pending reimbursement yet from Title X as we are awaiting 
updated contract) 

o Expenses paid by other means: $10,486.25 in grants from 
United Way and donations 

New 
Developments 

 Our pediatric primary care practice is growing, slowly but surely. We’ve 
got 8 new pediatric patients YTD that we’ve seen for well child visits 
and/or vaccines. A total of 18 vaccinations were given thus far! As Head 
Start classrooms return, we plan to partner with Head Start for the 
Darlington classroom to reach more children who are in need of services. 

 Marketing: working with Shyanne on improving marketing to reach more 
patients to continue to grow our primary care practice. Looking at 
implementing new marketing: Instagram posts, paid social media ads 
(more frequent renewals), targeted marketing for menopause 
management, primary care and well child visits. Additionally, we are 
planning outreach/marketing with the help of our CHWs to Amish and 
Latinx communities to improve their access to healthcare services in the 
near future. 

 

 

Tiffany Allen APNP, DNP 
Office: 608-348-9766 
Email: t.allen@swcap.org 

Program Director  
SWCAP Neighborhood Health Partners 
 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  1 

SWCAP Neighborhood 
Health Partners Status Report: December 

2025  

Patient’s Served: 

  Table 1.1 Month and Year-to-date visit data for Neighborhood Health 
Partners 

 Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 2025 
YTD 
Total 

2024 
YTD 
TOT
AL 

2023 
YT
D 

Tota
l 

Platteville 
visits 

41 51 43 49 38 66 74 71 62 73 51 66 685 546 535 

Monroe 
Visits 

16 19 25 21 24 ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ 105 192 194 

Total Visits 57 70 68 70 62 66 74 71 62 73 51 66 790 738 729 

Show-rate 90.5
% 

90.9
% 

87.2
% 

86.4
% 

81.5
% 

94.3
% 

90.2
% 

84.5
% 

88.6
% 

90.1
% 

86.4
% 

92.9
% 

88.6
% 

90.7
% 

N/
A 

Telehealth 
Visits 

0 1 0 1 0 1 3 3 1 1 1 0 12 4 5 

IUD 
Insertions 

2 4 3 1 1 1 4 2 2 1 3 4 28 25 14 

Implant 
Insertions 

4 6 4 2 5 2 2 5 3 2 3 5 43 27 22 

IUD/ 
Implant 

Removals 

3 8 7 6 5 4 9 4 2 2 0 6 56 42 31 

Pap Tests 7 6 1 10 12 8 11 7 11 9 5 5 92 88 59 

Primary Care 
Visits* 

(began 
3/17/2025) 

N/A N/A 2 7 3 6 7 8 10 8 15 10 76 N/A N/A 

*Note: primary care visits are strictly primary care. If they are seen for reproductive health concern as well, these are entered under family planning visits. 

 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  2 

2025 Unduplicated patients & Income Level: 367 (335 in 2024) 
Income Level (unduplicated patients): 
 100% & below FPL: 138 (38%) – was 33% in 2024 
 101-150%: 58 (16%) 
 151-200%: 44 (12.1%) 
 201-250%: 25 (6.9%) 
 >250%: 98 (27%) 

2025 Payer Mix: 
Insurance payer source by unduplicated patient: 
 Public Health Insurance/Medicaid: 202 (55%) 
 Private Insurance: 26 (7.1%) 
 Uninsured/Out-of-pocket: 139 (37.9%) – was 35% in 2024 

December 2025 
Visit 
Types/Services 

 Primary Care Visits: 10 
 Annual Exams: 5 
 Contraceptive Visits: 23 
 STI/GYN concern: 12 
 Supply pick-up/mailing: 7 
 Cancer screenings (pap only visit): 3 
 Sports Physicals: 0 
 Pregnant Test Visit (only): 4 
 Other: 1 (breast concern); 1 lab visit 
 STI screening Performed 

o Chlamydia: 15 
o Gonorrhea: 15 
o HIV: 6 
o Syphilis: 7  

December 2025 
Expenses 
(as of 1/8/2026) 

 Total expenses for clinics last month: $32,468.88 (not all Nov expenses are 
in yet)  

 Year-to-Date Expenses through 12/31/25: $387,337 (direct costs only – 
cannot get report with indirect to pull up). 

o Amount billed to Medicaid/Commercial Insurance: $210,626.36 
received to date (some outstanding claims yet) 

o Expenses paid by grant funds: $ 172,107.08 to date ($46,000+ 
pending reimbursement yet from Title X as we are awaiting 
updated contract) 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  3 

o Expenses paid by other means: $12,011.25 in grants from 
United Way and donations 

New 
Developments/
2025 in Review 

 In 2025 we saw growth in number of unduplicated patients and total visits 
despite closing a clinic location 5/30/2025. This was driven by our Monroe 
patients still seeing us in Platteville and 76 primary care visits! 

 In 2025 we launched primary care services for the whole family. This 
included: 

o 76 primary care visits 
o 23 patients under 18 (age ranges from 1 to 17) 
o gave 21 total vaccinations to children under 19 (this was in the 

last 3 months of the year) 
o have several chronic disease patients we are now caring for all 

who’ve achieved good control of their conditions (A1C at 
goal of 7 or less, controlled blood pressure)! 

 Trends: 
o The majority of pediatric patients we’ve seen are uninsured, which 

is a trend we will continue to watch in 2026. I’m concerned by this. 
o Patients served at <100% of federal poverty line and without 

insurance continues to grow year over year. We are at a 60%/40% 
split now for insured vs uninsured patients. This has great impact on 
our sustainability as a clinic especially in the wake of federal 
funding cuts and limited funding opportunities. 

o We are seeing Influenza A cases in the area and have heard 
rumblings of COVID-19 as well. We’ve performed 4 rapid COVID-
19/FLU A/B tests in clinic in the past couple of weeks. We’re happy 
to be able to offer this service to improve access for sick care! 

 Goals for 2026: 
o Continue to grow our pediatric practice. I’d like to see 50 well 

child visits this year (means we’d add 50 new pediatric patients). 
Our intent is to work closely with SWCAP Head Start and WIC 
programs to ensure we are providing access for our families. 

o Focused outreach to our Amish and Latinx populations. These are 
prevalent populations in our community that are underserved. We 
want them to know we are here for them.  



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  4 

o Offer niche services: menopause is something that isn’t talked 
about enough and is a hot topic right now. We plan to do some 
educational content on social media to bring awareness to it and 
offer support and services for menopause symptom management 
for our community. Stay tuned! 

o Expand our practice: We spent time credentialing with Medicare 
as well as Iowa and Illinois Medicaid last year. We can offer both 
primary care and reproductive health services to these patient 
populations now which improves their access.  

 

 

Tiffany Allen APNP, DNP 
Office: 608-348-9766 
Email: t.allen@swcap.org 

Program Director  
SWCAP Neighborhood Health Partners 
 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  1 

SWCAP Neighborhood 
Health Partners Status Report: January 

2026  

Patient’s Served: 

Table 1.1 Month and Year-to-date visit data for Neighborhood Health Partners 

 Jan 2026 2026 YTD 
Total 

2025 YTD 
Total 

2024 YTD 
TOTAL 

2023 YTD 
Total 

Platteville visits 73 73 685 546 535 

Total Visits 73 73 790 738 729 

Show-rate 92.4% 92.4% 88.6% 90.7% N/A 

Telehealth Visits 0 0 12 4 5 

IUD Insertions 0 0 28 25 14 

Implant Insertions 1 1 43 27 22 

IUD/ 
Implant Removals 

4 4 56 42 31 

Pap Tests 3 3 92 88 59 

Primary Care 
Visits* 

15 15 76 N/A N/A 

*Note: primary care visits are strictly primary care. If they are seen for reproductive health concern as well, these are entered under family planning visits. 

 
2026 Unduplicated patients & Income Level: 53 (367 in 2025, 335 in 2024) 

Income Level (unduplicated patients): 
 100% & below FPL: 24 (46.1%) 
 101-150%: 9 (17.3%) 
 151-200%: 4 (7.7%) 
 201-250%: 3 (5.8%) 
 >250%: 12 (23.1%) 

2026 Payer Mix: 
Insurance payer source by unduplicated patient: 
 Public Health Insurance/Medicaid: 21 (39.7%) 
 Private Insurance: 5 (9.4%) 
 Uninsured/Out-of-pocket: 27 (50.9%) 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  2 

January 2026 
Visit 
Types/Services 

 Primary Care Visits: 15 
 Annual Exams: 6 
 Contraceptive Visits: 19 
 STI/GYN concern: 15 
 Supply pick-up/mailing: 11 
 Cancer screenings (pap only visit): 0 
 Pregnant Test Visit (only): 0 
 Other: lab draw (7) 
 STI screening Performed 

o Chlamydia: 19 
o Gonorrhea: 19 
o HIV: 6 
o Syphilis: 6  

January 2026 
Expenses 
(as of 2/6/2026) 

 Total expenses for clinics last month: $16,836.94 (not all expenses in yet) 
 Year-to-Date Expenses through 12/31/26: $16,836.94 

o Amount billed to Medicaid/Commercial Insurance: $24,370.35 
o Expenses paid by grant funds: $ 0 
o Expenses paid by other means: $0 in grants from United Way 

and donations 

New 
Developments 

 February is Heart Health month – we will be doing FREE blood pressure 
screenings all month, walk-ins are welcome. 

 DHS performed their annual site visit for our Title X funding requirement, 
while we haven’t received our official documentation, they verbally 
reported no findings. During their visit, we expressed our funding and 
sustainability concerns for family planning services– growing uninsured 
population, rising costs of providing care and continued funding costs 
despite these changes. We’re hopeful that they will take our needs into 
consideration as year 5/5 of this funding cycle comes out for 4/1/2026. 

 We problem solved with DHS to bring fee-exempt testing for both 
Hepatitis C and Trichomonas – the only two STI tests that were not offered 
at no cost - to our uninsured patients through Wisconsin State Lab of 
Hygiene. We hope to be able to offer this to patients in the very near 
future! 



SWCAP NEIGHBORHOOD HEALTH PARTNERS  3 

 We are working on local outreach to small employers (who may not offer 
health insurance to their employees) to help them understand the 
services we offer to individuals and families at lower cost than many 
other clinics. 

 

 

 

Tiffany Allen APNP, DNP 
Office: 608-348-9766 
Email: t.allen@swcap.org 

Program Director  
SWCAP Neighborhood Health Partners 
 



 

Care Coordination Network Status Report  

December 2025 – November 2025 activities 

SWCAP partners 

Community Health Workers are consistently working with LIFT, Head Start, Supportive Housing, NHP 
clinic in Platteville, and Weatherization to wholistically serve all clients.  

Community agency and/or organizational partners  

We have formed collaborative partnerships with each organization to refer patients to the SWCAP 
Care Coordination Network so that Community Health Workers can work individually with patients to 
address social determinant of health barriers identified by screening tools both organizations are 
utilizing. This is to improve health outcomes and equity. 

 We have Memorandum of Understandings (MOUs) with the following medical facilities 

• Southwest Health,  
• Grant Regional,  
• Gunderson Boscobel,  
• Upland Hills,  
• Richland Hospital, and  
• Lafayette Memorial Hospital 

Care Coordination Network News  

CCN Project Manager activities for November 2025 

• Attended WFA core team meeting  
• Attended 3 sessions of the Family Centered Coaching training  
• Presented on CCN leadership and allyship with CHWs 
• Attended SWWI Homeless Coalition meeting  
• Attended Iowa County Homeless Coalition meeting  
• Met with Social Workers and others from Emplify Health to discuss referral process to CCN  

Meetings facilitated  

• 1:1 meetings with each Community Health Worker 
• CCN staff meeting  

 

 

Case Numbers for Previous Month – November  



Referral Sources  

SWCAP –  2 

Community Partners –  2 

Richland Hospital – 2 

Self-Referrals - 8 

Southwest Health –  5 

Upland Hills Health - 1 

The number of referrals year to date is 394 

We continue to receive most of our referrals from Southwest Health and self referrals.  Project 
Manager continues to work closely with the partners to ensure closed loop referrals to keep all 
parties engaged and informed.  

In November,  CCN served 150 clients – all of those clients were either transferred to a CHW or were 
discharged. 43 clients were discharged for the following reasons; 

Declined further services -  5 
Deemed inappropriate - 1 
Moved, transferred or out of service area - 2 
Not impactable - 7 (clients who do not participate in working with a CHW) 
Pathways complete - 6 
Patient Request - 2  
Refer to another agency or level of care to not duplicate services -  8 
Unable to locate after three separate attempts - 12 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Pathways Opened in November 2025 have been added to create the chart below  

  

 
 
 
 

We are beginning to see more calls for Medicaid/Medicare assistance, housing, and food 
security.  With programs losing funding and closing, there are going to continue to be fewer 
resources in our area. We will work to build new relationships with any new or updated 
resources.  

Additional information about the clients we see in the Care Coordination Network  

Federal Poverty Levels of active clients   

125% and below – 52 

126% and above – 33 

Unknown – 20 

 
 
 

 

CHW Activity Summary – November Events 



CHWs spend time meeting with outside agencies to educate and inform on the Care Coordination 
Network, CHW roles and provide feedback as to what they are seeing in the field. CHWs are 
collaborating with others to plan and facilitate events with other agencies.  

You will find information on what CHWs have been working on below. Please reach out with any 
questions. If you would like to visit our Platteville office, or meet some of the Community Health 
Workers, call Christie at 608-553-4642. 

Impact Stories -  

• Provided diabetes follow up and education to an individual who was sent home from the 
emergency room without instructions on how to administer his medication, after being seen 
for extremely high glucose levels. The individual was unaware he was diabetic and was 
grateful to have a community health worker help him navigate this new diagnosis.  

• Participated in the Rural Health Cooperative’s focus group on the experience of the Darlington 
Latinx community with access to health care.  Approximately 40 community members relayed 
their experiences with area hospitals and clinics and voiced their desire for in-person Q & A 
sessions with medical professionals on subjects related to preventative measures for 
diabetes and other common medical conditions. There was also discussion on how to access 
medical financial aid.  

• Connected individual to community work with a local humane society. He was able to 
complete mandatory community service hours while helping out with the humane society 
garage sale and with the construction of their new building.  
 

Advocacy - 

• Assisted with Community Health Needs Assessment in Lafayette County; talked to 
community members about healthcare in their area and what they like/dislike, resources they 
would like to see, challenges they are facing and suggestions about what they would like to 
have in terms of healthcare and health education.  

• Attended Multilanguage Learners Family Night in Monroe at Monroe High School. Hosted 
mental health break out session in collaboration with SARP (Sexual assault Recovery Program) 
advocate. Talked to parents and other attendees about what a community health worker does. 

• Continued sessions of Bienvenido program for area high school students in Monroe. Host 
mental health sessions in collaboration with Green Haven Domestic Violence advocate and 
SARP advocate.   

• Began Family Centered Coaching Training. Learn about mindset and understanding our 
clients. Weekly 4-hour sessions centered around how we can celebrate our clients while 
helping them succeed by listening to understand.  

• Helped several individuals with financial aid applications, with savings in the tens of 
thousands of dollars. 
 

Needs 

Affordable  



• Housing 
• Transportation  
• Unrestricted funding to help with utility bills/rent/car repairs   

Readily accessible food pantries, currently people are limited by the times and locations in rural 
areas (see lack of transportation)  



 

Care Coordination Network Status Report  

December 2025 activities 

SWCAP partners 

Community Health Workers are consistently working with LIFT, Head Start, Supportive Housing, NHP 
clinic in Platteville, and Weatherization to wholistically serve all clients.  

Community agency and/or organizational partners  

We have formed collaborative partnerships with each organization to refer patients to the SWCAP 
Care Coordination Network so that Community Health Workers can work individually with patients to 
address social determinant of health barriers identified by screening tools both organizations are 
utilizing. This is to improve health outcomes and equity. 

 We have Memorandum of Understandings (MOUs) with the following medical facilities 

• Southwest Health,  
• Grant Regional,  
• Gunderson Boscobel,  
• Upland Hills,  
• Richland Hospital, and  
• Lafayette Memorial Hospital 

Care Coordination Network News  

CCN Project Manager activities for December 2025 

• Attended WFA core team meeting  
• Attended 3 sessions of the Family Centered Coaching training  
• Met with Rebecca Steffes at Community Connections Free Clinic to discuss continuation of 

partnership with a Community Health Worker  
• With Kaitlyn Klug, social worker at SW Health, met with Grant County ADRC to discuss 

services, referrals and when to call ADRC vs. Send referral to SWCAP CCN 
• Attended a statewide meeting for CIP Coordinators’ 
• Attended a Boot camp translation meeting – getting everyone updated and next steps  
• Met with HS staff in Boscobel to work on the diaper grant; will spend time in January updating 

documents and process’  
• Attended Health and Wellness Department meeting  

 

Meetings facilitated  



• 1:1 meetings with each Community Health Worker 
 

 

Case Numbers for Previous Month – December 

Referral Sources  

Emplify Health – Boscobel – 4 

Grant Co. Social Services – 1  

Richland Hospital – 1 

Southwest Health – 3  

Upland Hills Health – 5  

The number of referrals year to date is 414 

We continue to receive most of our referrals from Southwest Health, Upland Hills Health and self-
referrals.  Project Manager continues to work closely with the partners to ensure closed loop referrals 
to keep all parties engaged and informed.  

In December, CCN served 128 clients – all of those clients were either transferred to a CHW or were 
discharged. 21clients were discharged for the following reasons; 

Not impactable - 3 (clients who do not participate in working with a CHW) 
Pathways complete - 3 
Patient Request - 1 
Refer to another agency or level of care to not duplicate services - 3 
Unable to locate after three separate attempts - 11 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

 

 

 

Pathways Opened in December 2025 have been added to create the chart below  



  

 

We are beginning to see more calls for Medicaid/Medicare assistance, housing, and food 
security.  With programs losing funding and closing, there are going to continue to be fewer 
resources in our area. We will work to build new relationships with any new or updated 
resources.  

Additional information about the clients we see in the Care Coordination Network  

Federal Poverty Levels of active clients   

125% and below – 62  126% and above – 34  Unknown – 32 

Unknowns include people we never got in touch with; we have no way of knowing what their income or 
household size is. This month, we had 11 clients who were not responding to our attempts to connect.  

 

 

CHW Activity Summary – December 2025 Events 

CHWs spend time meeting with outside agencies to educate and inform on the Care Coordination 
Network, CHW roles and provide feedback as to what they are seeing in the field. CHWs are 
collaborating with others to plan and facilitate events with other agencies.  

You will find information on what CHWs have been working on below. Please reach out with any 
questions. If you would like to visit our Platteville office, or meet some of the Community Health 
Workers, call Christie at 608-553-4642. 

Impact Stories -  



Shadowed diabetes dietician at the Richland Free Clinic.  Helped to interpret during session providing 
instruction on how to use blood sugar testing kit and information on healthy eating.  These shadowing 
sessions will be followed by Diabetes Deep Dive training in February, offered by the Rural Wisconsin 
Health Cooperative. 

Advocacy –  

Jen was elected President of the Wisconsin Association for Community Health Workers we meet 
bimonthly to discuss sustainability of the CHW workforce along with Training and Credentialing in the 
future.   

Monica Sella, Monse Salcido Paz, and Susana Ortega, organized and helped interpret for the 
December 2025 Immigration Legal Clinic with attorneys from the Catholic Multicultural Center.  The 
attorneys were able to provide 14 private consultations. 

All CCN staff took time off to spend with family and friends over the holiday season.  We will come 
back together in January to plan future events, updated documents, etc.  

Needs 

Affordable  

• Housing 
• Transportation  
• Unrestricted funding to help with utility bills/rent/car repairs   

Readily accessible food pantries, currently people are limited by the times and locations in rural 
areas (see lack of transportation)  



 

Care Coordination Network Status Report  

January 2026 activities 

SWCAP partners 

Community Health Workers are consistently working with LIFT, Head Start, Supportive Housing, NHP 
clinic in Platteville, and Weatherization to wholistically serve all clients.  

Community agency and/or organizational partners  

We have formed collaborative partnerships with each organization to refer patients to the SWCAP 
Care Coordination Network so that Community Health Workers can work individually with patients to 
address social determinant of health barriers identified by screening tools both organizations are 
utilizing. This is to improve health outcomes and equity. 

 We have Memorandum of Understandings (MOUs) with the following medical facilities 

• Southwest Health,  
• Grant Regional,  
• Gunderson Boscobel,  
• Upland Hills,  
• Richland Hospital, and  
• Lafayette Memorial Hospital 

Care Coordination Network News  

CCN Project Manager activities for January 2025 

• Prepared Quarterly reports for all partners with MOUs 
• Attended a training – Workplace Wellness with Sources of Strength  
• Attended the Health and Wellness department meeting 
• Met with Jodi S to discuss the Rubber Ducky diaper grant  
• Met with Tawny Hardyman to discuss collaboration with Head Start 
• Began attending the Family Centered Coaching Supervisor training  
• Attended a 3-day conference in Orlando, FL –  

o Collaborated with  FCC cohort  
o Rural Transportation – great ideas about billing Medicaid for LIFT services 
o Head Start Caucus – discussions revolved around issues that HS is having keeping 

staff, transportation, etc.  
o Data – using the Asana program to track goals, outcomes and next steps for the agency 

Meetings facilitated  

• 1:1 meetings with each Community Health Worker, twice a month 



 

 

Case Numbers for Previous Month – January  

Referral Sources  

ADRC Grant Co. - 2 

Boscobel Housing Authority – 1 

Emergency Warming Center – 1 

Medical facilities   – 11 

Self/Family/Friend referral – 6 

Community Partners (Library, Jail, and School district)– 4  

SWCAP program – NHP – 2 

 

The number of referrals year to date is 30 

We continue to receive most of our referrals from Southwest Health, Upland Hills Health and self-
referrals.  Project Manager continues to work closely with the partners to ensure closed loop referrals 
to keep all parties engaged and informed.  

In January, CCN served 131 clients – all of those clients were either transferred to a CHW or were 
discharged. 31clients were discharged for the following reasons;  

 

Declined Further Services – 2 

Deemed inappropriate – 2  

Not Impactable – 2  

Pathways Complete – 8 

Referred to another agency for a different level of care – 6 
Unable to locate after several attempts - 11 

 

Pathways Opened in January 2026 have been added to create the chart below  

  



 
 

We are beginning to see more calls for Medicaid/Medicare assistance, housing, and food 
security.  With programs losing funding and closing, there are going to continue to be fewer 
resources in our area. We will work to build new relationships with any new or updated 
resources.  

Additional information about the clients we see in the Care Coordination Network  

Federal Poverty Levels of active clients   

125% and below – 80  126% and above – 29  Unknown – 22 

Unknowns include people we never got in touch with; we have no way of knowing what their income or 
household size is. This month, we had 11 clients who were not responding to our attempts to connect.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CHW Activity Summary – January 2026 Events 

CHWs spend time meeting with outside agencies to educate and inform on the Care Coordination 
Network, CHW roles and provide feedback as to what they are seeing in the field. CHWs are 
collaborating with others to plan and facilitate events with other agencies.  



You will find information on what CHWs have been working on below. Please reach out with any 
questions. If you would like to visit our Platteville office, or meet some of the Community Health 
Workers, call Christie at 608-553-4642. 

Impact Stories -   

A patient with chronic diabetes who is being monitored closely by his primary care provider and CHW 
was able to significantly improve glucose levels following implementation of dietary change 
recommendations. 

A brief overview of hospital financial assistance applications submitted and approved in 2025 and 
2026 showed patient savings of approximately $156,000.  These savings are in addition to the savings 
incurred by patients who qualified and were approved for Emergency Medicaid. 

Advocacy –  

Needs 

Affordable  

• Housing 
• Transportation  
• Unrestricted funding to help with utility bills/rent/car repairs   

Readily accessible food pantries, currently people are limited by the times and locations in rural 
areas (see lack of transportation)  



Community Wellness Group  
Monthly Board Report  

  
December 2025  

Month: November 2025 Activities  
Monthly Report Opportunity House – Sheryl Brokopp    

  
The Opportunity House served 6 individuals. 

 
  Social Media    
• Post Views:  583 
• Post Engagements: 26 
 
Outreach & Networking  

• 11/5, 12, 26 Collaborative Meetings with the Fletcher Group 
•  11/6, 20 Iowa County Treatment Court 
• 11/10 Coaching Models Sub-Committee 
• 11/5, 12, 19, 26 Meetings with Unified Community Services 
• 11/13 Wisconsin Sober Home Operators COP 
• 11/13, 26 Grant County Treatment Court 
• 11/18 Meeting with Southwest Vo-Tech Professor 
• 11/25 Health and Wellness Departmental Meeting  
•  

 
 Training & Learning Opportunities 

• 11/6 Financial Stability for Recovery Homes- The Fletcher Group 
• 11/11 How Isolation Fuels Opioid Addiction- Raechel Wurzman  
• 11/14 Rural Resiliency Circle – Sunriseag.net 
• 11/24 Open Enrollment Meeting – Courtney Messer 

 
Ongoing Work   

• Monitor and Manage Traffic by Motion Sensor Cameras 
• Individual Meetings with Residents  
• Ongoing Search for suitable affordable Housing 
• SAGE Ledger/Accounts Payable and Receivables/Send Invoices 
• Adoni Trainings  
• Sending Online Invoices/Payments 

 
Maintenance at 504 Bennett Rd.  

• Restart Womens Water Heater several times 
 

 



Community Wellness Group  
Monthly Board Report  

  
January 2026  

Month: December 2025 Activities  
Monthly Report Opportunity House – Sheryl Brokopp    

  
The Opportunity House served 6 individuals. 

 
  Social Media    
• Post Views:  401 
• Post Engagements: 12 
 
Outreach & Networking  

• 12/3/17 Collaborative Meetings with the Fletcher Group 
•  12/4, 18 Iowa County Treatment Court 
• 12/8 Coaching Models Sub-Committee 
• 12/3, 17 Meetings with Unified Community Services 
• 12/11 Wisconsin Sober Home Operators COP 
• 12/11, 23 Grant County Treatment Court 
• 12/23  Health and Wellness Departmental Meeting  

 
 Training & Learning Opportunities 

 
Ongoing Work   

• Monitor and Manage Traffic by Motion Sensor Cameras 
• Individual Meetings with Residents  
• Ongoing Search for suitable affordable Housing 
• SAGE Ledger/Accounts Payable and Receivables/Send Invoices 
• Adoni Trainings  
• Sending Online Invoices/Payments 

 
Maintenance at 504 Bennett Rd.  

• Clean Element on Water Heater Womens side 
 

 
 
 



SWCAP WIC Progress Report 
 January 2026 

Amy Graber, WIC Director/Nutritionist 
 
Client Volume: 
Most recent months available:  
 

Oct 2025  823 Women, Infants, and Children received WIC food benefits. 
Nov 2025 790  Women, Infants, and Children received WIC food benefits 
 
 

News 
 

 In November, Congress passed a bill to end the 43-day government shutdown. The bill 
fully funds WIC for fiscal year 2026.  In 2026, Wisconsin WIC will transition from a 
calendar year (Jan-Dec) to the federal fiscal year, Oct-Sept.  Our fiscal year 2026 grant 
will be a nine-month grant, Jan-Sept.  Then fiscal year 2027 will begin in Oct 2026 
through Sept 2027. 

 
 Meetings and Trainings 

o Met with our new Regional Nutrition Consultant Kara Kerrigan. The consultant 
that we had for many years, Terrell Brock, has retired. 

o WIC Partnership with Clinical RDNs and Specialty Care Providers webinar 
o Statewide WIC webinars for WIC Directors 
o Statewide WIC webinar on upcoming changes to WIC foods 

 
 SWCAP WIC has 11 “WIC vendors” – grocery stores and pharmacies that redeem WIC 

benefits in our four-county service area (Crawford, Richland, Iowa and Lafayette 
counties).  In 2025, WIC benefits redeemed at these stores totaled $652,394.06  
Many thanks to these vendors and to the WIC staff who diligently issue benefits to WIC 
families every month. 



2025 Food Pantry Status Report
Location Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25 Apr-25 May-25 Jun-25 Jul-25 Aug-25 Sep-25 Oct-25 Nov-25 Dec-25 TOTAL

Arena People Served 61 44 51 39 29 31 closed 46 26 30 40 31 428
Backpacks 59 59 59 59 59 0 0 0 30 30 30 30 415

Number of Employees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Number of Volunteers 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Darlington People Served 148 426 455 437 337 362 391 301 310 354 300 296 4117
Backpacks 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Employees 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Number of Volunteers 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18

Dodgeville People Served 1096 1105 1468 1568 1348 1358 1511 1109 1187 1317 1342 808 15217
Backpacks 50 50 70 70 70 0 0 0 75 120 150 120 775

Number of Employees 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Number of Volunteers 9 10 15 15 10 9 12 12 12 12 12 12

Hazel Green People Served 134 178 322 205 132 129 136 296 184 136 193 200 2245
Backpacks 0 0 0 0 0

Number of Employees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Number of Volunteers 7 7 7 10 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7

Riverdale People Served 115 118 126 122 112 125 144 141 153 152 128 114 1550
Backpacks 54 96 92 92 110 48 0 0 86 95 76 76 825

Number of Employees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Number of Volunteers 36 36 36 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39

Pop-Up Stops/Senior Deliveries 396 229 996 686 726 876 895 613 603 669 538 closed for winter7227
cold weathercold weather rainy weather = less people

Number of Employees 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Number of Volunteers 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2



Village of Muscoda
Service 
ended 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Jenor Apartments 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 Service ended

Muscoda Low-income Apartments 21 21 21 21
Service 
ended 0 0 0 0 0 $0.00

Village of Viola/Senior Apartments 33 43 45 48
Service 
ended 0 0 0 0 0 0

Estimated affected people due to 
lack of food/funding 63 63 63 63 135 135 135 178 178 178 178





Home Energy & Renovation 
November 2025 Progress Report 

Weatherization (July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2026)

PY2026 Goal:       110 Units    
• Monthly Completions: 6
• YTD Completions: 45

Baseloads: 2       YTD:    9

PY2026 Contract Award: $1,472,823.00 
• Monthly Expenditure: $103,285.87
• YTD Expenditures: $706,909.83

IMPACT: 25 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy 
burdens, and/or home improvements that improved their health and safety.         
YTD: 133

Program Services: HVAC (October 1, 2025 – September 30, 2026) 

• Referrals:    12  YTD: 34 
• Persons Served: 25      YTD: 50

• Monthly Revenue: $25,214.15
• YTD Revenue: $36,064.50

Assessments:  0 Repairs 3 
(Furnace and/or AC):   6 

Replacements 6 
(Furnace and/or AC):   8

25 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy burdens, and/or 
home improvements that improved their health and safety.                                  YTD: 50

Program Services: Water Conservation 
 (October 1, 2025 – September 30, 2026) 

• Referrals:   3  YTD: 11 
• Persons Served: 7      YTD: 24

• Monthly Revenue: $7,945.66
• YTD Revenue: $10,373.14

Assessments:  0 Repairs 0 
(freshwater leak/plumbing):  0 

Replacements 2 
(Water Heater):   8 

7 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy burdens, and/or 
home improvements that improved their health and safety.                                      YTD: 24 

CDBG Housing Rehabilitation 
January 1, 2025 – December 31, 2026 

• New Applications: 4
• Jobs in Progress: 10

• Revenue to date: $3,388.00
• Completions to date: 2



 

 

The Village of Bagley experienced a significant amount of rain in August 2025, which resulted in flooding 
of many homes in the area and necessitated the rescue of our elderly customer by boat.  Thankfully, the 
water never entered the home, but it was high enough to damage all the insulation in the underbelly.  
Neighborhood volunteers removed the wet insulation, leaving the home exposed to the elements.  For a 
week, the crew worked in very tight spaces, lying on their backs and replacing the insulation to ensure the 
homeowner would be warm and comfortable during the upcoming winter months. 



Home Energy & Renovation 
December 2025 Progress Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Weatherization (July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2026) 

 
PY2026 Goal:       110 Units         

• Monthly Completions: 10 
• YTD Completions: 55 
•  Baseloads: 0       YTD:    9                                               

PY2026 Contract Award: $1,472,823.00 
• Monthly Expenditure: ≈ $112,839.49 
• YTD Expenditures: ≈$819,749.32 

IMPACT: 18 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy 
burdens, and/or home improvements that improved their health and safety.                               
YTD: 116 
 

 

Program Services: HVAC (October 1, 2025 – September 30, 2026) 
 

• Referrals:    16                 YTD: 38 
• Persons Served: 23      YTD: 48 

• Monthly Revenue: $38,382.20 
• YTD Revenue: $74,446.70 

Assessments:  0 Repairs 8 
(Furnace and/or AC):   14 

Replacements 6 
(Furnace and/or AC):   14 

23 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy burdens, and/or 
home improvements that improved their health and safety.                                  YTD: 48 
 

Program Services: Water Conservation 
 (October 1, 2025 – September 30, 2026) 

 

• Referrals:   3                 YTD: 11 
• Persons Served: 6      YTD: 23 

• Monthly Revenue: $11,713.71 
• YTD Revenue: $22,092.85 

Assessments:  1 Repairs 0 
(freshwater leak/plumbing):  1 

Replacements 5 
(Water Heater):   8 

6 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy burdens, and/or 
home improvements that improved their health and safety.                                      YTD: 23 
 

CDBG Housing Rehabilitation 
January 1, 2025 – December 31, 2026 

• New Applications: 1 
• Jobs in Progress: 10 

• Revenue to date: $3,388.00 
• Completions to date: 4 

 



Home Energy & Renovation 
January 2026 Progress Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Weatherization (July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2026) 

 
PY2026 Goal:       110 Units         

• Monthly Completions: 11 
• YTD Completions: 66 
•  Baseloads: 3       YTD:    12                                              

PY2026 Contract Award: $1,472,823.00 
• Monthly Expenditure: ≈ $122,491.30 
• YTD Expenditures: ≈$975,551.71 

IMPACT: 30 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy 
burdens, and/or home improvements that improved their health and safety.                               
YTD: 146 
 

 

Program Services: HVAC (October 1, 2025 – September 30, 2026) 
 

• Referrals:    16                 YTD: 38 
• Persons Served: 23      YTD: 48 

• Monthly Revenue: $66,156.88 
• YTD Revenue: $140,603.58 

Assessments:  1 Repairs 7 
(Furnace and/or AC):   21 

Replacements 10 
(Furnace and/or AC):   24 

23 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy burdens, and/or 
home improvements that improved their health and safety.                                  YTD: 48 
 

Program Services: Water Conservation 
 (October 1, 2025 – September 30, 2026) 

 

• Referrals:   0                 YTD: 11 
• Persons Served: 0      YTD: 23 

• Monthly Revenue: $1,640.53 
• YTD Revenue: $23,733.38 

Assessments:  1 Repairs 0 
(freshwater leak/plumbing):  1 

Replacements 5 
(Water Heater):   8 

0 participants received energy-efficient improvements, reduced energy burdens, and/or 
home improvements that improved their health and safety.                                      YTD: 23 
 

CDBG Housing Rehabilitation 
January 1, 2025 – December 31, 2026 

• New Applications: 4 
• Jobs in Progress: 8 

• Revenue to date: $3,388.00 
• Completions to date: 4 

 



Sustainable Housing-Home Purchase Program-December 2025

Homebuyer Program Activity:
Applicant initial contact(s) including:  pre purchase counseling/program 

overview, applications sent, resource & referral Month    Total Cumulative YTD Total Quarterly Total

January 36 36
February 23 59
March 14 73 73
April 26 99
May 14 113
June 21 134 61
July 24 158
August 11 169
September 23 192 58
October 21 213
November 19 232
December 17 249 57

 
*HHR and/or **HCRI Contract:

Active Current Homebuyer (HB) Pre Approvals 5
Projects in Development--HB w/Offer to Purchase (OTP) 2

Current Month Year to Date

Closed Homebuyer-2025 3 21  
Closed (Homebuyer) Rehab-2025 0 1

Total  Closed Activities -2025 3 22

Other:
1. Working on liquidation of Darlington Clinic property
2. Working with Whole Family coaching model sub committee
 

 
*City of Platteville has delayed discontinuation until required by DEHCR, which is expected to occur in October 2025.

Acronym Key:
*HHR-Homebuyer & Housing Rehabilitation--Federal Funding
**HCRI-Housing Cost Reduction Initiative---State Funding
***CDBG RLF-Community Development Block Grant Revolving Loan Fund--Local Funding 
****NCRC- National Community Reinvestment Coalition
*****FHLBC DPP--Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago Down Payment Plus
Prepared by:  Lori Olson Pink



Sustainable Housing-Home Purchase Program-December 2025

Homebuyer Program Activity:
Applicant initial contact(s) including:  pre purchase counseling/program 

overview, applications sent, resource & referral Month    Total Cumulative YTD Total Quarterly Total

January 36 36
February 23 59
March 14 73 73
April 26 99
May 14 113
June 21 134 61
July 24 158
August 11 169
September 23 192 58
October 21 213
November 19 232
December 17 249 57

 
*HHR and/or **HCRI Contract:

Active Current Homebuyer (HB) Pre Approvals 5
Projects in Development--HB w/Offer to Purchase (OTP) 2

Current Month Year to Date

Closed Homebuyer-2025 3 21  
Closed (Homebuyer) Rehab-2025 0 1

Total  Closed Activities -2025 3 22

Other:
1. Working on liquidation of Darlington Clinic property
2. Working with Whole Family coaching model sub committee
 

 
*City of Platteville has delayed discontinuation until required by DEHCR, which is expected to occur in October 2025.

Acronym Key:
*HHR-Homebuyer & Housing Rehabilitation--Federal Funding
**HCRI-Housing Cost Reduction Initiative---State Funding
***CDBG RLF-Community Development Block Grant Revolving Loan Fund--Local Funding 
****NCRC- National Community Reinvestment Coalition
*****FHLBC DPP--Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago Down Payment Plus
Prepared by:  Lori Olson Pink



Sustainable Housing-Home Purchase Program-January 2026

Homebuyer Program Activity:
Applicant initial contact(s) including:  pre purchase counseling/program 

overview, applications sent, resource & referral Month Total
Cumulative YTD 

Total Quarterly Total

January 28 28
February 0 28
March 0 28 28
April 0 28
May 0 28
June 0 28 0
July 0 28
August 0 28
September 0 28 0
October 0 28
November 0 28
December 0 28 0

 
*HHR and/or **HCRI Contract:

Active Current Homebuyer (HB) Pre Approvals 3
Projects in Development--HB w/Offer to Purchase (OTP) 3

Current Month Prior Month(s) Year to Date

Closed Homebuyer-2026 1 0 1
Closed (Homebuyer) Rehab-2026 0 0 0

Total  Closed Activities -2026 1 0 1
 

Other:
1. Working on liquidation of Darlington Clinic property
2. Working with Whole Family coaching model sub committee
 

Acronym Key:
*HHR-Homebuyer & Housing Rehabilitation--Federal Funding
**HCRI-Housing Cost Reduction Initiative---State Funding
***CDBG Housing Program-Community Development Block Grant --Federal Funding 
****NCRC- National Community Reinvestment Coalition
*****FHLBC DPP--Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago Down Payment Plus --Foundation Funding
Prepared by:  Lori Olson Pink



Skills Monthly Report – December 15, 2025 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

Program Notes – 
High demand for program funding from applicants – approximately 40 applicants vetted between Skills tuition funding. 
Many individuals did not meet the eligibility criteria for either funding source due to limited funding or restrictive 
eligibility requirements.   

DCF - Skills GPR Contract July 1, 2025- June 30, 2026 

County  Number 
of 
Clients 
Served 

Graduated Job 
Search 

Job Placed Graduated 
Occupations 

Avg Wage 
Increase 

Participant 

Hourly  

Avg Wage 
Increase 

Participant 

Yearly  
Grant 5 3 0 3 Surg Tech/ PT / LPN $15.15 $26,009 
Green        
Iowa 2       
Lafayette        
Richland        
Total 7     505% 371% 
        
Contract 
Goal 

10      $3.00 HR $7,000 

Current 
Progress 

70%  

 

     

 
DCF Working Adult – 7/1/2025 New Contract DCF GPR - $20,833   
Skills DCF under-employed adult – household must be under 150% of the FPL and maintain employment of 20 hours per 
week during program enrollment. 
Skills Program Status: 
Assisting students in job search, program outreach, and enrollment of new students. Development of program 
marketing materials continues. Still looking to enroll up to 4 more students for this program year.  Federal funding has 
been reduced, so I continue to seek additional grants to increase student awards and assistance.  Applied for several 
smaller independent community grants. Did not receive one due to the large number of requests, several others 
pending. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Skills Monthly Report – December 15, 2025 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

WISCAP - Skills Nurse Extended Contract - 2022 – June 30, 2026 
 CNA, LPN, Medical Assistant, Associate Degree Nurse, RN  
Skills Nurse – must complete education by 6/2026 in an approved health occupation and household income under 80% 
of CMI 
                                      

County  Number of 
Clients 
Served 

Graduated Graduate 
Occupation 

Avg Wage 

Increase 

Participant 
Hourly Increase 

Avg Wage 

Increase 

Participant 
Yearly Increase 

Beneficiary  

Funding Balance 

Grant 13 6 RN | MA    
Green 1 1 BSN Nurse    
Iowa 7 3 RN -2 yr    
Lafayette 2 1 RN -2 yr    
Richland 2 2 RN-2yr    
Sauk       
Total 28 13  $17.75 $53,590 $35,965 
Goal 20 20     
Current 
Progress 

140% 65%     

WEDC/DWD Nurse –Notes 
 

• Contract Extension - Contracted to assist 10-plus additional students in approved healthcare fields who will 
graduate with a license by 6/2026.  

• Current Enrollment – 28 enrolled students –13 graduated  



Skills Monthly Report – January 9, 2026 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

Program Notes – 
High demand for program funding from applicants – approximately 47 applicants vetted for Skills tuition funding. Many 
individuals did not meet the eligibility criteria for either funding source.   

DCF - Skills GPR Contract July 1, 2025- June 30, 2026 

County  Number 
of 
Clients 
Served 

Graduated Job 
Search 

Job Placed Graduated 
Occupations 

Avg Wage 
Increase 

Participant 

Hourly  

Avg Wage 
Increase 

Participant 

Yearly  
Grant 5 3 0 3 Surg Tech/ PT / LPN $15.15 $26,009 
Green        
Iowa 2       
Lafayette        
Richland        
Total 7     505% 371% 
        
Contract 
Goal 

10      $3.00 HR $7,000 

Current 
Progress 

70%  

 

     

 
DCF Working Adult – 7/1/2025 New Contract DCF GPR - $20,833   
Skills DCF under-employed adult – household must be under 150% of the FPL and maintain employment of 20 hours per 
week during program enrollment. 
Skills Program Status: 
Assisting students in job search, program outreach, and enrollment of new students. Development of program 
marketing materials continues. Still looking to enroll up to 4 more students for this program year.  Federal funding has 
been reduced, so I continue to seek additional grants to increase student awards and assistance.  Applied for several 
smaller independent community grants. Did not receive one due to the large number of requests, several others 
pending. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WISCAP - Skills Nurse Extended Contract - 2022 – June 30, 2026 



Skills Monthly Report – January 9, 2026 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 CNA, LPN, Medical Assistant, Associate Degree Nurse, RN  
Skills Nurse – must complete education by 6/2026 in an approved health occupation and household income under 80% 
of CMI 
                                      

County  Number of 
Clients 
Served 

Graduated Graduate 
Occupation 

Job 
Search 

Avg Wage 

Increase 

Participant 
Hourly 
Increase 

Avg Wage 

Increase 

Participant 
Yearly Increase 

Beneficiary  

Funding Balance 

Grant 13 8 RN | 
MA|CNA 

2    

Green 1 1 BSN Nurse     
Iowa 7 5 RN |LPN 2    
Lafayette 2 1 RN -2 yr     
Richland 2 2 RN-2yr     
Sauk        
Total 28 17   $17.75 $53,590 $35,965 
Goal 20 20      
Current 
Progress 

140% 85%      

WEDC/DWD Nurse –Notes 
 

• Contract Extension - Contracted to assist 10-plus additional students in approved healthcare fields who will 
graduate with a license by 6/2026.  

• Current Enrollment – 28 enrolled students –17 graduated  



Skills Monthly Report – February 18, 2026 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

DCF - Skills GPR Contract July 1, 2025- June 30, 2026 

County  Number 
of 
Clients 
Served 

Graduated Job 
Search 

Job Placed Graduated 
Occupations 

Avg Wage 
Increase 

Participant 

Hourly  

Avg Wage 
Increase 

Participant 

Yearly  
Grant 6 3 0 3 Surg Tech/ PT / LPN $15.15 $26,009 
Green        
Iowa 3       
Lafayette        
Richland        
Total 9     505% 371% 
        
Contract 
Goal 

10      $3.00 HR $7,000 

Current 
Progress 

90%  

 

     

 
DCF Working Adult – 7/1/2025 New Contract DCF GPR - $20,833   
Skills DCF under-employed adult – household must be under 150% of the FPL and maintain employment of 20 hours per 
week during program enrollment. 
Skills Program Status: 
January - Enrolled two new students – third student enrollment pending / 6 month program review of all students’ 
eligibility completed 
Federal funding has been reduced, so I continue to seek additional grants to increase student awards and assistance.   
Applied for several smaller independent community grants and held 2 presentations in Iowa County. Skills received $600 
award from local bank.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Skills Monthly Report – February 18, 2026 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
WISCAP - Skills Nurse Extended Contract - 2022 – June 30, 2026 
Program Notes – page 2 
High demand for program funding from applicants – Reviewed all expenditures and applied for a contract 
amendment for additional funding for student and staffing. Contract funding request approved for $10,00 in 
student funding and $11,000 in staffing.  WISCAP Skills Nurse Contract amendment in process- SWCAP Skills 
Program Enrolled an additional 4 RN students in February 2026 
 
 CNA, LPN, Medical Assistant, Associate Degree Nurse, RN  
Skills Nurse – must complete education by 6/2026 in an approved health occupation and household income under 80% 
of CMI 
                                      

County  Number of 
Clients 
Served 

Graduated Graduate 
Occupation 

Job 
Search 

Avg Wage 

Increase 

Participant 
Hourly 
Increase 

Avg Wage 

Increase 

Participant 
Yearly Increase 

Beneficiary  

Funding Balance 

Grant 18 8 RN | 
MA|CNA 

2    

Green 1 1 BSN Nurse     
Iowa 7 5 RN |LPN 2    
Lafayette 2 1 RN -2 yr     
Richland 4 2 RN-2yr     
Sauk        
Total 32 17   $17.75 $53,590 $35,965 
Goal 20 20      
Current 
Progress 

140% 85%      

WEDC/DWD Nurse –Notes 
 

• Contract Extension - Contracted to assist 10-plus additional students in approved healthcare fields who will 
graduate with a license by 6/2026.  

• Current Enrollment – 28 enrolled students –17 graduated  



25-Jan 25-Feb 25-Mar 25-Apr 25-May 25-Jun 25-Jul 25-Aug 25-Sep 25-Oct 25-Nov 25-Dec

Volunteer Miles 26,249        22,947        24,083        28,487        23,016        24,561        23,969        24,551        24,826        29,705        23,883        21,474        

Volunteer Trips 499              413              427              492              403              434              397              444              394              489              408              372              

Volunteer Hours 779.25        655.25        697.50        830.50        687.25        737.75        688.75        732.25        761.50        886.00        703.00        653.25        

Staff Miles 35,716        30,477        41,107        34,860        33,009        48,763        39,171        35,540        39,133        39,926        33,308        33,537        

Staff Trips 1,089          876              954              925              908              976              1,077          914              952              1,098          854              995              

Staff Hours 1,548.50   1,294.75   1,592.25   1,436.50   1,433.50   1,603.25   1,683.25   1,524.75   1,602.00   1,664.25   1,323.25   1,453.25   

Total Miles Driven 61,965        53,424        65,190        63,347        56,025        73,324        63,140        60,091        63,959        69,631        57,191        55,011        

Total Trips 1,588          1,289          1,381          1,417          1,311          1,410          1,474          1,358          1,346          1,587          1,262          1,367          

Abandoned Trips* 42                 56                 69                 64                 113              107              108              131              129              68                 32                 41                 

Clients Served 255              234              242              238              227              260              226              236              278              294              267              261              

* Absondoned Trips can be due to inclament weather, cancelation by a client, no driver available at that time, change of schedule by client.




	SWCAP Board Packet 02.26.26
	11.30.2025 November Finance Package - Board.pdf
	11.30.2025 November Financials
	11.30.2025 November Overview - Board

	2026 Board Budget GAAP and Modified Cash.pdf
	Cash - Organizational
	GAAP - Organizational


	Family Development Report - February 2026
	Head Start Attendance - January 2026.pdf
	Blank Page

	Health Performance Panel - December 2025.pdf
	45 Days HS.pdf
	90 Days HS.pdf
	45 Days Exp_.pdf
	45 Days EHS.pdf


	Health and Wellness Feb Report
	Patient’s Served:
	Neighborhood Health Partners Status 2025 12.pdf
	Patient’s Served:

	Neighborhood Health Partners Status 2026 01.pdf
	Patient’s Served:


	Home Energy Solutions February Report
	Housing Stability - Febraury Report
	Sheet1
	Affordable Housing Status Report 2025.012.pdf
	Sheet1

	Affordable Housing Monthly Report 2026.01.pdf
	Sheet1


	LIFT FEB Report
	Sheet1




